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PART I

Item 1. Business  

AGNC Investment Corp. ("AGNC," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our") was organized on January 7, 2008 and commenced operations on May 20,
2008 following the completion of our initial public offering. Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "AGNC."  

We are internally-managed, and our principal objective is to provide our stockholders with attractive risk-adjusted returns through a combination of
monthly dividends and tangible net book value accretion. We generate income from the interest earned on our investments, net of associated borrowing and
hedging costs, and net realized gains and losses on our investment and hedging activities. We fund our investments primarily through borrowings structured
as repurchase agreements.

We operate to qualify to be taxed as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Internal
Revenue Code"). As a REIT, we are required to distribute annually 90% of our taxable income. As a REIT, we will generally not be subject to U.S. federal or
state corporate taxes on our taxable income to the extent that we distribute all our annual taxable income to our stockholders on a timely basis. It is our
intention to distribute 100% of our taxable income within the time limits prescribed by the Internal Revenue Code, which may extend into the subsequent
taxable year.

We invest primarily in Agency residential mortgage-backed securities ("Agency RMBS") on a leveraged basis. These investments consist of residential
mortgage pass-through securities and collateralized mortgage obligations for which the principal and interest payments are guaranteed by a U.S. Government-
sponsored enterprise, such as the Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae") and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac,"
and together with Fannie Mae, the "GSEs"), or by a U.S. Government agency, such as the Government National Mortgage Association ("Ginnie Mae"). We
may also invest in other types of mortgage and mortgage-related residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities where repayment of principal and
interest is not guaranteed by a GSE or U.S. Government agency or in other investments in, or related to, the housing, mortgage or real estate markets.

Investment Strategy

Our investment strategy is designed to:

• generate attractive risk-adjusted returns for our stockholders through monthly dividend distributions and tangible net book value accretion;
• manage an investment portfolio consisting primarily of Agency securities;
• invest a subset of the portfolio in mortgage credit risk-oriented assets;
• capitalize on discrepancies in the relative valuations in the Agency and non-Agency securities market;
• manage financing, interest rate, prepayment, extension and credit risks;
• continue to qualify as a REIT; and
• remain exempt from the requirements of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the "Investment Company Act").

 Targeted Investments

Agency Securities

• Agency Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities. Our primary investments consist of Agency pass-through certificates representing interests in
"pools" of mortgage loans secured by residential real property. Monthly payments of principal and interest made by the individual borrowers on the
mortgage loans underlying the pools are in effect "passed through" to the security holders, after deducting GSE or U.S. Government agency
guarantee and servicer fees. In general, mortgage pass-through certificates distribute cash flows from the underlying collateral on a pro rata basis
among the security holders. Security holders also receive guarantor advances of principal and interest for delinquent loans in the mortgage pools.
We also invest in Agency collateralized mortgage obligations ("CMOs"), which are structured instruments representing interests in Agency
residential pass-through certificates, and interest-only, inverse interest-only and principal-only securities, which represent the right to receive a
specified proportion of the contractual interest or principal flows of specific Agency CMO securities.

• To-Be-Announced Forward Contracts ("TBAs"). TBAs are forward contracts to purchase or sell Agency RMBS. TBA contracts specify the
coupon rate, issuer, term and face value of the bonds to be delivered, with the actual bonds to be delivered only identified shortly before the TBA
settlement date.
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Non-Agency Securities

• Credit Risk Transfer Securities ("CRT"). CRT securities are risk sharing instruments that transfer a portion of the risk associated with credit
losses within pools of conventional residential mortgage loans from the GSEs and/or third- parties to private investors. Unlike Agency RMBS, full
repayment of the original principal balance of CRT securities is not guaranteed by a GSE or other third-party; rather, "credit risk transfer" is
achieved by writing down the outstanding principal balance of the CRT security if credit losses on the related pool of loans exceed certain
thresholds. The reduced amount that issuers are obligated to repay to the security holders offsets the issuer's credit losses on the related pool of
loans.

• Non-Agency Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities ("Non-Agency RMBS"). Non-Agency RMBS are securities backed by residential
mortgages, for which payment of principal and interest is not guaranteed by a GSE or U.S. Government agency. Instead, a private institution such
as a commercial bank will package residential mortgage loans and securitize them through the issuance of RMBS. Non-Agency RMBS may benefit
from credit enhancement derived from structural elements, such as subordination, overcollateralization or insurance. We may purchase highly-rated
instruments that benefit from credit enhancement and non-investment grade instruments that are structured to absorb more credit risk. We focus
primarily on non-Agency securities where the underlying mortgages are secured by residential properties within the United States. Residential non-
Agency securities are backed by residential mortgages that can be comprised of prime mortgage or nonprime mortgage loans. We may also
purchase Agency and non-Agency multifamily securities where the collateral backing the securitization consists of loans for multi-unit housing
properties.

• Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities ("CMBS"). CMBS are securities that are structured utilizing collateral pools comprised of commercial
mortgage loans. CMBS can be structured as pass-through securities, where the cash flows generated by the collateral pool are passed on pro rata to
investors after netting servicer or other fees, or where cash flows are distributed to numerous classes of securities following a predetermined
waterfall, which may give priority to selected classes while subordinating other classes. We may invest across the capital structure of these
securities, and we intend to focus on CMBS where the underlying collateral is secured by commercial properties located within the United States.

 Active Portfolio Management Strategy

We employ an active management strategy designed to achieve our principal objectives of generating attractive risk-adjusted returns and managing our
net book value within reasonable bands.  As part of our investment strategy, we use leverage on our investment portfolio to increase potential returns to our
stockholders. We invest in securities based on our assessment of the relative risk-return profile of the securities and our ability to effectively hedge a portion
of the securities' exposure to market risks. The composition of our portfolio and strategies that we use will vary based on our view of prevailing market
conditions and the availability of suitable investment, hedging and funding opportunities. We may experience investment gains or losses when we sell
securities that we believe no longer provide attractive risk-adjusted returns or when we believe more attractive alternatives exist elsewhere in the mortgage or
mortgage-related securities market. We may also experience gains or losses from our hedging strategies or due to credit losses on non-Agency securities.

 Financing Strategy

The primary source of financing for our investments is through repurchase agreements. A repurchase (or "repo") agreement transaction acts as a
financing arrangement under which we effectively pledge our investment securities as collateral to secure a loan. Our borrowings through repurchase
transactions are generally short term and have maturities ranging from one day to one year but may have maturities up to five or more years. Our financing
rates typically track one or three-month London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"), plus or minus a fixed spread.

Our leverage depends on market conditions, our assessment of risk and returns and our ability to borrow funds sufficient to fund the acquisition of
mortgage securities. We generally expect our leverage to be within six to twelve times the amount of our tangible stockholders' equity. However, under certain
market conditions, we may operate at leverage levels outside of this range for extended periods of time.

We diversify our funding exposure by entering into repurchase agreements with multiple counterparties. We had master repurchase agreements with
over 40 financial institutions as of December 31, 2018. The terms of our master repurchase agreements generally conform to the terms in the standard master
repurchase agreement as published by the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association ("SIFMA") as to repayment, margin requirements and the
segregation of all securities sold under the repurchase transaction. In addition, each lender may require that we include supplemental terms and conditions to
the standard master repurchase agreement to address such matters as additional margin maintenance requirements, cross default and other provisions.
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The specific provisions may differ for each lender and certain terms may not be determined until we engage in individual repurchase transactions.

We finance a portion of our investments through our wholly-owned captive broker-dealer subsidiary, Bethesda Securities, LLC ("BES"). BES is a
member of the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation ("FICC") and has direct access to bilateral and triparty repo funding as a Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority ("FINRA") member broker-dealer. As an eligible institution, BES also raises repo funding through the General Collateral Finance ("GCF") Repo
service offered by the FICC, with the FICC acting as the central counterparty, which provides us greater depth and diversity of repurchase agreement funding
while also lowering our funding cost, reducing our collateral requirements and limiting our counterparty exposure.

We also effectively finance the acquisition of Agency RMBS by entering into TBA dollar roll transactions through which we sell a TBA contract for
current month settlement and simultaneously purchase a similar TBA contract for a forward settlement date. Prior to the forward settlement date, we may
choose to roll the position to a later date by entering into an offsetting TBA position, net settling the paired off positions for cash, and simultaneously entering
into a similar TBA contract for a later settlement date. The TBA contract purchased for the forward settlement date is priced at a discount to the TBA contract
sold for settlement/pair off in the current month. The difference (or discount) is referred to as the "price drop" and is the economic equivalent of net interest
carry income on the underlying Agency RMBS over the roll period (interest income less implied financing cost), which is commonly referred to as "dollar
roll income." We recognize TBA contracts as derivative instruments on our consolidated financial statements at their net carrying value (fair value less the
purchase price to be paid or received under the TBA contract). Consequently, dollar roll transactions represent a form of off-balance sheet financing. In
evaluating our overall leverage at risk, we consider both our on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet financing.

Risk Management Strategy

We use a variety of strategies to reduce our exposure to market risks, including interest rate, prepayment, extension and credit risks. Our investment
strategies are based on our assessment of these risks, the cost of hedging transactions and our intention to qualify as a REIT. Our hedging strategies are
generally not designed to protect our net book value from "spread risk," which is the risk that the yield differential between our investments and our hedges
fluctuates. In addition, while we use interest rate swaps and other supplemental hedges to attempt to protect our net book value against moves in interest rates,
we may not hedge certain interest rate, prepayment or extension risks if we believe that bearing such risks enhances our return profile, or if the hedging
transaction would negatively impact our REIT status.

• Interest Rate Risk. We hedge a portion of our interest rate risk with respect to both the fixed income nature of our long-term assets and the short-
term, variable rate nature of our financing. A majority of our funding is in the form of repurchase agreements, and, as a result, our financing costs
fluctuate based on short-term interest rate indices, such as the U.S. federal funds rate and LIBOR. Our investments are assets that primarily have
fixed rates of interest with maturities up to 30 years, and the interest we earn on those assets generally does not move in tandem with the interest that
we pay on our repurchase agreements. As such, we may experience reduced income or losses due to adverse interest rate movements. To mitigate a
portion of such risk, we utilize hedging techniques to attempt to lock in a portion of the net interest spread between the interest we earn on our assets
and the interest we pay on our financing costs. We also use certain hedges, such as short U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. Treasury futures positions,
to hedge a portion of the price risk associated with our largely fixed-rate asset portfolio due to changes in interest rates.

Prepayments on residential mortgages generally accelerate when interest rates decrease and slow when interest rates rise, and, as a result, mortgage
securities may increase in price more slowly than similar duration bonds, or even fall in value, as interest rates decline. Mortgage securities could
also decrease in value more quickly than similar duration bonds as interest rates rise. This is referred to as "negative convexity." To manage our
convexity exposure, we monitor the interest rate sensitivity of our assets relative to the interest rate sensitivity of our liabilities and interest rate
hedge portfolio, referred to as our "duration gap," and we monitor how our convexity and duration gap change if interest rates and prepayment
expectations were to increase or decrease.

The value of our mortgage assets may also be adversely impacted by fluctuations in the shape of the yield curve or by changes in the market's
expectation about future interest rate volatility. We analyze our exposure to non-parallel changes in interest rates and to changes in the market's
expectation of future interest rate volatility and attempt to mitigate these risks using interest rate hedges and through asset selection.

• Prepayment Risk. Because residential borrowers have the option to prepay their mortgage loans at par at any time, we face the risk that we will
experience a return of principal on our investments faster than anticipated. Prepayment risk generally increases when interest rates decline, and our
financial results could be adversely affected as we may have to reinvest principal repayments at lower yields.
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• Extension Risk. Because residential borrowers have the option to make only scheduled payments on their mortgage loans, we face the risk that a
return of capital on our investment will occur slower than anticipated. Extension risk generally increases when interest rates rise and our financial
results could be adversely affected as we may have to finance our investments at potentially higher costs without the ability to simultaneously
reinvest principal repayments into higher yielding securities due to a lack of or slower than anticipated borrower prepayments.

• Spread Risk. Because the market spread between the yield on our investments and the yield on benchmark interest rates, such as U.S. Treasury rates
and interest rate swap rates, may vary, we are exposed to spread risk. The inherent spread risk associated with our investments and the resulting
fluctuations in fair value of these securities can occur independent of interest rates and may relate to other factors impacting the mortgage and fixed
income markets, such as actual or anticipated monetary policy actions by the U.S. Federal Reserve (the "Fed"), liquidity, or changes in required rates
of return on different assets. Our strategies are generally not designed to protect our net book value from spread risk.

• Credit Risk. We accept mortgage credit exposure related to our CRT and other non-Agency securities at levels we deem to be prudent within the
context of our overall investment strategy. We attempt to manage this risk through prudent asset selection, pre-acquisition due diligence, post-
acquisition performance monitoring, and sale of assets where we identify negative credit trends. We may also manage credit risk with credit default
swaps or other financial derivatives that we believe are appropriate. Additionally, we may attempt to adjust our credit exposure and/or to improve the
return profile of our investment portfolio by varying the mix of our Agency and non-Agency mortgage investments and adjusting our duration gap,
when we believe credit performance is inversely correlated with changes in interest rates.

The risk management actions we take may lower our earnings and dividends in the short term to further our objective of maintaining attractive levels of
earnings and dividends over the long term. In addition, some of our hedges are intended to provide protection against larger rate moves and as a result may be
relatively ineffective for smaller interest rate changes. Our projections of exposures to interest rate, prepayment, extension and other risks are also based on
models that are dependent on a number of assumptions and inputs, and actual results could differ materially from our projections.

Income from hedging transactions that we enter to manage risk may not constitute qualifying gross income under one or both gross income tests
applicable to REITs (see Real Estate Investment Trust Requirements below). Therefore, we may have to limit our use of certain hedging techniques, which
could expose us to greater risks than we would otherwise want to bear, or implement those hedging techniques through a taxable REIT subsidiary ("TRS").
Implementing our hedges through a TRS could increase the cost of our hedging activities because a TRS would be subject to tax on income and gains.

Management Internalization

Prior to July 2016, we were externally managed by AGNC Management, LLC (our "Manager"). In July 2016, we completed the acquisition of all the
outstanding membership interests of AGNC Mortgage Management, LLC ("AMM"), the parent company of our Manager, from American Capital Asset
Management, LLC ("ACAM"), a wholly owned portfolio company of American Capital, Ltd. AMM is also the parent company of MTGE Management, LLC,
which was the external manager of MTGE Investment Corp. ("MTGE") (Nasdaq: MTGE) until the sale of MTGE to a third party in September 2018.

Prior to our acquisition of AMM and our resulting management internalization, we paid our Manager a management fee equal to 1.25% of our
stockholders' equity, as defined in our management agreement, and we were obligated to reimburse our Manager for its expenses incurred directly related to
our operations, excluding employment-related expenses.

Employees

As of December 31, 2018, we had 56 full-time employees.

Exemption from Regulation under the Investment Company Act

We conduct our business so as not to become regulated as an investment company under the Investment Company Act, in reliance on the exemption
provided by Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Act. So long as we qualify for this exemption, we will not be subject to leverage and other restrictions imposed on
regulated investment companies, which would significantly reduce our ability to use leverage. Section 3(c)(5)(C), as interpreted by the staff of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), requires us to invest at least 55% of our assets in "mortgages and other liens on and interest in real estate" or
"qualifying real estate interests" ("55% asset test") and at least 80% of our assets in qualifying real estate interests and "real estate-related assets." In satisfying
this 55% requirement, based on pronouncements of the SEC staff and in certain instances our own judgment, we treat Agency RMBS issued with respect to
an underlying pool of mortgage loans in which we hold all the certificates issued by the pool ("whole pool" securities) as qualifying real estate interests. We
typically treat "partial pool" and other mortgage securities where we hold less than all the certificates issued by the pool as real estate-related assets.
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Real Estate Investment Trust Requirements

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code. As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federal or state corporate
income tax on our taxable income to the extent that we distribute annually all our taxable income to stockholders within the time limits prescribed by the
Internal Revenue Code. Qualification and taxation as a REIT depends on our ability to continually meet requirements imposed upon REITs by the Internal
Revenue Code, including satisfying certain organizational requirements, an annual distribution requirement and quarterly asset and annual income tests. The
REIT asset and income tests are significant to our operations as they restrict the extent to which we can invest in certain types of securities and conduct
certain hedging activities within the REIT. Consequently, we may be required to limit these activities or conduct them through a TRS. We believe that we
have been organized and operate in such a manner as to qualify for taxation as a REIT.

Income Tests

To continue to qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy two gross income requirements on an annual basis.

1. At least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year generally must be derived from investments in real property or mortgages on real property.

2. At least 95% of our gross income in each taxable year generally must be derived from some combination of income that qualifies under the 75%
gross income test described above, as well as other dividends, interest, and gains from the sale or disposition of stock or securities, which need
not have any relation to real property.

Interest income from obligations secured by mortgages on real property (such as Agency and non-Agency MBS) generally constitutes qualifying
income for purposes of the 75% gross income test described above. Interest income from CRT securities may be treated as either qualifying or non-qualifying
income for the 75% and 95% gross income tests depending on the tax structure of the CRT. There is no direct authority with respect to the qualification of
income or gains from TBAs for the 75% gross income test; however, we treat these as qualifying income for this purpose based on an opinion of legal
counsel. Income and gains from instruments that we use to hedge the interest rate risk associated with our borrowings incurred, or to be incurred, to acquire
real estate assets will generally be excluded from both gross income tests, provided that specified requirements are met.

Asset Tests

At the close of each calendar quarter, we must satisfy five tests relating to the nature of our assets.

1. At least 75% of the value of our total assets must be represented by some combination of "real estate assets," cash, cash items, U.S. Government
securities, and, under some circumstances, temporary investments in stock or debt instruments purchased with new capital. For this purpose,
mortgage-backed securities and mortgage loans are generally treated as "real estate assets." Assets that do not qualify for purposes of the 75% asset
test are subject to the additional asset tests described below.

2. The value of any one issuer's securities that we own may not exceed 5% of the value of our total assets.

3. We may not own more than 10% of any one issuer's outstanding securities, as measured by either voting power or value. The 5% and 10% asset tests
do not apply to securities of TRSs and qualified REIT subsidiaries and the 10% asset test does not apply to "straight debt" having specified
characteristics and to certain other securities.

4. The aggregate value of all securities of all TRSs that we hold may not exceed 20% of the value of our total assets.

5. No more than 25% of the total value of our assets may be represented by certain non-mortgage debt instruments issued by publicly offered REITs
(even though such debt instruments qualify under the 75% asset test).

A failure to satisfy the income or asset tests would not immediately cause us to lose our REIT qualification; rather, we could retain our REIT
qualification if we were able to satisfy certain relief provisions and pay any applicable penalty taxes and other fines, or, in the case of a failure to satisfy the
asset test, eliminate the discrepancy within a 30-day cure period. Please also refer to the "Risks Related to Our Taxation as a REIT" in "Item 1A. Risk
Factors" of this Form 10-K for further discussion of REIT qualification requirements and related items.

Corporate Information

Our executive offices are located at Two Bethesda Metro Center, 12th Floor, Bethesda, MD 20814 and our telephone number is (301) 968-9315.
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We make available our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such reports as
well as our Code of Ethics and Conduct on our internet website at www.AGNC.com as soon as reasonably practical after such material is electronically filed
with or furnished to the SEC. These reports are also available on the SEC internet website at www.sec.gov.

Competition

Our success depends, in large part, on our ability to acquire assets at favorable spreads over our borrowing costs. In acquiring mortgage assets, we
compete with mortgage REITs, mortgage finance and specialty finance companies, savings and loan associations, banks, mortgage bankers, insurance
companies, mutual funds, institutional investors, investment banking firms, other lenders, governmental bodies and other entities. These entities and others
that may be organized in the future may have similar asset acquisition objectives and increase competition for the available supply of mortgage assets suitable
for purchase. Additionally, our investment strategy is dependent on the amount of financing available to us in the repurchase agreement market, which may
also be impacted by the overall supply of repo funding and competing borrowers. Our investment strategy will be adversely impacted if we are not able to
secure financing on favorable terms, if at all.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
 You should carefully consider the risks described below and all other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our annual

consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto before deciding to purchase our securities. If any of the following risks were to occur, our
business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. If that happens, the trading price of our securities could decline,
and you may lose all or part of your investment. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing us. Additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known to us, or not presently deemed material by us, may also impair our operations and performance.

Risks Related to Our Investing, Portfolio Management and Financing Activities

An increase in our borrowing costs would adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We rely primarily on short-term and/or variable rate borrowings to acquire fixed-rate securities with long-term maturities. Due to the short-term or
adjustable rate nature of our financing, our borrowing costs are particularly sensitive to increases in short-term interest rates, as well as overall funding
availability, market liquidity, fluctuations in asset values and "haircut" levels applied to assets pledged under repurchase agreements and other factors.

The relationship between short and longer-term interest rates is often referred to as the "yield curve." Ordinarily, short-term interest rates are lower than
longer-term interest rates, but a flattening of the yield curve can occur if short-term interest rates rise disproportionately relative to longer-term interest rates.
It is also possible that the yield curve could invert, with short-term rates exceeding longer-term rates. If either of these conditions occur, our borrowing costs
could increase more rapidly than the interest income earned on our fixed rate assets and our net interest margin would decline, or in extreme scenarios even
turn negative. In this event, we could incur operating losses, and our financial condition and ability to make distributions to our stockholders could be
adversely affected.

Changes to the pace of the Fed's purchases or sales of Agency mortgage-backed securities may adversely affect the price and return associated with
Agency securities.

In October 2017, the Fed began to taper its reinvestments of principal payments from its U.S. Treasury, Agency debt and Agency RMBS portfolios
acquired as a function of its quantitative easing programs. The Fed could vary the pace of its tapering activity or could stop tapering altogether. We cannot
predict the impact that these or future actions will have on the prices and liquidity of Agency RMBS or on mortgage spreads relative to interest rate hedges
tied to benchmark interest rates. During periods in which the Fed increases the pace of its tapering and further reduces or ceases reinvestment of principal or
undertakes outright sales of its securities portfolio, the price of Agency RMBS and U.S. Treasury securities could decline, mortgage spreads could widen,
refinancing volumes could be lower and market volatility could be considerably higher than would have been the case absent such actions. Similarly, if the
Fed reduces the pace of tapering, stops tapering altogether or undertakes outright purchases of securities, interest rates could decline and our investments
could prepay at a faster rate than anticipated. Consequently, our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected by the Fed altering
its tapering activity.

We may change our targeted investments, investment guidelines and other operational policies without stockholder consent, which may adversely affect
the market price of our common stock and our ability to make distributions to stockholders.

We may change our targeted investments and investment guidelines at any time without the consent of our stockholders, which could result in our
making investments that are different from, and possibly riskier than, the investments described herein.
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Our Board of Directors also determines our other operational policies, including our policies with respect to our REIT qualification, acquisitions, dispositions,
operations, indebtedness and distributions. Our Board of Directors may amend or revise such policies or authorize transactions that deviate from them,
without a vote of, or notice to, our stockholders. A change in our targeted investments, investment guidelines or other operational policies may increase our
exposure to interest rate, spread, credit, prepayment, extension, liquidity and other risks, all of which could adversely affect our results of operations, financial
condition and ability to make distributions to our common and preferred stockholders.

Our active portfolio management strategy may expose us to significant realized gains or losses.

We employ an active management strategy to achieve our principal objective of preserving our net book value while generating attractive risk-adjusted
returns. The composition of our investment portfolio will vary as we believe changes to market conditions, risks and valuations warrant. Consequently, we
may experience significant investment gains or losses when we sell investments that we no longer believe provide attractive risk-adjusted returns or when we
believe more attractive alternatives are available. We may be incorrect in our assessment and select an investment portfolio that could generate lower returns
than a more static management strategy. Also, investors may be less able to assess the changes in our valuation and performance by observing changes in the
mortgage market since we may have changed our strategy and portfolio from the last publicly available data. Our leverage and hedging levels may also
fluctuate as we pursue our active management strategy.

Our strategy involves significant leverage, which increases the risk that we may incur substantial losses.

We expect our leverage to vary with market conditions and our assessment of the risks and returns on our investments. We incur leverage by borrowing
against a substantial portion of the market value of our assets. While leverage is fundamental to our investment strategy, it also creates significant risks. For
example, we may incur substantial losses if our borrowing costs increase or if the value of our investments declines.

Failure to procure adequate financing or to renew or replace existing financing as it matures (to which risk we are specifically exposed due to the short-
term nature of the financing arrangements on our mortgage investments) could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We use debt financing as a strategy to increase our return on equity, and because we rely primarily on short-term borrowings to finance our mortgage
investments, our ability to achieve our investment objectives depends not only on our ability to borrow money in sufficient amounts and on favorable terms,
but also on our ability to renew or replace our maturing short-term borrowings on a continuous basis. However, we may be unable to borrow sufficient funds
to achieve our desired leverage ratio for several reasons, including the following:

• our lenders do not make repurchase or other financing agreements available to us at acceptable rates and terms;
• our lenders exit the market;
• our lenders require additional collateral to cover our borrowings, which we may be unable to deliver; or
• we determine that the leverage would expose us to excessive risk.

Additionally, our wholly-owned captive broker-dealer subsidiary's ability to access bilateral and triparty repo funding, including through the FICC's
GCF Repo service, requires that it continually meet regulatory and membership requirements established by FINRA and the FICC, which could change over
time, potentially resulting in BES to lose access to these funding sources, which represents a significant portion of our total borrowing capacity.

If we are unable to renew or replace maturing borrowings, we may have to sell assets, possibly under adverse market conditions. In addition, if the
regulatory capital requirements imposed on our lenders change, they may be required to significantly increase the cost of the financing that they provide to us.
Our lenders also may revise their eligibility requirements for the types of assets they are willing to finance or the terms of such financings, based on, among
other factors, the regulatory environment and their management of perceived risk, particularly with respect to assignee liability. Consequently, we cannot
make any assurance that financing will be available to us in the future on terms that are acceptable to us. If we cannot obtain sufficient funding on acceptable
terms, our investment returns, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected and there may be a negative impact on the value of
our common and preferred stock and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

A decline in the fair value of our assets will adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations and make it costlier to finance our assets.

We record our investments at fair value with changes in fair value reported in net income or other comprehensive income (a component of equity). A
decline in the fair value of our investments could reduce both our net income and stockholders' equity. We also use our investments as collateral for our
financings. A decline in fair value, or perceived market uncertainty about the value of our assets, could make it difficult for us to obtain financing on
favorable terms or at all, or for us to maintain our compliance
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with terms of any financing arrangements already in place. Since we primarily invest in long-term fixed rate securities, our investment portfolio is particularly
sensitive to changes in longer-term interest rates. If interest rates or other market conditions result in a decline in the fair value of our assets we would be
subject to margin calls on our existing repurchase agreements and it will decrease the amount we may borrow to purchase additional investments. If this
occurs, we could be required to sell assets at adverse prices and our ability to maintain or increase our net income could be significantly restricted, negatively
impacting our financial condition and results of operations and ability to make distributions to stockholders.

Our hedging strategies may not be successful in mitigating the risks associated with changes in interest rates.

We employ techniques that are intended to limit, or "hedge," the adverse effect of changes in interest rates on the value of our assets and financing costs,
subject to complying with REIT tax requirements. Hedging strategies are complex and there are no perfect hedges. Our business model also calls for
accepting certain amounts of risk. Consequently, our hedging activities are generally designed to limit our interest rate exposure, but not to eliminate it, and
they are generally not designed to hedge against spread risk and other risks inherent to our business model.

Our hedging strategies vary in scope based on our portfolio composition, liabilities and our assessment of the level and volatility of interest rates,
expected prepayments, credit and other market conditions, and is expected to change over time. We could fail to properly assess a risk or fail to recognize a
risk entirely, leaving us exposed to losses without the benefit of any offsetting hedges. The derivative financial instruments we select may not have the effect
of reducing our risk, and the nature and timing of hedging transactions may influence their effectiveness in risk mitigation. Poorly designed hedging strategies
or improperly executed transactions could increase our risk of loss. Hedging activities could also result in losses if the hedged event does not occur.
Numerous other factors can also impact the effectiveness of our hedging strategies including, but are not limited to, the following:

• the cost of interest rate hedges can be expensive, particularly during periods of rising and volatile interest rates due to higher costs demanded by
counterparties and additional charges that may be incurred to adjust our hedges in such circumstances;

• available interest rate hedges may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which protection is sought such that the reference rates
could reset at a different time or times from the shorter-term rates intended to be limited;

• the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related asset or liability;
• the amount of income that a REIT may earn from hedging transactions other than hedging transactions that satisfy certain requirements of the

Internal Revenue Code or that are done through a TRS is limited by Federal tax provisions governing REITs;
• the party in the hedging transaction owing money to us may default on its obligation to pay;
• the credit quality of the party owing money to us on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it impairs our ability to sell or assign

our side of the hedging transaction; and
• the value of our interest rate hedges declines due to interest rate fluctuations, lapse of time or other factors.

Furthermore, our hedging activities involve costs that we incur regardless of the effectiveness of the hedging activity or whether we receive any
corresponding economic benefit. For these reasons, our hedging strategies may fail to protect us from loss and could even result in greater losses than if we
had not entered in the hedge transaction, which would negatively impact our operating results and financial condition.

The transition from LIBOR to an alternative reference rate could negatively impact our funding costs and the dividend rate we could pay on our 7%
Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock ("Series C Preferred Stock")

In July 2017, the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority announced its intent to phase out the use of LIBOR by the end of 2021, citing a number
of banks' reluctance to participate in setting LIBOR rates and an insufficient number of interbank lending transactions from which LIBOR may be set. There
is currently no definitive information regarding the future utilization of LIBOR, or of any particular replacement rate. The Fed, in conjunction with the
Alternative Reference Rates Committee, a steering committee comprised of large U.S. financial institutions, has proposed the Secured Overnight Financing
Rate, or SOFR, a new index calculated from short-term repurchase agreements, backed by U.S. Treasury securities, as a potential replacement for U.S. dollar
LIBOR. Our interest rate swaps and certain of our repo agreements have interest rates linked to U.S. LIBOR, and our Series C Preferred Stock has a dividend
rate linked to U.S. LIBOR. It is unknown whether SOFR or any potential alternative reference rate will attain market acceptance as replacements for LIBOR
and, as such, the potential effect on our results from operations is unknown.
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Our hedging strategies are generally not designed to mitigate spread risk.

When the spread between the market yield on our mortgage assets and benchmark interest rates widens, our net book value could decline. We refer to
this as "spread risk" or "basis risk," and we generally do not seek to hedge this risk. The spread risk associated with our mortgage assets and the resulting
fluctuations in fair value of these securities is a risk inherent to our business and can occur independent of changes in benchmark interest rates. Spread risk
may relate to other factors impacting the mortgage and fixed income markets, such as actual or anticipated monetary policy actions by the Fed, market
liquidity, or changes in required rates of return on different assets. Consequently, while we use interest rate swaps and other hedges to attempt to protect
against moves in interest rates, such instruments typically will not protect our net book value against spread risk. If the value of our mortgage assets falls by
more than the offsetting fair value increases on our hedging instruments tied to the underlying benchmark interest rates, or similarly if the value of our assets
increases by less than the offsetting fair value declines on our hedging instruments, our financial condition and results of operations could be materially
adversely affected.

Changes in prepayment rates may adversely affect our profitability and are difficult to predict.

Our investment portfolio includes securities backed by pools of mortgage loans which receive payments related to the underlying mortgage loans. When
borrowers prepay their mortgage loans at rates faster or slower than expected, it results in faster or slower prepayment of our assets. We are exposed to
prepayment or extension risk in the event prepayments occur at a faster or slower rate than we anticipated. Generally, prepayments increase during periods of
falling mortgage interest rates and decrease during periods of rising mortgage interest rates. However, this may not always be the case as other factors can
affect the rate of prepayments, including loan age and size, loan-to-value ratios, housing price trends, general economic conditions and other factors.

If our assets prepay at a faster rate than anticipated, we may be unable to reinvest the repayments at acceptable yields. If the proceeds are reinvested at
lower yields than our existing assets, our net interest margins would be negatively impacted. We also amortize or accrete any premiums and discounts we pay
or receive at purchase relative to the stated principal of our assets into interest income over their projected lives using the effective interest method. If the
actual and estimated future prepayment experience differs from our prior estimates, we are required to record an adjustment to interest income for the impact
of the cumulative difference in the effective yield, which could negatively affect our interest income.

If our assets prepay at a slower rate than anticipated, our assets could extend beyond their expected maturities and we may have to finance our
investments at potentially higher costs without the ability to reinvest principal into higher yielding securities. Additionally, if prepayment rates decrease due
to a rising interest rate environment, the average life or duration of our fixed-rate assets would extend, but our interest rate swap maturities would remain
fixed and, therefore, cover a smaller percentage of our funding exposure. This situation may also cause the market value of our assets to decline, while most
of our hedging instruments would not receive any incremental offsetting gains.

Prepayment rates are difficult to predict. Prepayments also occur when borrowers sell the property and use the sale proceeds to prepay the mortgage or
when borrowers default on their mortgages and the mortgages are prepaid from the proceeds of a foreclosure sale of the property. Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac will generally purchase mortgages that are 120 days or more delinquent from RMBS trusts when the cost of guarantee payments to security holders,
including advances of interest at the security coupon rate, exceeds the cost of holding the nonperforming loans in their portfolios. Consequently, prepayment
rates can be affected by conditions in the housing and financial markets that impact delinquencies on mortgage loans, GSE's cost of capital and their decisions
as to when to repurchase delinquent loans, general economic conditions and the relative interest rates on fixed and adjustable rate loans, which could impact
refinancing rates. In addition, the introduction of U.S. Government programs, or changes to existing programs, could increase the availability of mortgage
credit to homeowners, which could impact prepayment rates, particularly for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Agency RMBS.

To the extent that actual prepayment speeds differ from our expectations, our operating results could be adversely affected, and we could be forced to
sell assets to maintain adequate liquidity, which could cause us to incur realized losses. In addition, should significant prepayments occur, there is no certainty
that we will be able to identify acceptable new investments, which could reduce our invested capital or result in us investing in less favorable securities.

Market conditions may disrupt the historical relationship between interest rate changes and prepayment trends, which may make it more difficult to
analyze our investment portfolio.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to analyze the relationship between changing interest rates and the rate of prepayments. Changes in interest
rates and prepayments affect the market price of mortgage assets. As part of our overall portfolio risk management, we analyze interest rate changes and
prepayment trends separately and collectively to assess their effects on our investment portfolio. To a large extent our analysis is based on models that are
dependent on a number of assumptions and inputs. Many of the assumptions we use are based upon historical trends with respect to the relationship between
interest rates and prepayments under normal market conditions. There is risk that our assumptions are incorrect. Dislocations in the residential
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mortgage market and other developments may disrupt the relationship between the way that prepayment trends have historically responded to interest rate
changes and, consequently, may negatively impact our ability to (i) assess the market value of our investment portfolio, (ii) implement hedging strategies and
(iii) implement techniques to reduce our prepayment rate volatility, which could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Recent changes to the U.S. federal income tax code could have a material impact on the residential mortgage market, which could impact the pricing of
RMBS.

On December 22, 2017, the President signed the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJA"), which provides for substantial changes to the taxation of individuals
and business entities, generally with an effective date of January 1, 2018.  For individual taxpayers, the changes included, among others, lower ordinary
income tax rates, higher standard deductions, and suspension or modification of several itemized deductions.  The changes to the categories of itemized
deductions include a limit on deductions of state and local income and property taxes of $10,000 and a modification to the amount of residential mortgage
interest that is deductible.  The new rule limits the deduction available for mortgage interest by reducing the amount of debt that can qualify from $1 million
to $750,000, however mortgage debt borrowed prior to December 15, 2017 is not affected by the reduction.  In addition, home equity mortgage interest is no
longer deductible. Many of the changes affecting individual taxpayers will cease to apply after December 31, 2025 and will revert to their pre-2018 form
absent future legislation required to make the provisions effective beyond 2025. Because of these changes, it is expected that the number of individual
taxpayers that itemize deductions will decrease significantly causing the income tax benefits of residential home ownership to decline materially.  These
factors could reduce the demand for home ownership, result in a decline in the pricing of residential real estate as well as alter the prepayment patterns of
residential mortgages, all of which could have a significant impact on the pricing and returns of RMBS.  

The mortgage loans referenced by our CRT securities or that underlie our non-Agency securities may be or could become subject to delinquency or
foreclosure, which could result in significant losses to us.

Investments in credit-oriented securities, such as CRT securities and non-Agency MBS, where repayment of principal and interest is not guaranteed by a
GSE or U.S. Government agency, subject us to the potential risk of loss of principal and/or interest due to delinquency, foreclosure and related losses on the
underlying mortgage loans.

CRT securities are risk sharing instruments issued by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, and similarly structured transactions arranged by third-party market
participants. The CRT securities issued by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are designed to transfer mortgage credit risk from the entities to private investors.
The transactions are structured as unsecured and unguaranteed bonds issued by the GSEs whose principal payments are determined by the delinquency and
prepayment experience of a reference pool of mortgages guaranteed by the GSE. CRT transactions arranged by third-party market participants are similarly
structured to reference a specific pool of loans that have been securitized by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac and transfer mortgage credit risk related to those
loans to the purchaser of the securities. The holder of CRT securities bears the risk that the borrowers may default on their obligations to make full and timely
payments of principal and interest. The return of the principal invested in CRT securities is dependent on the level of borrower defaults on the underlying pool
of mortgages. An investor in CRT securities bears the risk that the borrowers in the reference pool of loans may default on their obligations to make full and
timely payments of principal and interest.

Residential mortgage loans underlying non-Agency RMBS are secured by residential property and are subject to risks of delinquency, foreclosure and
loss. The ability of a borrower to repay a loan secured by residential property is dependent upon the income or assets of the borrower. Many factors could
impair a borrower's ability to repay the loan, including: loss of employment, divorce, illness, acts of God, acts of war or terrorism, adverse changes in
economic and market conditions, changes in laws and regulations, changes in fiscal policies and zoning ordinances, costs of remediation and liabilities
associated with environmental conditions such as mold, and the potential for uninsured or under-insured property losses.

Commercial mortgage loans underlying CMBS are generally secured by multifamily or other commercial property and are subject to risks of
delinquency and foreclosure, and risks of loss that are greater than similar risks associated with loans made on the security of residential property. The ability
of a borrower to repay a loan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent primarily upon the successful operation of such property rather
than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower. If the net operating income of the property is reduced, the borrower's ability to repay
the loan may be impaired. Net operating income of an income producing property can be affected by, among other things: tenant mix; success of tenant
businesses; property management decisions; property location and condition; competition from comparable types of properties; changes in laws that increase
operating expense or limit rents that may be charged; any need to address environmental contamination at the property; the occurrence of any uninsured
casualty at the property; changes in national, regional or local economic conditions or specific industry segments; declines in regional or local real estate
values; declines in regional or local rental or occupancy rates; increases in interest rates; real estate tax rates and other operating expenses; changes in
governmental
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rules, regulations and fiscal policies, including environmental legislation; acts of God, acts of war or terrorism, social unrest and civil disturbances.

Our assets are also not subject to any geographic, diversification or concentration limitations. Accordingly, our investments in CRT and non-Agency
securities could be concentrated by geography, asset, property type and/or borrower. Such concentrations could subject us to a greater risk of loss due to
adverse developments. For example, adverse conditions in the areas where the properties securing or otherwise referenced to our investments are located
(such as business layoffs or downsizing, industry slowdowns, changing demographics and other factors) and local real estate conditions (such as oversupply
or reduced demand) could in an adverse way disproportionately affect the value of our investments and our ability to recover interest and principal on our
investments.

Although our investments in CRT and non-Agency securities may benefit from private mortgage insurance, this insurance may not be sufficient to cover
losses.

In certain instances, mortgage loans referenced to our CRT securities or underlying our non-Agency RMBS may have private mortgage insurance. This
insurance is often structured to absorb only a portion of the loss if a loan defaults and, as such, we may be exposed to losses on these loans greater than the
mortgage insurance. Rescission and denial of mortgage insurance may affect the ability to collect on this insurance. If private mortgage insurers fail to remit
insurance payments for insured portions of loans when losses are incurred and where applicable, whether due to breach of contract or to an insurer's
insolvency, we may experience a loss on related CRT or non-Agency RMBS securities for the amount that was insured by such insurers.

Any credit ratings assigned to our credit risk-oriented investments will be subject to ongoing evaluations and revisions and we cannot assure you that
those ratings will not be downgraded.

Some of our investments are rated by nationally recognized rating agencies, such as Moody's Investors Service, Fitch Ratings, Standard & Poor's and
others. Any credit ratings on our investments are subject to ongoing evaluation by credit rating agencies, and we cannot assure you that any such ratings will
not be changed or withdrawn by a rating agency in the future. If rating agencies assign a lower-than-expected rating or reduce or withdraw, or indicate that
they may reduce or withdraw, their ratings of our investments in the future, the value of these investments could significantly decline, which would adversely
affect the value of our investment portfolio and could result in losses upon disposition.

Changes in credit spreads may adversely affect our profitability.

A significant component of the fair value of CRT and non-Agency securities and other credit risk-oriented investments is attributable to the credit
spread, or the difference between the value the credit instrument and the value of a financial instrument with similar interest rate exposure, but with no credit
risk, such as a U.S. Treasury note, and the credit instrument. Credit spreads are subject to market factors and can be highly volatile. In addition, hedging fair
value changes associated with credit spreads can be inefficient and our hedging strategies are generally not designed to mitigate credit spread risk.
Consequently, changes in credit spreads could adversely affect our profitability and financial condition.

Actions of the U.S. Government, including the U.S. Congress, Fed, U.S. Treasury, Federal Housing Finance Administration ("FHFA") and other
governmental and regulatory bodies may adversely affect our business.

U.S. Government actions may have an adverse impact on the financial markets. To the extent the markets do not respond favorably to any such actions
or such actions do not function as intended, they could have broad adverse market implications and could negatively impact our financial condition and
results of operations. New regulatory requirements could adversely affect the availability or terms of financing from our lender counterparties, could impose
more stringent capital rules on financial institutions, could restrict the origination of residential mortgage loans and the formation of new issuances of
mortgage-backed securities and could limit the trading activities of certain banking entities and other systemically significant organizations that are important
to our business. Together or individually these new regulatory requirements could materially affect our financial condition or results of operations in an
adverse way.

Pursuant to the terms of borrowings under master repurchase agreements, we are subject to margin calls that could result in defaults or force us to sell
assets under adverse market conditions or through foreclosure.

We enter into master repurchase agreements with multiple financial institutions. We borrow under these agreements to finance the assets for our
investment portfolio. Pursuant to the terms of borrowings under our master repurchase agreements, a decline in the value of the collateral may result in our
lenders initiating margin calls, where the lender requires us to pledge additional collateral. The specific collateral value to borrowing ratio that would trigger a
margin call is not set in the master repurchase agreements and is not determined until we engage in a repurchase transaction under these agreements. Our
fixed-rate collateral generally may be more susceptible to margin calls as increases in interest rates tend to affect more negatively the market
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value of fixed-rate securities. In addition, some collateral may be less liquid than other instruments, which could cause them to be more susceptible to margin
calls in a volatile market environment. Moreover, collateral that prepays more quickly increases the frequency and magnitude of potential margin calls as
there is a time lag between when the prepayment is reported (which reduces the market value of the security) and when the principal payment is received. If
we are unable to satisfy margin calls, our lenders may foreclose on our collateral. The threat of or occurrence of a margin call could force us to sell, either
directly or through a foreclosure, our collateral under adverse market conditions, which could result in substantial losses.

Our derivative agreements expose us to margin calls that could result in defaults or force us to sell assets under adverse market conditions.

Our derivative agreements typically require that we pledge collateral to our counterparties. Our counterparties, or the central clearing agency, typically
have the sole discretion to determine the value of the derivative instruments and the value of the collateral securing such instruments. In the event of a margin
call, we must generally provide additional collateral on the same business day. Furthermore, our derivative agreements may also contain cross default
provisions under which a default under certain of our other indebtedness above a certain threshold amount would cause an event of default under the
derivative agreement. Following an event of default, we could be required to settle our obligations under the agreements at their termination values. The
threat of or occurrence of margin calls or the forced settlement of our obligations under our derivative agreements at their termination values could force us to
sell our investments under adverse market conditions, which could result in substantial losses.

Regulations adopted by the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") and regulators of other countries could impose increased margin
requirements and require additional operational and compliance costs, which could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.

The CFTC subjects certain swaps to clearing and exchange trading requirements, margin requirements, reporting and record keeping requirements and
counterparties to business conduct rules. Current and future rules and regulations promulgated by the CFTC and regulators of other countries may adversely
affect our ability to engage in derivative transactions or may increase the cost of our hedging activity and potentially result in higher collateral requirements.
Such increased costs and potentially higher collateral requirements could have an adverse impact on our business and results of operations.

It may be uneconomical to roll our TBA dollar roll transactions or we may be unable to meet margin calls on our TBA contracts, which could negatively
affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We utilize TBA dollar roll transactions as a means of investing in and financing Agency RMBS, which represents a form of off-balance sheet financing
and increases our "at risk" leverage. Sales or declines in purchases of Agency RMBS by the Fed and other market participants could adversely impact the
market for TBA dollar roll transactions. TBAs subject us to margin calls under the provisions established by the Mortgage-Backed Securities Division
("MBSD") of the FICC, and our prime brokerage agreements may require that we post additional margin above the levels established by the MBSD. Under
certain market conditions it may be uneconomical to roll our TBA positions prior to the settlement date and we could have to take physical delivery of the
underlying securities and settle our obligations for cash. We may not have sufficient funds or alternative financing sources available to settle such obligations.
Additionally, if we take delivery of the underlying securities, we can expect to receive the "cheapest to deliver" securities, which have the least favorable
prepayment attributes that can be delivered to satisfy the TBA contract, such as the anticipated collateral's weighted average coupon, weighted average
maturity and projected CPR. The specific securities we do receive may also not consist of a sufficient number of "whole pool" securities for us to maintain a
sufficient percentage of our assets in qualifying "mortgage and other liens in real estate" required to remain exempt from registration as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act. Consequently, failure to procure adequate financing to settle our obligations or to meet margin calls under our
TBA contracts could result in defaults or a forced sale of assets in unfavorable market conditions and adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations.

Defaults by our repurchase agreement counterparties on their obligations to resell the underlying collateral back to us at the end of the transaction term,
declines in the value of our collateral, or defaults by us on our obligations under the transaction could cause us to lose money on repurchase
transactions.

When we engage in a repurchase transaction, we initially transfer securities to the financial institution under one of our master repurchase agreements in
exchange for cash, and our counterparty is obligated to resell such assets to us at the end of the term of the transaction. The cash we receive when we initially
sell the collateral is less than the value of that collateral and this difference is referred to as the "haircut." As a result, we borrow a smaller amount than the
collateral we initially sell in these transactions and increases in "haircuts" may require us to post additional collateral. The haircut rates under our master
repurchase agreements are not set until we engage in a specific repurchase transaction. If a counterparty defaults on an obligation to resell collateral to us, we
could incur a loss on the transaction equal to the amount of the haircut (assuming there was no change in the value of the securities), which could adversely
affect our earnings, and, thus, our cash available for distribution to our stockholders.
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To limit our counterparty exposure, we diversify our funding across multiple counterparties and by counterparty region. We may access a significant
portion of our funding through BES, which has direct access to the General Collateral Finance Repo service offered by the FICC. We could be exposed to risk
of loss if the FICC or an FICC netting member defaults on its obligations. We believe that this risk is minimal due to the FICC's initial and daily mark-to-
market margin requirements, guarantee funds and other resources that are available in the event of a default, but there is no guarantee that we would not incur
a loss if such an event of default were to occur.

If we default on one of our obligations under a repurchase transaction, the counterparty could terminate the transaction and cease entering into other
repurchase transactions with us. In that case, we would likely need to establish a replacement repurchase facility with another financial institution to continue
to leverage our investment portfolio and carry out our investment strategy. We may not be able to secure a suitable replacement facility on acceptable terms or
at all.

Further, financial institutions providing the repurchase agreements may require us to maintain a certain amount of cash or to set aside non-leveraged
assets sufficient to maintain a specified liquidity position which would allow us to satisfy our collateral obligations should the fair value of our collateral
decline. As a result, we may not be able to leverage our assets as fully as we would otherwise choose, which could reduce our return on equity. If we are
unable to meet these collateral obligations, our financial condition could deteriorate rapidly, and our counterparties could choose to cease entering into further
repurchase transactions with us.

Our rights under repurchase agreements are subject to the effects of bankruptcy laws in the event of our or our lender's bankruptcy or insolvency.

In the event of our insolvency or bankruptcy, certain repurchase agreements may qualify for special treatment under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, the
effect of which, among other things, would be to allow the lender under the applicable repurchase agreement to avoid the automatic stay provisions of the
U.S. Bankruptcy Code and to foreclose on the collateral without delay. In the event of the insolvency or bankruptcy of a lender during the term of a
repurchase agreement, the lender may be permitted, under applicable insolvency laws, to repudiate the contract, and our claim against the lender for damages
may be treated simply as an unsecured creditor. In addition, if the lender is a broker or dealer subject to the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1970, or an
insured depository institution subject to the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, our ability to recover our assets under a repurchase agreement or to be
compensated for any damages resulting from the lender's insolvency may be further limited by those statutes. Recoveries on these claims could be subject to
significant delay and, if received, could be substantially less than the damages incurred.

Our use of derivative agreements may expose us to counterparty risk.

Certain hedging instruments, such as interest rate swaptions, are not traded on regulated exchanges or guaranteed by an exchange or its clearinghouse
and, consequently, there may not be the same level of protections with respect to margin requirements, record keeping, segregation of customer funds and
positions and other requirements designed to protect both us and our counterparties. Furthermore, the enforceability of agreements underlying hedging
transactions may depend on compliance with applicable statutory, commodity and other regulatory requirements and, depending on the domicile of the
counterparty, applicable international requirements. Consequently, if a counterparty fails to perform under a derivative agreement we could incur a significant
loss.

Our investments are recorded at fair value, which may not be readily determinable or may be materially different from the value that we ultimately realize
upon their disposal.

We measure the fair value of our investments in accordance with guidance set forth in Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures. Fair value is only an estimate based on good faith judgment of the price at which an investment can be sold since market
prices of investments can only be determined by negotiation between a willing buyer and seller. Our determination of the fair value of our investments
includes inputs provided by third-party dealers and pricing services. Valuations of certain investments in which we invest may be difficult to obtain or
unreliable. In general, dealers and pricing services heavily disclaim their valuations and we do not have recourse against them due to liabilities and other
damages arising from inaccurate price quotes or other inputs used to determine the fair value of our investments. Depending on the complexity and illiquidity
of a security, valuations of the same security can vary substantially from one dealer or pricing service to another. Moreover, fair value and estimates of fair
value may fluctuate over short periods of time. For these reasons, the fair value at which our investments are recorded may not be an indication of their
realizable value. Furthermore, the ultimate realization of the value of an asset depends on economic and other conditions that are beyond our control.
Consequently, if we were to liquidate an asset, particularly in a forced liquidation, the realized value may be less than the amount at which the asset is
recorded, which would negatively affect our results of operations and financial condition.
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Investments in the common stock of other publicly traded mortgage REITs expose us to incremental risks and costs.

We may invest in other mortgage REITs that primarily invest in Agency securities, non-Agency securities, other mortgage related instruments and/or
real estate on a leveraged basis, utilizing short-term borrowings as their primary source of funding. Such mortgage REITs are, therefore, exposed to similar
risk factors as those described herein and other risks inherent to investment strategies that they may pursue that diverge from our own.  In addition, our
investments in other mortgage REITs may expose us to incremental risks and costs due to our lack of control, lack of transparency into their underlying
investment portfolios and business operations, stock market volatility and management fees, each of which could adversely affect our financial condition and
results of operations.

The Federal conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and related efforts, along with any changes in laws and regulations affecting the
relationship between these agencies and the U.S. Government, may adversely affect our business.

The payments of principal and interest we receive on our Agency RMBS are guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae. The guarantees on
Agency securities created by Ginnie Mae are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government, whereas the guarantees on Agency securities created
by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are not.

The future roles of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could be significantly modified, and the nature of their guarantee obligations could be considerably
limited relative to historical measurements. Any such changes to the nature of their guarantee obligations could re-define what constitutes an Agency security
and could have broad adverse implications for the market and our business, operations and financial condition.

Future changes to Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac may create market uncertainty and may reduce the actual or perceived credit quality of securities issued
or guaranteed by these agencies. If the guarantee obligations of Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae were repudiated by FHFA, payments of principal and/or interest
to holders of Agency RMBS issued by Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae would be reduced in the event of any borrower delinquencies or a servicer's failure to
remit borrower payments to the trust and trust administration and servicing fees could be paid from mortgage payments prior to distributions to holders of
Agency RMBS. Any actual direct compensatory damages owed due to the repudiation of Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae's guarantee obligations may not be
sufficient to offset any shortfalls experienced by holders of Agency RMBS.

As a result, such laws or changes could increase the risk of loss on our investments in Agency mortgage investments guaranteed by Fannie Mae or
Freddie Mac or adversely impact the market for such securities and spreads at which they trade and could materially and adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

Our executive officers and other key personnel are critical to our success and the loss of any executive officer or key employee may materially adversely
affect our business.

We operate in a highly specialized industry and our success is dependent upon the efforts, experience, diligence, skill and network of business contacts
of our executive officers and key personnel. The departure of any of our executive officers and/or key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our
operations and performance.

We rely on information technology in our operations, and any material failure, inadequacy, interruption or security failure of that technology could
disrupt our business and result in the loss of confidential information.

We rely on information technology networks and systems to process, transmit and store electronic information, and to manage or support a variety of
business processes. We purchase some of our information technology from third-party vendors and rely on commercially available systems, software, tools
and monitoring to provide security for the processing, transmission and storage of confidential data. While we select third-party vendors carefully, we do not
control their actions. Any problems caused by these third parties, including those resulting from breakdowns or other disruptions in communication services,
failure to handle current or higher volumes, cyber-attacks and other security breaches could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business.

While we employ measures to protect the security of our information systems and data, it is possible that these measures will not prevent the systems’
improper functioning or damage, or the improper access or disclosure of information in the event of cyber-attacks. In some cases, it may be difficult to
anticipate or immediately detect a security breach and the damage caused. Any failure to maintain proper function, security and availability of our
information systems could interrupt our operations, damage our reputation, subject us to liability claims or regulatory penalties and could have a materially
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Risks Related to Our Taxation as a REIT

Our failure to qualify as a REIT would have adverse tax consequences.

We believe that we operate in a manner that allows us to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes under Sections 856 through 860 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.  We plan to continue to meet the requirements for taxation as
a REIT.  The determination that we are a REIT requires an analysis of various factual matters and circumstances that may not be totally within our control and
our compliance with the annual REIT income and quarterly asset requirements depends upon our ability to successfully manage the composition of our
income and assets on an ongoing basis. For example, to qualify as a REIT, at least 75% of our gross income must come from real estate sources and 95% of
our gross income must come from real estate sources and certain other sources that are itemized in the REIT tax laws.  Additionally, our ability to satisfy the
REIT asset tests depends upon our analysis of the characterization and fair market values of our assets, some of which are not susceptible to a precise
determination, and for which we will not obtain independent appraisals. Furthermore, the proper classification of an instrument as debt or equity for federal
income tax purposes may be uncertain in some circumstances, which could affect the application of the REIT asset requirements. We are also required to
distribute to stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and by excluding any net
capital gain).

If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any tax year, we would be subject to U.S. federal and state corporate income tax on our taxable income at regular
corporate rates, and dividends paid to our stockholders would not be deductible by us in computing our taxable income.  Also, unless the IRS granted us relief
under certain statutory provisions, we would remain disqualified as a REIT for four years following the year we first fail to qualify.  If we fail to qualify as a
REIT, we would have to pay significant income taxes and would, therefore, have less money available for investments or for distributions to our
stockholders.  This would likely have a significant adverse effect on the value of our equity.  In addition, the tax law would no longer require us to make
distributions to our stockholders.

If we should fail to satisfy one or more requirements for REIT qualification, we may still qualify as a REIT if there is reasonable cause for the failure
and not due to willful neglect and other applicable requirements are met, including completion of applicable IRS filings. It is not possible to state whether we
would be entitled to the benefit of these relief provisions in all circumstances. If these relief provisions are inapplicable, we will not qualify as a REIT.
Furthermore, if we satisfy the relief provisions and maintain our qualification as a REIT, we may be still subject to a penalty tax. The amount of the penalty
tax will be at least $50,000 per failure, and, in the case of certain asset test failures, will be determined as the amount of net income generated by the assets in
question multiplied by the highest U.S. federal corporate tax rate in effect at the time of the failure if that amount exceeds $50,000 per failure, and, in case of
income test failures, will be a 100% tax on an amount based on the magnitude of the failure, as adjusted to reflect the profit margin associated with our gross
income.

New legislation or administrative or judicial action, in each instance potentially with retroactive effect, could make it more difficult or impossible for us to
remain qualified as a REIT or it could otherwise adversely affect REITs and their stockholders.

The present U.S. federal income tax treatment of REITs may be modified, possibly with retroactive effect, by legislative, judicial or administrative
action at any time, which could affect the federal income tax treatment of an investment in us. The federal income tax rules dealing with REITs constantly are
under review by persons involved in the legislative process, the IRS and the U.S. Treasury Department, which results in statutory changes as well as frequent
revisions to regulations and interpretations.

The TCJA enacted in December 2017 makes substantial changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Among those changes are a significant permanent
reduction in the generally applicable corporate tax rate, a temporary reduction in the highest marginal income tax rate applicable to individuals subject to a
"sunset" provision, the elimination or modification of various currently allowed deductions (including substantial limitations on the deductibility of interest),
certain additional limitations on the deduction of net operating losses, and preferential rates of taxation on most ordinary REIT dividends and certain business
income derived by non-corporate taxpayers in comparison to other ordinary income recognized by such taxpayers. The effect of these, and the many other,
changes made in the TCJA is highly uncertain, both in terms of their direct effect on the taxation of an investment in our common stock and their indirect
effect on the value of our assets or shares of our common stock or market conditions generally. Furthermore, many of the provisions of the TCJA will require
guidance through the issuance of Treasury regulations in order to assess their effect. There may be a substantial delay before such regulations are
promulgated, increasing the uncertainty as to the ultimate effect of the statutory amendments on us. There may also be technical corrections legislation
proposed with respect to the TCJA, the effect and timing of which cannot be predicted, and which may be adverse to us or our stockholders.

Revisions in Federal tax laws and interpretations thereof could affect or cause us to change our investments and affect the tax considerations of an
investment in us.
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REIT distribution requirements could adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan.

We generally must distribute annually at least 90% of our taxable income, subject to certain adjustments and excluding any net capital gain, for U.S.
federal and state corporate income tax not to apply to earnings that we distribute. Distributions of our taxable income must generally occur in the taxable year
to which they relate, or in the following taxable year if declared before we timely file our tax return for the year and if paid with or before the first regular
dividend payment after such declaration. We may also elect to retain, rather than distribute, our net long-term capital gains and pay tax on such gains if
required, in which case, we could elect for our stockholders to include their proportionate share of such undistributed long-term capital gains in income, and
to receive a corresponding credit for their share of the tax that we paid. Our stockholders would then increase the adjusted basis of their stock by the
difference between (a) the amounts of capital gain dividends that we designated and that they include in their taxable income, minus (b) the tax that we paid
on their behalf with respect to that income. We intend to make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the REIT qualification requirements of the
Internal Revenue Code, which limits our ability to retain earnings and thereby replenish or increase capital from operations.

To the extent that we satisfy this distribution requirement, but distribute less than 100% of our taxable income, we will be subject to U.S. federal and
state corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income. Furthermore, if we should fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of
(a) 85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year, (b) 95% of our REIT capital gain net income for such year, and (c) any undistributed taxable income
from prior periods, we would be subject to a non-deductible 4% excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the sum of (x) the amounts
actually distributed, (y) the amounts of income we retained and on which we have paid corporate income tax and (z) any excess distributions from prior
periods.

From time to time, we may generate taxable income greater than our reported income prepared in accordance with GAAP. Differences in the timing of
the recognition of taxable income and deductible expenses and the actual receipt or disbursement of cash may also occur. For example, if we purchase
mortgage securities at issuance with a discount, we are generally required to accrete the discount into taxable income prior to receiving the cash proceeds. In
addition, we generally will be required to take certain amounts into income no later than the time such amounts are reflected on certain financial statements.
The application of this rule may require the accrual of, among other categories of income, income with respect to certain debt instruments or mortgage-backed
securities, such as original issue discount or market discount, earlier than would be the case under the general tax rules, although the precise application of
this rule is unclear at this time.  This rule generally is effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 or, for debt instruments or mortgage-backed
securities issued with original issue discount, for tax years beginning after December 31, 2018. Moreover, we are not allowed to reduce our taxable income
for a net capital loss incurred; instead, the net capital loss may be carried forward for a period of up to five years and applied against future capital gains
subject to our ability to generate sufficient capital gains, which cannot be assured. If we do not have funds available in these situations, we could be required
to borrow funds on unfavorable terms, sell investments at disadvantageous prices or distribute amounts that would otherwise be invested in future acquisitions
to make distributions sufficient to maintain our qualification as a REIT or avoid corporate income tax and the 4% annual excise tax. These alternatives could
increase our costs and reduce our stockholders' equity. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to grow, which could adversely
affect the value of our common stock.

We may in the future choose to pay dividends in our own stock, in which case stockholders may be required to pay income taxes in excess of cash
dividends received.

We may in the future distribute taxable dividends that are payable in cash and shares of our common stock at the election of each stockholder. Taxable
stockholders receiving such dividends will be required to include the full amount of the dividend as ordinary income to the extent of our current and
accumulated earnings and profits for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, stockholders may be required to pay income taxes with respect to such
dividends in excess of the cash dividends received. If a U.S. stockholder sells the stock that it receives as a dividend to pay this tax, the sales proceeds may be
less than the amount included in income with respect to the dividend, depending on the market price of our stock at the time of the sale. Furthermore, with
respect to certain non-U.S. stockholders, we may be required to withhold U.S. tax with respect to such dividends, including in respect of all or a portion of
such dividend that is payable in stock. In addition, if a significant number of our stockholders determine to sell shares of our common stock to pay taxes owed
on dividends, it may put downward pressure on the trading price of our common stock.

Even if we remain qualified as a REIT, we may face other tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow.

Even if we remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, we may nonetheless be subject to certain Federal, state and local taxes on our income and assets,
including, but not limited to, the following items. Any of these or other taxes we may incur would decrease cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

17



• Regular U.S. federal and state corporate income taxes on any undistributed taxable income, including undistributed net capital gains.
• A non-deductible 4% excise tax if the actual amount distributed to our stockholders in a calendar year is less than a minimum amount specified

under Federal tax laws.
• Corporate income taxes on the earnings of subsidiaries, to the extent that such subsidiaries are subchapter C corporations and are not qualified

REIT subsidiaries or other disregarded entity for federal income tax purposes.
• A 100% tax on certain transactions between us and our TRSs that do not reflect arm's-length terms.  
• If we acquire appreciated assets from a corporation that is not a REIT (i.e., a corporation taxable under subchapter C of the Internal Revenue

Code) in a transaction in which the adjusted tax basis of the assets in our hands is determined by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets
in the hands of the subchapter C corporation, we may be subject to tax on such appreciation at the highest corporate income tax rate then
applicable if we subsequently recognize a gain on a disposition of any such assets during the five-year period following their acquisition from
the subchapter C corporation.  

• A 100% tax on net income and gains from "prohibited transactions"
• Penalty taxes and other fines for failure to satisfy one or more requirements for REIT qualification.

Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities.

To remain qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the sources of our
income, the nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts that we distribute to our stockholders and the ownership of our stock. We may be required to
make distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution, and we may be unable to pursue
investments that would be otherwise advantageous to us to remain qualified as a REIT. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability
to make and, in certain cases, to maintain ownership of, certain attractive investments.

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.

To remain qualified as a REIT, we must ensure that, at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash, cash
items, government securities and qualified real estate assets. The remainder of our investments in securities (other than government securities and qualified
real estate assets) generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the
outstanding securities of any one issuer. In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the value of our assets (other than government securities and qualified
real estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, and no more than 20% of the value of our total assets can be represented by securities of one
or more TRSs. If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the
calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences. As a result,
we may be required sell otherwise attractive investments from our investment portfolio. These actions could have the effect of reducing our income and
amounts available for distribution to our stockholders.

The failure of assets subject to repurchase agreements to qualify as real estate assets could adversely affect our ability to remain qualified as a REIT.

We enter into financing arrangements that are structured as sale and repurchase agreements pursuant to which we nominally sell assets to a counterparty
and simultaneously enter into an agreement to repurchase these assets at a later date in exchange for a purchase price. Economically, these agreements are
financings that are secured by the assets sold pursuant thereto. We believe that we would be treated for REIT asset and income test purposes as the owner of
the assets that are the subject of any such sale and repurchase agreement notwithstanding that such agreement may transfer record ownership of the assets to
the counterparty during the term of the agreement. It is possible, however, that the IRS could assert that we did not own the assets during the term of the sale
and repurchase agreement, in which case we could fail to remain qualified as a REIT.

Liquidation of assets may jeopardize our REIT qualification or create additional tax liability for us.

To remain qualified as a REIT, we must comply with requirements regarding the composition of our assets and our sources of income. If we are
compelled to liquidate our investments to repay obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with these requirements, ultimately jeopardizing our
qualification as a REIT, or we may be subject to a 100% tax on any resultant gain if we sell assets that are treated as dealer property or inventory.
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Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax liabilities.

The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code could substantially limit our ability to hedge our liabilities. Any income from a properly designated
hedging transaction to manage risk of interest rate changes with respect to borrowings made or to be made, or ordinary obligations incurred or to be incurred,
to acquire or carry real estate assets generally does not constitute "gross income" for purposes of the 75% or 95% gross income tests. To the extent that we
enter into other types of hedging transactions, the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of both gross
income tests. As such, we may have to limit our use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through our TRS. This could increase the
cost of our hedging activities as our TRS would be subject to tax on gains or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would
otherwise want to bear. In addition, losses in our TRS will generally not provide any tax benefit, except for being carried forward against future taxable
income in the TRS.

Uncertainty exists with respect to the treatment of our TBAs for purposes of the REIT asset and income tests.

There is no direct authority with respect to the qualification of TBAs as real estate assets or U.S. Government securities for purposes of the 75% asset
test or the qualification of income or gains from dispositions of TBAs as gains from the sale of real property or other qualifying income for purposes of the
75% gross income test. However, we treat our TBAs as qualifying assets for purposes of the REIT 75% asset test, and we treat income and gains from our
TBAs as qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test, based on an opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP substantially to
the effect that (i) for purposes of the REIT asset tests, our ownership of a TBA should be treated as ownership of the underlying Agency RMBS, and (ii) for
purposes of the 75% REIT gross income test, any gain recognized by us in connection with the settlement of our TBAs should be treated as gain from the sale
or disposition of the underlying Agency RMBS. Opinions of counsel are not binding on the IRS, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not
successfully challenge the conclusions set forth in such opinions. In addition, it must be emphasized that the opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher &
Flom LLP is based on various assumptions relating to our TBAs and is conditioned upon fact-based representations and covenants made by our management
regarding our TBAs. No assurance can be given that the IRS would not assert that such assets or income are not qualifying assets or income. If the IRS were
to successfully challenge the opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, we could be subject to a penalty tax or we could fail to remain qualified
as a REIT if a sufficient portion of our assets consists of TBAs or a sufficient portion of our income consists of income or gains from the disposition of TBAs.

Qualifying as a REIT involves highly technical and complex provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.

Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex Internal Revenue Code provisions for which only limited judicial and
administrative authorities exist. Even a technical or inadvertent violation could jeopardize our REIT qualification. Our qualification as a REIT depends on our
satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, distribution, stockholder ownership and other requirements on a continuing basis. In addition, our ability
to satisfy the requirements to remain qualified as a REIT depends in part on the actions of third parties over which we have no control or only limited
influence, including cases where we own an equity interest in an entity that is classified as a partnership for federal income tax purposes.

The tax on prohibited transactions could limit our ability to engage in certain transactions.

Net income that we derive from a prohibited transaction is subject to a 100% tax. The term "prohibited transaction" generally includes a sale or other
disposition of property that is held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business by us or by a borrower that has issued a shared
appreciation mortgage or similar debt instrument to us. We could be subject to this tax if we were to dispose of or structure CMOs in a manner that was
treated as a prohibited transaction for federal income tax purposes.

We intend to conduct our operations so that no asset that we own (or are treated as owning) at the REIT level will be treated as, or as having been, held
for sale to customers, and that a sale of any such asset will not be treated as having been in the ordinary course of our business. As a result, we may choose
not to engage in certain transactions at the REIT level that might otherwise be beneficial to us. In addition, whether property is held "primarily for sale to
customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business" depends on the particular facts and circumstances. No assurance can be given that any property that
we sell will not be treated as property held for sale to customers, or that we can comply with certain safe-harbor provisions of the Internal Revenue Code that
would prevent such treatment. The 100% tax does not apply to gains from the sale of property that is held through a TRS or other taxable corporation,
although such income will be subject to tax in the hands of the corporation at regular corporate rates. We intend to structure our activities to avoid prohibited
transaction characterization.

19



Distributions to tax-exempt investors, or gains on sale of our common stock by tax-exempt investors, may be classified as unrelated business taxable
income.

Distributions with respect to our common stock and gains from the sale of our common stock should generally not constitute unrelated business taxable
income to a tax-exempt investor. However, there are certain exceptions to this rule. For example, if (i) all or a portion of our assets are subject to the rules
relating to "taxable mortgage pools" or we hold residual interests in a real estate mortgage investment conduit (or "REMIC"); (ii) we are a "pension held
REIT;" (iii) a tax-exempt stockholder has incurred debt to purchase or hold our common stock; or (iv) a tax-exempt stockholder is classified as a social club,
voluntary employee benefit association, supplemental unemployment benefit trust or a qualified group legal services plan, then a portion of our distributions
to tax-exempt stockholders and, in the case of stockholders described in clauses (iii) and (iv), gains realized on the sale of our common stock by tax-exempt
stockholders may be subject to U.S. federal income tax as unrelated business taxable income under the Internal Revenue Code.

Our inability to deduct for tax purposes compensation paid to our executives could require us to increase our distributions to stockholders or pay entity
level taxes to maintain our REIT status.

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code prohibits publicly held corporations from taking a tax deduction for annual compensation in excess of $1
million paid to any of the corporation’s "covered employees." Prior to the enactment of the TCJA, a publicly held corporation’s covered employees included
its chief executive officer and the three other most highly compensated executive officers (other than the chief financial officer), and certain "performance-
based compensation" was excluded from the $1 million cap. The TCJA made certain changes to Section 162(m), effective for taxable years beginning after
December 31, 2017. These changes include, among others, expanding the definition of "covered employee" to include the chief financial officer and repealing
the performance-based compensation exception to the $1 million cap, subject to certain transition rules. The TCJA also added that once an individual
becomes a covered employee after December 31, 2016, that individual will remain a covered employee for all future years including after termination or
death. Compensation paid to "covered employees" in excess of the 162(m) deductibility limit increases our taxable income compared to fully deductible
compensation and, as a result, increases the amount of dividends we must distribute to stockholders to maintain our REIT status and/or to avoid U.S. federal
and state income tax, which could adversely affect our financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Business Structure

Loss of our exemption from regulation pursuant to the Investment Company Act would adversely affect us.

We conduct our business so as not to become regulated as an investment company under the Investment Company Act in reliance on the exemption
provided by Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act. Section 3(c)(5)(C), as interpreted by the staff of the SEC, requires that: (i) at least 55% of our
investment portfolio consists of "mortgages and other liens on and interest in real estate," or "qualifying real estate interests," and (ii) at least 80% of our
investment portfolio consists of qualifying real estate interests plus "real estate-related assets."

The specific real estate related assets that we acquire are limited by the provisions of the Investment Company Act and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder. In satisfying the 55% requirement, we treat Agency RMBS issued with respect to an underlying pool of mortgage loans in which we
directly or indirectly hold all the certificates issued by the pool ("whole pool" securities) as qualifying real estate interests based on pronouncements of the
SEC staff. We treat partial pool securities, CRT and other mortgage related securities as real estate-related assets. If the SEC determines that any of these
securities are not qualifying interests in real estate or real estate-related assets, adopts a contrary interpretation with respect to these securities or otherwise
believes we do not satisfy the above exceptions or changes its interpretation of the above exceptions, we could be required to restructure our activities or sell
certain of our assets. Our compliance with these requirements may at times lead us to adopt less efficient methods of financing certain of our investments, and
we may be precluded from acquiring higher yielding securities. Importantly, if we fail to qualify for this exemption, our ability to use leverage would be
substantially reduced and we would be unable to conduct our business as we currently conduct it, which could materially and adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile.

The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations. Price variations may be unrelated to
our operating performance. If the market price of our common stock declines significantly, stockholders may be unable to resell shares at a gain. Further,
fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock may adversely affect the liquidity of the trading market for our common stock and our ability to raise
additional equity capital
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Some of the factors that could negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our common stock include:

• actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results or distributions;
• changes in our earnings estimates or publication of research reports about us or the real estate or specialty finance industry;
• increases in market interest rates that lead purchasers of our shares of common stock to demand a higher yield;
• changes in market valuations of similar companies;
• adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future;
• issuance of additional equity securities;
• our repurchases of shares of our common stock;
• actions by institutional stockholders;
• additions or departures of key management personnel;
• speculation in the press or investment community;
• price and volume fluctuations in the stock market from time to time, which are often unrelated to our operating performance;
• changes in regulatory policies, tax laws and financial accounting and reporting standards, particularly with respect to REITs, or applicable

exemptions from the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended;
• actual or anticipated changes in our dividend policy and earnings or variations in operating results;
• any shortfall in revenue or net income or any increase in losses from levels expected by securities analysts;
• decreases in our net book value per share;
• loss of major repurchase agreement providers; and
• general market and economic conditions.

In addition, the price of our common stock may be below our reported net book value per common share. We cannot assure you that the market price of
our common stock will not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would rank senior to our common and preferred upon our liquidation, and future offerings of equity securities,
which would dilute our existing stockholders and may be senior to our common stock for the purposes of dividend and liquidating distributions, may
adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

In the future, we may raise capital through the issuance of debt or equity securities. Upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities, if any, preferred
stock and lenders with respect to other borrowings will be entitled to our available assets prior to the holders of our common stock. Additional equity
offerings may dilute the holdings of our existing stockholders or reduce the market price of our common stock, or both. Our preferred stock has a preference
on liquidating distributions and a preference on dividend payments that could limit our ability to pay dividends to the holders of our common stock. Sales of
substantial amounts of our common stock, or the perception that these sales could occur, could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common
stock. Because our decision to issue debt or equity securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we
cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. Thus, holders of our common stock bear the risk of our future offerings
reducing the market price of our common stock and diluting the value of their stock holdings in us.

Future sales of shares of our common stock may depress the price of our shares.

We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales of our common stock or the availability of shares for future sales on the market price of our common
stock. Any sales of a substantial number of our shares in the public market, or the perception that sales might occur, may cause the market price of our shares
to decline.     

We have not established a minimum dividend payment level and we cannot assure you of our ability to pay dividends in the future.

We intend to pay monthly dividends to our common stockholders in an amount that all or substantially all our taxable income is distributed within the
limits prescribed by the Internal Revenue Code. However, we have not established a minimum dividend payment level and the amount of our dividend may
fluctuate. Our ability to pay dividends may be adversely affected by the risk factors described herein. All distributions will be made at the discretion of our
Board of Directors and will depend on our earnings and financial condition, the requirements for REIT qualification and such other factors as our Board of
Directors deems relevant

21



from time to time. We may not be able to make distributions in the future or our Board of Directors may change our dividend policy. In addition, some of our
distributions may include a return of capital. To the extent that we decide to pay dividends in excess of our current and accumulated tax earnings and profits,
such distributions would generally be considered a return of capital for federal income tax purposes. A return of capital reduces the cost basis of a
stockholder's investment in our common stock to the extent of such basis and is treated as capital gain thereafter.

An increase in market interest rates may cause a material decrease in our net book value and the market price of our common stock.

Market interest rate fluctuations and capital market conditions can have a significant adverse effect on our net book value and the market price of our
common stock. For instance, rising interest rates would result in increased interest expense on our variable rate debt, thereby reducing cash flow and our
ability to service our indebtedness and pay distributions. In addition, if market interest rates rise without an increase in our distribution rate, the market price
of our common stock could decrease as potential investors may require a higher distribution yield on our common stock or seek other investments paying
higher distributions or interest.

The stock ownership limit imposed by the Internal Revenue Code for REITs and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation may restrict our
business combination opportunities.

To qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, not more than 50% of our outstanding stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or
fewer individuals (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code to include certain entities) at any time during the last half of each taxable year in which we qualify
as a REIT. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, with certain exceptions, authorizes our Board of Directors to take the actions that are
necessary and desirable to qualify as a REIT. Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, no person may beneficially or constructively
own more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of our common or capital stock.

Our Board of Directors may grant an exemption from this 9.8% stock ownership limitation, in its sole discretion, subject to such conditions,
representations and undertakings as it may determine are reasonably necessary. Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our Board
of Directors has the power to increase or decrease the percentage of common or capital stock that a person may beneficially or constructively own. However,
any decreased stock ownership limit will not apply to any person whose percentage ownership of our common or capital stock is in excess of such decreased
stock ownership limit until that person's percentage ownership of our common or capital stock equals or falls below the decreased stock ownership limit.
Until such a person's percentage ownership of our common or capital stock falls below such decreased stock ownership limit, any further acquisition of our
common or capital stock will be in violation of the decreased stock ownership limit.

The ownership limits imposed by the tax law are based upon direct or indirect ownership by "individuals," but only during the last half of a tax year. The
ownership limits contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation apply to the ownership at any time by any "person," which term includes
entities. Any attempt to own or transfer shares of our common stock or capital stock in violation of these restrictions may result in the shares being transferred
to a charitable trust or may be void. These ownership limitations are intended to assist us in complying with the tax law requirements, and to minimize
administrative burdens. However, these ownership limits might also delay or prevent a transaction or a change in our control that might involve a premium
price for our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.

The stock ownership limitation contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation generally does not permit ownership of more than
9.8% of our common or capital stock and attempts to acquire our common or capital stock above this limit will be ineffective unless an exemption is
granted by our Board of Directors.

As described above, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation generally prohibits beneficial or constructive ownership by any person of
more than 9.8% (by value or by number of shares, whichever is more restrictive) of our common or capital stock, unless exempted by our Board of Directors.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation's constructive ownership rules are complex and may cause the outstanding stock owned by a group of
related individuals or entities to be deemed to be constructively owned by one individual or entity. As a result, the acquisition of 9.8% or less of the
outstanding stock by an individual or entity or group could result in constructive ownership greater than 9.8% and thus be subject to our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation's ownership limit. Any attempt to own or transfer shares of our common or preferred stock more than the ownership limit without
the consent of the Board of Directors will result in the shares being automatically transferred to a charitable trust or, if the transfer to a charitable trust would
not be effective, such transfer being treated as invalid from the outset.
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Anti-takeover provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws could discourage a change of control that our stockholders
may favor, which could also adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may make it more difficult and expensive for a third-party to acquire
control of us, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our stockholders. We could issue a series of preferred stock to impede the completion of a
merger, tender offer or other takeover attempt. The anti-takeover provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may impede
takeover attempts, or other transactions, that may be in the best interests of our stockholders. In addition, the market price of our common stock could be
adversely affected to the extent that provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws discourage potential takeover attempts, or
other transactions, that our stockholders may favor.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties
We do not own any property. Our executive offices are in Bethesda, Maryland.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
AGNC is named as a nominal defendant in three stockholder derivative lawsuits filed against the Company and certain of our current and former

directors and officers. One case, H&N Management Group and AFF Cos. Frozen Money Purchase Plan v. Couch, et al., (the "Delaware Action") was filed in
the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware on October 21, 2016, an amended complaint was filed on December 12, 2016, and further amended complaints
were filed on October 11, 2018 and on November 14, 2018. The amended complaint in the Delaware Action alleges breach of fiduciary duty and corporate
waste by certain of our current and former directors and officers relating to decisions not to terminate our management agreement with our former external
Manager (the "Renewal Claims") and the internalization of our management through the acquisition of AMM, which was completed on July 1, 2016
("Internalization Claims"). The amended complaint in the Delaware Action also names Ares Capital Corporation, Ivy Hill Asset Management, LLC and
ACAS, LLC, (collectively, the "Ares Defendants") as defendants and alleges that they aided and abetted and were unjustly enriched by the supposed breaches
of duty (the “Ares Claims”). A motion to dismiss the Delaware Action was denied on August 1, 2017, and the Delaware Action is currently in the discovery
phase with respect to defendants other than the Ares Defendants. The Ares Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the claims against them on October 29, 2018.
Oral argument on this motion occurred on February 21, 2019, but the Court has not yet rendered a decision.

The other two cases, Clem v. Kain, et al., and Wall v. Kain, et al., were filed in the U.S. District Court in the District of Maryland on September 21, 2016
and September 30, 2016, respectively, and were consolidated on October 25, 2016, under the name In re AGNC Investment Corp. (f/k/a American Capital
Agency Corp.) Stockholder Derivative Litigation, (collectively, the "Maryland Action" and collectively, with the Delaware Action, the "Derivative Lawsuits").
An amended complaint in the Maryland Action was filed on December 23, 2016. The amended complaint in the Maryland Action alleged breach of fiduciary
duties and aiding and abetting against the same individuals related to substantially the same events (i.e., Renewal Claims, Internalization Claims and Ares
Claims). The Maryland Action also alleged violations of Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, due to purported omissions from
our proxy statements in 2014, 2015 and 2016 (the "Proxy Claims"). On September 30, 2017, the defendants moved to dismiss the Maryland Action, and on
July 3, 2018, the Court granted in part and denied in part our and other defendants’ motions to dismiss. The Court dismissed the Proxy Claims, the
Internalization Claims and the Ares Claims. However, the Court did not dismiss the Renewal Claims. On July 18, 2018, the plaintiffs in this action moved to
amend their complaint in an effort to cure the deficiencies identified by the Court in its ruling on the motion to dismiss. On February 6, 2019, the Court
denied in part and granted in part the plaintiffs’ motion to amend their complaint. Specifically, the Court found that the Proxy Claims failed to properly state a
claim and could not be brought, but the Court granted the plaintiffs leave to amend their complaint as to all other claims because the Court found the
allegations sufficient to state claims against the defendants. Following this ruling, the plaintiffs filed a further amended complaint on February 12, 2019, as to
the Renewal Claims, the internalization Claims and the Ares Claims. Defendants' response to this amended complaint is due on February 26, 2019, unless
such date is extended

The plaintiffs in the Derivative Lawsuits demand an unspecified amount of damages, pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, restitution from the
individual defendants, attorneys’ fees and other costs, and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. The plaintiffs in the Maryland Action also seek a
directive that the Company and the individual defendants take certain actions with respect to our corporate governance and procedures. We believe the claims
in the Derivative Lawsuits lack merit, and we expect that the defendants will vigorously defend these cases. See also "Loss Contingencies" in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 
Quarterly Stock Prices and Dividend Declarations
 

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "AGNC." As of January 31, 2019, we had 1,161 stockholders of
record. Most of the shares of our common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders. The following table sets forth the range
of high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market and dividends declared on our common stock for fiscal
years 2018 and 2017:
 

 Common Stock

 Sales Prices  Dividends
Declared 1 High Low  

Fiscal Year 2018     

Fourth Quarter $ 18.76 $ 16.96  $ 0.54

Third Quarter $ 19.72 $ 18.51  $ 0.54

Second Quarter $ 19.26 $ 18.46  $ 0.54

First Quarter $ 20.26 $ 17.84  $ 0.54

Fiscal Year 2017     

Fourth Quarter $ 21.90 $ 19.26  $ 0.54

Third Quarter $ 21.94 $ 20.76  $ 0.54

Second Quarter $ 22.34 $ 19.57  $ 0.54

First Quarter $ 20.02 $ 18.10  $ 0.54
________________________________

1. Represents the sum of monthly dividends declared during each period presented.

We intend to pay dividends monthly to our common stockholders and to continue to qualify for the tax benefits accorded to a REIT under the Internal
Revenue Code. We have not established a minimum dividend payment level and our ability to pay dividends may be adversely affected for the reasons
described under the caption "Risk Factors."

Additionally, holders of depositary shares underlying our 7.750% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock ("Series B Preferred Stock") and
our 7.00% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock ("Series C Preferred Stock") are entitled to receive cumulative cash
dividends before holders of our common stock are entitled to receive any dividends. Holders of depository shares underlying our Series B Preferred Stock are
entitled to receive cumulative cash dividends at a rate of 7.750% per annum of their aggregate liquidation preference of $175 million. Holders of depositary
shares underlying our Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative cash dividends at a rate of 7.00% per annum up to, and including, October
14, 2022 and thereafter at a floating rate equal to three-month LIBOR plus a spread of 5.111% per annum of their aggregate liquidation preference of $325
million. All distributions to stockholders will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our earnings, financial condition,
maintenance of our REIT status and other factors as our Board of Directors may deem relevant from time to time.

The following table summarizes the tax characterization of dividends declared on our common stock for fiscal years 2018 and 2017:

    Tax Characterization

  
Dividends Declared

Per Share of
Common Stock  

Ordinary Income Per
Share  Qualified Dividends  

Long-Term Capital
Gains Per Share

Non-Dividend
Distributions 3

Section 199A Dividend
4

Fiscal Year 2018 1  $ 2.16  $ 1.127208  $ —  $ — $ 1.032792 $ 1.127208

Fiscal Year 2017 2  $ 2.16  $ 0.813744  $ —  $ — $ 1.346256 $ —
________________________________

1. Includes dividends declared during the 12-month period ended November 30, 2018. The dividend of $0.18 per common share declared on December 11, 2018, which was paid on January
9, 2019, will be reported to stockholders as a fiscal year 2019 distribution for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

2. Includes dividends declared during the 11-month period ended November 30, 2017.
3. Also referred to as a "return of capital." Represents dividends paid in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profit, or "E&P," which is a tax-based measure calculated by

adjusting taxable income for items that are treated differently for E&P purposes, such as utilization of net capital loss carryforwards. A return of capital reduces the basis of a
stockholder's investment in our common stock to the extent of such basis and is treated as capital gain thereafter.
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4. Twenty percent of Section 199A dividends may be deducted in computing a U.S. non-corporate investor’s taxable income. The deduction is subject to certain limitations calculated based
on an investor’s taxable ordinary income. For detailed rules regarding the section 199A deduction, stockholders should consult with their tax advisors.

Our stock transfer agent and registrar is Computershare Investor Services. Requests for information from Computershare can be sent to Computershare
Investor Services, P.O. Box 43078, Providence, RI 02940-3078 and their telephone number is 1-800-733-5001.

 Equity Compensation Plan Information
 
The following table summarizes information, as of December 31, 2018, concerning shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under our

equity compensation plans, pursuant to which grants of equity-based awards, namely restricted stock units ("RSUs"), may be granted from time to time. See
"Item 8. Financial Statements" for a description of our equity compensation plans.

Plan Category  

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of

outstanding options,
warrants

and rights 1  

Weighted average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights  

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance

under equity compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected in
the first column of this table) 2

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders  2,010,668  $ —  7,940,875

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders  —  —  —

Total  2,010,668  $ —  7,940,875
________________________________

1. Includes (i) unvested time and performance-based RSU awards (unvested performance-based awards assume the maximum payout under the terms of the award); (ii) outstanding
previously vested awards, if distribution of such awards has been deferred beyond the vesting date; and (iii) accrued dividend equivalent units on items (i) and (ii) through December 31,
2018.

2. Available shares are reduced by items (i), (ii) and (iii) noted above and by shares issued for vested awards, net of units withheld to cover minimum statutory tax withholding requirements
paid by us in cash on behalf of the employee.

Performance Graph
 

The following graph and table compare a stockholder's cumulative total return, assuming $100 invested at December 31, 2013, with the reinvestment of
all dividends, as if such amounts had been invested in: (i) our common stock; (ii) the stocks included in the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index ("S&P 500");
(iii) the stocks included in the FTSE NAREIT Mortgage REIT Index; (iv) an index of selected issuers in our peer group, composed of Annaly Capital
Management, Inc., Anworth Mortgage Asset Corporation, Capstead Mortgage Corporation and Armour Residential REIT, Inc. (collectively, the "Agency
REIT Peer Group").
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________________________________

* $100 invested on 12/31/13 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.
Copyright © 2019 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.

 

  December 31,

  2018  2017  2016  2015  2014

AGNC Investment Corp.  $ 163.31  $ 167.51  $ 135.42  $ 114.57  $ 127.15

S&P 500  $ 150.33  $ 157.22  $ 129.05  $ 115.26  $ 113.69

FTSE NAREIT Mortgage REITs  $ 154.09  $ 158.08  $ 131.96  $ 107.42  $ 117.88

Agency REIT Peer Group 1  $ 159.32  $ 174.03  $ 136.02  $ 113.23  $ 119.10
________________________________

1. Agency REIT Peer Group annual return is calculated on a weighted basis by market cap at the end of the previous year.

 
The information in the share performance graph and table has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but neither its accuracy nor its

completeness can be guaranteed. The historical information set forth above is not necessarily indicative of future performance. Accordingly, we do not make
or endorse any predictions as to future share performance.  
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data is derived from our annual financial statements for the five years ended December 31, 2018. The selected financial
data should be read in conjunction with the more detailed information contained in Item 8. Financial Statements and Item 7. Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

($ in Millions, Except Per Share Amounts)           

Balance Sheet Data  2018  2017  2016  2015  2014

Investment securities, at fair value  $ 84,287  $ 57,080  $ 46,499  $ 52,473  $ 56,748

Total assets  $ 109,241  $ 70,376  $ 56,880  $ 57,021  $ 67,766

Repurchase agreements and other debt  $ 75,992  $ 50,653  $ 41,355  $ 46,102  $ 51,057

Total liabilities  $ 99,335  $ 61,622  $ 49,524  $ 49,050  $ 58,338

Total stockholders' equity  $ 9,906  $ 8,754  $ 7,356  $ 7,971  $ 9,428

Net book value per common share 1  $ 17.54  $ 21.09  $ 21.17  $ 22.59  $ 25.74

Tangible net book value per common share 2  $ 16.56  $ 19.69  $ 19.50  N/A  N/A

  Fiscal Year

Statement of Comprehensive Income Data  2018  2017  2016  2015  2014

Interest income  $ 1,949  $ 1,293  $ 1,321  $ 1,466  $ 1,472

Interest expense  1,173  524  394  330  372

Net interest income  776  769  927  1,136  1,100

Other gain (loss), net  (547)  75  (199)  (782)  (1,192)

Operating expenses  100  73  105  139  141

Net income  129  771  623  215  (233)

Dividend on preferred stock  36  32  28  28  23

Issuance costs of redeemed preferred stock  —  6  —  —  —

Net income available to common stockholders  $ 93  $ 733  $ 595  $ 187  $ (256)

           

Net income  $ 129  $ 771  $ 623  $ 215  $ (233)

Other comprehensive income (loss)  (598)  52  (331)  (496)  1,813

Comprehensive income (loss)  (469)  823  292  (281)  1,580

Dividend on preferred stock  36  32  28  28  23

Issuance costs of redeemed preferred stock  —  6  —  —  —

Comprehensive income (loss) available (attributable) to common stockholders  $ (505)  $ 785  $ 264  $ (309)  $ 1,557

           

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic  441.1  358.6  331.9  348.6  353.3

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted  441.4  358.7  331.9  348.6  353.3

Net income per common share - basic  $ 0.21  $ 2.04  $ 1.79  $ 0.54  $ (0.72)

Net income per common share - diluted  $ 0.21  $ 2.04  $ 1.79  $ 0.54  $ (0.72)

Comprehensive income (loss) per common share - basic and diluted  $ (1.14)  $ 2.19  $ 0.80  $ (0.89)  $ 4.41

Dividends declared per common share  $ 2.16  $ 2.16  $ 2.30  $ 2.48  $ 2.61
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  Fiscal Year

Other Data (Unaudited) *  2018  2017  2016  2015  2014

Average investment securities - at par  $60,733  $45,198  $47,101  $51,759  $53,578

Average investment securities - at cost  $63,348  $47,330  $49,268  $54,019  $56,051

Net TBA dollar roll position - at par (as of period end)  $7,152  $15,474  $10,916  $7,295  $14,412

Net TBA dollar roll position - at cost (as of period end)  $7,252  $15,739  $11,312  $7,430  $14,576

Net TBA dollar roll position - at market value (as of period end)  $7,322  $15,742  $11,165  $7,444  $14,768

Net TBA dollar roll position - at carrying value (as of period end) 3  $70  $3  $(147)  $14  $192

Average net TBA portfolio - at cost  $14,697  $16,859  $10,329  $7,547  $13,212

Average total assets - at fair value  $79,094  $58,727  $56,931  $63,674  $67,007

Average Agency repurchase agreements and other debt outstanding 4  $55,592  $41,942  $44,566  $48,641  $50,015

Average stockholders' equity 5  $9,050  $7,933  $7,718  $8,817  $9,295

Average tangible net book value "at risk" leverage 6  8.3:1  8.0:1  7.5:1  6.4:1  7.0:1

Tangible net book value "at risk" leverage (as of period end) 7  9.0:1  8.1:1  7.7:1  6.8:1  6.9:1

Economic return on tangible common equity 8  (4.9)%  12.1%  3.9%  (2.6)%  18.5%

Expenses % of average total assets 9  0.09 %  0.12%  0.17%  0.22 %  0.21%

Expenses % of average assets, including average net TBA position 9  0.08 %  0.09%  0.14%  0.20 %  0.18%

Expenses % of average stockholders' equity 9  0.81 %  0.92%  1.24%  1.58 %  1.52%
________________________________

* Except as noted below, average numbers for each period are weighted based on days on our books and records.
1. Net book value per common share is calculated as total stockholders' equity, less preferred stock liquidation preference, divided by number of common shares outstanding as of period

end.
2. Tangible net book value per common share excludes goodwill and other intangible assets, net.
3. The carrying value of our net TBA position represents the difference between the market value and the cost basis of the TBA contract as of period-end and is reported in derivative

assets/(liabilities), at fair value on our accompanying consolidated balances sheets.
4. Other debt includes debt of consolidated VIEs. Amount excludes U.S. Treasury repo agreements and TBA contracts.
5. Average stockholders' equity calculated as average month-ended stockholders' equity during the period.
6. Average tangible net book value "at risk" leverage is calculated by dividing the sum of daily weighted average mortgage borrowings outstanding (Agency repo, other debt and TBA

securities (at cost)) for the period by the sum of average stockholders' equity less average investment in REIT equity securities, goodwill and other intangible asset, net for the
period. Leverage excludes U.S. Treasury repurchase agreements.

7. "At risk" leverage as of period end is calculated by dividing the sum of mortgage borrowings outstanding and receivable/payable for unsettled investment securities as of period end (at
cost) by the sum of total stockholders' equity less the fair value of investments in REIT equity securities, goodwill and other intangible asset, net at period end. Leverage excludes
U.S. Treasury repurchase agreements.

8. Economic return on tangible common equity, for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, represents the sum of the change in tangible net book value per common share and dividends declared on
common stock during the period over beginning tangible net book value per common share. For fiscal years prior to 2017, amounts represent the sum of the change in net book
value per common share and dividends declared on common stock during the period over beginning net book value per common share.

9. Expenses for fiscal year 2018 have been adjusted to exclude $27 million of non-recurring expenses associated with the sale of MTGE Investment Corp. and corresponding termination
MTGE's management agreement, including the write-off of the MTGE management agreement intangible asset and other miscellaneous expenses. Expenses for fiscal year 2016
have been adjusted to exclude non-recurring expenses of $9 million associated with our acquisition of AMM.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") is designed to provide a reader of our

consolidated financial statements with a narrative from the perspective of management, and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our MD&A is presented in eight sections:

• Executive Overview
• Financial Condition
• Summary of Critical Accounting Estimates
• Results of Operations
• Liquidity and Capital Resources
• Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
• Aggregate Contractual Obligations
• Forward-Looking Statements
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EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

We are an internally-managed REIT. We commenced operations on May 20, 2008 following the completion of our initial public offering. Our common
stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "AGNC."

As a REIT, we are required to distribute annually 90% of our taxable income. As a REIT, we will generally not be subject to U.S. federal or state
corporate taxes on our taxable income to the extent that we distribute all our annual taxable income to our stockholders on a timely basis. It is our intention to
distribute 100% of our taxable income within the time limits prescribed by the Internal Revenue Code, which may extend into the subsequent taxable year.

We invest primarily in Agency RMBS on a leveraged basis. These investments consist of residential mortgage pass-through securities and collateralized
mortgage obligations for which the principal and interest payments are guaranteed by a U.S. Government-sponsored enterprise, such as Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac, or by a U.S. Government agency, such as Ginnie Mae. We may also invest in other types of mortgage and mortgage-related residential and
commercial mortgage-backed securities where repayment of principal and interest is not guaranteed by a GSE or U.S. Government agency or in other
investments in, or related to, the housing, mortgage or real estate markets.

Our principal objective is to provide our stockholders with attractive risk-adjusted returns through a combination of monthly dividends and tangible net
book value accretion. We generate income from the interest earned on our investments, net of associated borrowing and hedging costs, and net realized gains
and losses on our investment and hedging activities. We fund our investments primarily through borrowings structured as repurchase agreements.

The size and composition of our investment portfolio depends on the investment strategies we implement, availability of attractively priced investments,
suitable financing to appropriately leverage our investment portfolio and overall market conditions. Market conditions are influenced by a variety of factors,
including interest rates, prepayment expectations, liquidity, housing prices, unemployment rates, general economic conditions, government participation in
the mortgage market, regulations and relative returns on other assets.

Trends and Recent Market Impacts

Fiscal year 2018 was marked by increased market volatility, higher interest rates, a flattening yield curve and dramatic swings in investor sentiment. For
much of the year, a strong U.S. economy drove U.S. stocks and Treasury yields higher, with the 10-year U.S. Treasury note yield peaking at 3.24% in early
November 2018, before moving sharply lower to close the year at 2.69%, 28 basis points higher than the level at the start of the year. After reaching market
highs in September 2018, U.S. equities declined significantly during the fourth quarter, suffering their worst quarterly loss since the height of the financial
crisis nearly 10 years ago, as concerns over trade tensions, tightening monetary policy, weakening global growth and a deteriorating earnings outlook took
center stage.

During fiscal year 2018, the Fed continued to tighten monetary policy, increasing the federal funds rate four times and continuing its balance sheet
reduction of U.S. Treasury securities and Agency RMBS. The increase in short-term interest rates outpaced the move in longer-term yields and led to a
significant flattening of the yield curve, with the spread between two and 10-year U.S. Treasury notes narrowing to 20 basis points by year-end. The
combination of increased market volatility, higher rate expectations, and the flattening yield curve drove Agency RMBS spreads to benchmark interest rates
materially wider and was the primary driver of our $3.13 per common share, of 15.9%, decline in tangible net book value during the year. Our economic
return for the year was negative 4.9%, which includes both the decline in our net book value and dividends paid of $2.16 per common share.

Although wider spreads negatively impacted our tangible net book value, it also significantly enhanced the expected return on Agency RMBS. As a
result, we opportunistically raised approximately $2.6 billion of accretive new equity capital during the year and increased our operating leverage
predominately during the fourth quarter. Looking ahead, we believe inflation will remain contained at or near the Fed’s 2% target and U.S. growth is likely to
slow, prompting the Fed to stop or significantly slow the pace of future rate increases. With the Fed’s hiking cycle likely near its end and Agency RMBS
spreads materially wider than a year ago, expected levered returns on Agency RMBS have improved and compare very favorably to other fixed income
products. Consequently, we anticipate that we will continue to operate with moderately higher leverage to take advantage of this enhanced return
environment.

Our investment portfolio totaled $91.6 billion, inclusive of TBA securities, as of December 31, 2018, compared to $72.8 billion as of December 31,
2017. Our "at risk" leverage ratio was 9.0x our tangible equity as of December 31, 2018, up from 8.1x as of December 31, 2017 and up from our average
tangible “at risk” leverage of 8.3x for fiscal year 2018.
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To mitigate the impact of higher interest rates, we maintained an elevated interest rate hedge position during fiscal year 2018, with our interest rate
hedge position totaling 94% and 97% of our funding liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Our hedges are not designed to protect our
net book value against wider Agency RMBS spreads or to fully insulate our portfolio from changes in interest rates. Consequently, changes in interest rates
and/or wider mortgage spreads can adversely impact our tangible net book value. For information regarding our interest rate and spread sensitivity please
refer to Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk of this Form 10-K.

The cost of our repurchase agreement funding increased largely in line with the increase in the fed funds rate and averaged 2.11% for the year, compared
to 1.25% for fiscal year 2017. Our total cost of funds, which includes the cost of our repurchase agreements, the implied funding costs of our TBA securities
and our interest rate swap hedges, increased by 45 basis points to an average of 1.84% for fiscal year 2018. Our average asset yield, including the implied
yield on our TBA assets and excluding "catch-up" premium amortization associated with changes in our CPR forecast, increased 27 basis points to 3.11% for
2018, from 2.84% for 2017, as we increased our holdings of higher coupon, 30-year fixed rate securities. As of the December 31, 2018, 30 year-fixed rate
Agency RMBS, including TBA securities, represented 84% of our investment portfolio, compared to77% as of December 31, 2017. Our net interest spread,
which represents the difference between our asset yield and our cost of funds, was 1.27% for the year, compared to 1.45% for 2017.

Market Information

The following table summarizes interest rates and prices of generic fixed rate Agency RMBS as of each date presented below:

Interest Rate/Security Price 1  
Dec. 31,

2017  
Mar. 31,

2018  
June 30,

2018  
Sept. 30,

2018  
Dec. 31,

2018  
Dec. 31, 2018

vs
Dec. 31, 2017

LIBOR:              

1-Month  1.56%  1.88%  2.09%  2.26%  2.50%  +0.94 bps

3-Month  1.69%  2.31%  2.34%  2.40%  2.81%  +1.12 bps

U.S. Treasury Security Rate:              

2-Year U.S. Treasury  1.89%  2.27%  2.53%  2.82%  2.49%  +0.60 bps

5-Year U.S. Treasury  2.21%  2.57%  2.73%  2.95%  2.51%  +0.30 bps

10-Year U.S. Treasury  2.41%  2.74%  2.85%  3.06%  2.69%  +0.28 bps

30-Year U.S. Treasury  2.74%  2.97%  2.98%  3.20%  3.02%  +0.28 bps

Interest Rate Swap Rate:              

2-Year Swap  2.08%  2.58%  2.79%  2.99%  2.67%  +0.59 bps

5-Year Swap  2.24%  2.71%  2.88%  3.07%  2.58%  +0.34 bps

10-Year Swap  2.40%  2.78%  2.93%  3.12%  2.72%  +0.32 bps

30-Year Swap  2.53%  2.82%  2.93%  3.13%  2.85%  +0.32 bps

30-Year Fixed Rate Agency Price:              

3.0%  $100.02  $97.52  $96.86  $95.67  $97.54  -$2.48

3.5%  $102.70  $100.20  $99.52  $98.41  $99.95  -$2.75

4.0%  $104.59  $102.61  $101.96  $100.97  $101.94  -$2.65

4.5%  $106.40  $104.70  $104.13  $103.16  $103.53  -$2.87

15-Year Fixed Rate Agency Price:              

2.5%  $99.88  $97.98  $97.22  $96.47  $97.70  -$2.18

3.0%  $101.88  $99.88  $99.41  $98.77  $99.80  -$2.08

3.5%  $103.23  $101.94  $101.16  $100.51  $101.23  -$2.00

4.0%  $102.72  $102.63  $102.58  $101.98  $102.34  -$0.38
________________________________

1. Price information is for generic instruments only and is not reflective of our specific portfolio holdings. Price information is as of 3:00 p.m. (EST) on such date and can vary by source.
Prices and interest rates in the table above were obtained from Barclays. LIBOR rates were obtained from Bloomberg.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our investment portfolio consisted of $84.3 billion and $57.1 billion of investment securities, at fair value,
respectively, and $7.3 billion and $15.7 billion of TBA securities, at fair value, respectively. The following table is a summary of our investment portfolio as
of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (dollars in millions):

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Investment Portfolio (Includes TBAs) 1  
Amortized

Cost  Fair Value  
Average
Coupon  %  

Amortized
Cost  Fair Value  

Average
Coupon  %

Fixed rate Agency RMBS and TBA securities:                 

 ≤ 15-year:                 

 ≤ 15-year RMBS  $ 7,386  $ 7,294  3.30%  8%  $ 8,951  $ 8,933  3.31%  12%

15-year TBA securities  3,635  3,673  3.61%  4%  5,025  5,015  2.90%  7%

Total ≤ 15-year  11,021  10,967  3.40%  12%  13,976  13,948  3.16%  19%

20-year RMBS  778  774  3.95%  1%  673  687  3.48%  1%

30-year:                 

30-year RMBS  74,883  73,685  3.87%  80%  45,853  45,406  3.72%  62%

30-year TBA securities  3,617  3,649  4.47%  4%  10,714  10,727  3.40%  15%

Total 30-year  78,500  77,334  3.90%  84%  56,567  56,133  3.65%  77%

Total fixed rate Agency RMBS and TBA securities  90,299  89,075  3.84%  97%  71,216  70,768  3.55%  97%

Adjustable rate Agency RMBS  212  213  3.10%  —%  278  283  2.90%  1%

CMO Agency RMBS:                 

CMO  588  583  3.46%  1%  629  631  3.43%  1%

Interest-only strips  77  84  3.61%  —%  101  112  4.39%  —%

Principal-only strips  95  94  —%  —%  112  116  —%  —%

Total CMO Agency RMBS  760  761  3.21%  1%  842  859  3.58%  1%

Total Agency RMBS and TBA securities  91,271  90,049  3.83%  98%  72,336  71,910  3.55%  99%

Non-Agency RMBS  264  266  3.83%  1%  7  7  2.50%  —%

CMBS  280  282  4.58%  —%  28  29  6.55%  —%

CRT  1,006  1,012  5.86%  1%  834  876  5.26%  —%

Total investment portfolio  $ 92,821  $ 91,609  3.85%  100%  $ 73,205  $ 72,822  3.57%  100%
________________________________

1. TBA securities are presented net of long and short positions. For further details of our TBA securities refer to Note 6 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

TBA securities are recorded as derivative instruments in our accompanying consolidated financial statements and our TBA dollar roll transactions
represent a form of off-balance sheet financing. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our TBA positions had a net carrying value of $70 million and $3
million, respectively, reported in derivative assets /(liabilities) on our accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The net carrying value represents the
difference between the fair value of the underlying Agency security in the TBA contract and the contract price to be paid or received for the underlying
Agency security.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the weighted average yield on our investment securities (excluding TBA securities) was 3.31% and 2.89%,
respectively.
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The following tables summarize certain characteristics of our fixed rate Agency RMBS portfolio, inclusive of TBAs, as of December 31, 2018 and
2017 (dollars in millions):

  December 31, 2018

  Includes Net TBA Position  Excludes Net TBA Position

Fixed Rate Agency RMBS and TBA
Securities  Par Value  

Amortized
Cost  Fair Value  

% Lower
Loan Balance
& HARP 1,2  

Amortized
Cost Basis

 Weighted Average

 
Projected

Life
CPR 4 WAC 3  Yield 4  Age (Months)

Fixed rate                   

 ≤ 15-year                   

2.5%  $ 1,157  $ 1,170  $ 1,139  68%  101.2%  2.98%  2.11%  74  9%

3.0%  2,651  2,677  2,650  58%  101.7%  3.51%  2.44%  56  9%

3.5%  4,444  4,498  4,502  41%  101.9%  4.07%  2.96%  25  10%

4.0%  2,449  2,507  2,509  34%  103.5%  4.47%  2.96%  44  10%

4.5%  160  167  165  98%  104.0%  4.87%  3.01%  99  11%

≥ 5.0%  2  2  2  27%  102.4%  6.55%  4.57%  134  14%

Total ≤ 15-year  10,863  11,021  10,967  47%  102.0%  3.82%  2.68%  46  10%

20-year                   

3.5%  314  320  318  74%  102.0%  4.05%  3.00%  70  10%

4.0%  206  214  213  88%  103.4%  4.45%  3.28%  24  10%

4.5%  230  242  241  92%  105.2%  5.00%  3.35%  25  11%

≥ 5.0%  2  2  2  —%  105.7%  5.94%  3.34%  128  16%

Total 20-year:  752  778  774  84%  103.4%  4.46%  3.19%  44  11%

30-year:                   

3.0%  3,178  3,133  3,108  3%  100.1%  3.58%  2.97%  47  6%

3.5%  22,410  23,258  22,496  58%  103.2%  4.06%  3.05%  38  6%

4.0%  37,230  38,564  38,147  48%  103.8%  4.54%  3.44%  24  8%

4.5%  12,777  13,319  13,361  61%  104.7%  4.99%  3.75%  14  9%

5.0%  133  143  142  106%  106.8%  5.53%  3.80%  61  9%

≥ 5.5%  75  83  80  36%  110.5%  6.17%  3.35%  147  12%

Total 30-year  75,803  78,500  77,334  52%  103.6%  4.41%  3.34%  28  8%

Total fixed rate  $ 87,418  $ 90,299  $ 89,075  51%  103.5%  4.36%  3.28%  30  8%
________________________________

1. Lower loan balance securities represent pools backed by an original loan balance of ≤ $150,000. Our lower loan balance securities had a weighted average original loan balance of
$102,000 and $113,000 for 15-year and 30-year securities, respectively, as of December 31, 2018.

2. HARP securities are defined as pools backed by 100% refinance loans with LTV ≥ 80%. Our HARP securities had a weighted average LTV of 119% and 136% for 15-year and 30-year
securities, respectively, as of December 31, 2018.

3. WAC represents the weighted average coupon of the underlying collateral.
4. Portfolio yield incorporates a projected life CPR assumption based on forward rate assumptions as of December 31, 2018.
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  December 31, 2017

  Includes Net TBA Position  Excludes Net TBA Position

Fixed Rate Agency RMBS and TBA
Securities  Par Value  

Amortized
Cost  Fair Value  

% Lower
Loan Balance
& HARP 1,2  

Amortized
Cost Basis

 Weighted Average

 
Projected

Life
CPR 4 WAC 3  Yield 4  Age (Months)

Fixed rate                   

 ≤ 15-year                   

 ≤ 2.5%  $ 3,041  $ 3,061  $ 3,046  32%  101.2%  2.98%  2.13%  63  9%

3.0%  5,616  5,749  5,724  33%  102.8%  3.49%  2.18%  62  10%

3.5%  2,710  2,804  2,804  75%  103.5%  3.96%  2.42%  69  11%

4.0%  2,054  2,134  2,145  89%  103.9%  4.40%  2.68%  84  11%

4.5%  215  224  225  98%  104.3%  4.87%  3.01%  88  12%

≥ 5.0%  4  4  4  17%  102.8%  6.56%  4.47%  125  44%

Total ≤ 15-year  13,640  13,976  13,948  51%  103.0%  3.77%  2.38%  70  10%

20-year                   

 ≤ 3.0%  195  193  198  31%  99.4%  3.55%  3.10%  55  9%

3.5%  365  373  380  75%  102.1%  4.05%  3.00%  58  11%

4.0%  45  47  48  51%  104.2%  4.54%  2.96%  76  11%

4.5%  55  58  59  99%  106.5%  4.90%  2.95%  85  11%

≥ 5.0%  2  2  2  —%  106.0%  5.95%  3.32%  116  17%

Total 20-year:  662  673  687  62%  101.8%  4.02%  3.02%  61  10%

30-year:                   

 ≤ 3.0%  7,583  7,576  7,592  1%  100.2%  3.58%  2.96%  43  6%

3.5%  24,045  25,072  24,800  56%  104.6%  4.04%  2.84%  35  7%

4.0%  21,015  22,348  22,166  64%  106.5%  4.47%  2.99%  29  9%

4.5%  1,271  1,366  1,369  71%  107.4%  4.98%  3.18%  62  10%

5.0%  97  103  104  65%  106.6%  5.45%  3.69%  116  10%

≥ 5.5%  92  102  102  36%  110.0%  6.18%  3.34%  135  14%

Total 30-year  54,103  56,567  56,133  52%  105.2%  4.23%  2.93%  34  8%

Total fixed rate  $ 68,405  $ 71,216  $ 70,768  52%  104.8%  4.15%  2.84%  40  8%
________________________________

1. Lower loan balance securities represent pools backed by an original loan balance of ≤ $150,000. Our lower loan balance securities had a weighted average original loan balance of
$97,000 and $109,000 for 15-year and 30-year securities, respectively, as of December 31, 2017.

2. HARP securities are defined as pools backed by 100% refinance loans with LTVs ≥ 80%. Our HARP securities had a weighted average LTV of 114% and 136% for 15-year and 30-year
securities, respectively, as of December 31, 2017.

3. WAC represents the weighted average coupon of the underlying collateral.
4. Portfolio yield incorporates a projected life CPR assumption based on forward rate assumptions as of December 31, 2017.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our investments in CRT and non-Agency securities had the following credit ratings:

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

CRT and Non-Agency Security Credit Ratings 1  CRT  RMBS  CMBS  CRT  RMBS  CMBS

AAA  $ —  $ 160  $ 52  $ —  $ 7  $ —

AA  —  17  152  —  —  —

A  17  33  15  1  —  —

BBB  25  43  53  34  —  29

BB  492  8  10  370  —  —

B  453  2  —  455  —  —

Not Rated  25  3  —  16  —  —

Total  $ 1,012  $ 266  $ 282  $ 876  $ 7  $ 29
 ________________________________

1. Represents the lowest of Standard and Poor's ("S&P"), Moody's, Fitch, DBRS, Kroll Bond Rating Agency ("KBRA") and Morningstar credit ratings, stated in terms of the S&P
equivalent rating as of each date.

Our CRT securities reference the performance of loans underlying Agency RMBS issued by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, which were subject to their
underwriting standards. As of December 31, 2018, our CRT securities had floating and fixed rate coupons ranging from 3.9% to 9.5%, referenced to loans
originated between 2011 and 2018 with weighted average coupons ranging
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from 3.8% to 4.8%. As of 2017, our CRT securities had floating rate coupons ranging from 3.9% to 8.5%, referenced to loans originated between 2012 and
2017 with weighted average coupons ranging from 3.6% to 4.4%.

SUMMARY OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our critical accounting estimates relate to the recognition of interest income and the fair value of our investments and derivatives. Certain of these items
involve estimates that require management to make judgments that are subjective in nature. We rely on our experience and analysis of historical and current
market data to arrive at what we believe to be reasonable estimates. Under different conditions, we could report materially different amounts based on such
estimates. The remainder of our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included under Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Interest Income

The effective yield on our Agency RMBS and non-Agency securities of high credit quality is highly impacted by our estimate of future prepayments.
We accrue interest income based on the outstanding principal amount and their contractual terms and we amortize or accrete premiums and discounts
associated with our purchase of these securities into interest income over their projected lives, taking into account scheduled contractual payments and
estimated prepayments, using the interest method. The weighted average cost basis of our securities as of December 31, 2018 was 103.5% of par value;
therefore, faster actual or projected prepayments could significantly reduce the yield on our assets.

Future prepayment rates are difficult to predict, and we rely on a third-party service provider and our experience and analysis of historical and current
market data to arrive at what we believe to be reasonable estimates. Our third-party service provider estimates prepayment speeds using models that
incorporate the forward yield curve, current mortgage rates, mortgage rates on the outstanding loans, age and size of the outstanding loans, loan-to-value
ratios, interest rate volatility and other factors. We review the prepayment speeds estimated and compare the results to market consensus prepayment speeds,
if available. We also consider historical prepayment speeds and current market conditions to validate the reasonableness of the third-party estimates and,
based on our judgment, we may adjust the estimates.

We review our actual and anticipated prepayment experience on at least a quarterly basis and effective yields are recalculated when differences arise
between (i) our previously estimated future prepayments and (ii) actual prepayments to date and current estimated future prepayments. If the actual and
estimated future prepayment experience differs from our prior estimate of prepayments, we are required to record an adjustment in the current period to the
amortization or accretion of premiums and discounts for the cumulative difference in the effective yield through the reporting date.

The most significant factor impacting prepayment rates on our securities is changes to long-term interest rates. Prepayment rates generally increase
when interest rates fall and decrease when interest rates rise. However, there are a variety of other factors that may impact the rate of prepayments on our
securities. Consequently, under different conditions, we could report materially different amounts. Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk in this Form 10-K includes the estimated change in our net interest income should interest rates instantaneously go up or down by 50 and 100
basis points.

At the time we purchase non-Agency securities that are not of high credit quality, we determine an effective interest rate based on our estimate of the
timing and amount of cash flows and our cost basis. On at least a quarterly basis, we review the estimated cash flows and make appropriate adjustments,
based on input and analysis received from external sources, internal models, and our judgment about interest rates, prepayment rates, timing and amount of
estimated credit losses, and other factors. Any resulting changes in effective yield are recognized prospectively based on the current amortized cost of the
investment as adjusted for credit impairment, if any.

Fair Value of Investment Securities

We estimate the fair value of our investment securities based on prices provided by multiple third-party pricing services and non-binding dealer quotes
(collectively "pricing sources"). These pricing sources use various valuation approaches, including market and income approaches, using "Level 2" inputs
based on quoted prices for similar securities in active markets and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers
are observable. The pricing sources primarily utilize a matrix pricing technique that interpolates the estimated fair value of our Agency RMBS based on
observed quoted prices for forward contracts in the Agency RMBS TBA market of the same coupon, maturity and issuer, adjusted to reflect the specific
characteristics of the pool of mortgages underlying the Agency security, which may include maximum loan balance, loan vintage, loan-to-value ratio,
geography and other characteristics as may be appropriate. The pricing sources may also utilize discounted cash flow model-derived pricing techniques to
estimate the fair value of investment securities, which incorporate market-based discount rate assumptions based on observable inputs such as recent trading
activity, credit data, volatility statistics, benchmark interest rate curves and other market data that are current as of the measurement date and may include
certain unobservable inputs,
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such as assumptions of future levels of prepayment, defaults and loss severities. We attempt to validate these quotes by comparing them to our recent
completed transactions involving the same or similar securities on or near the reporting date. Changes in the market environment and other events that may
occur over the life of our investments may cause the gains or losses ultimately realized on these investments to be different from the valuations currently
estimated.

At the time we purchase a security, we either designate it as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale or trading, depending on our ability and intent to hold
such security to maturity. Alternatively, we may make an irrevocable election to apply the fair value option of accounting for the security. Since we actively
manage our portfolio and may sell securities prior to maturity, we have not designated any of our securities as held-to-maturity. Consequently, all our
securities are reported at fair value in our consolidated financial statements as they have either been designated as available-for-sale or trading or we have
elected the fair value option of accounting. Unrealized gains and losses on securities classified as available-for-sale are reported in accumulated OCI.
Unrealized gains and losses on securities classified as trading or for which we elected the fair value option are reported in net income through other gain
(loss) during the period in which they occur. Prior to fiscal year 2017, we primarily designated our investment securities as available-for-sale. On January 1,
2017, we began electing the fair value option of accounting for all investment securities acquired after fiscal year 2016. In our view, this election simplifies
the accounting for investment securities and more appropriately reflects the results of our operations for a reporting period, as the fair value changes for these
assets are presented in a manner consistent with the presentation and timing of the fair value changes of our hedging instruments. As of December 31, 2018,
we had elected the fair value option for 72% of our investment securities. The remaining 28% of our securities were designated as available-for-sale securities
and consisted almost entirely of Agency RMBS.

We evaluate securities classified as available-for-sale for other-than-temporary impairment ("OTTI") on at least a quarterly basis. The determination of
whether a security is other-than-temporarily impaired may involve judgments and assumptions based on subjective and objective factors. When a security is
impaired, an OTTI is considered to have occurred if any one of the following three conditions exists as of the financial reporting date: (i) we intend to sell the
security (that is, a decision has been made to sell the security), (ii) it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security before recovery of its
amortized cost basis or (iii) we do not expect to recover the security's amortized cost basis, even if we do not intend to sell the security and it is not more
likely than not that we will be required to sell the security. If either of the first two conditions exists as of the financial reporting date, the entire amount of the
impairment loss, if any, is recognized in earnings as a realized loss and the cost basis of the security is adjusted to its fair value. If the third condition exists,
the OTTI is separated into (i) the amount relating to credit loss (the "credit component") and (ii) the amount relating to all other factors (the "non-credit
components"). Only the credit component is recognized in earnings, with the non-credit components recognized in OCI. A general allowance for unidentified
impairments in a portfolio of securities is not permitted.

In evaluating whether our available-for-sale securities are other-than-temporarily impaired, we consider the liquidity of the Agency securities market,
which allows us to obtain competitive bids and execute on sale transactions typically within a day or two of deciding to sell a security, such that we generally
do not decide to sell specific securities until shortly prior to initiating the sale. We also consider the size of our available-for-sale portfolio relative to other
liquid and/or unencumbered assets available to meet margin calls and other liquidity needs, and we take into account that Agency RMBS, as a function of
their GSE or U.S. Government agency guarantee, do not have a measurable credit component.

Derivative Financial Instruments/Hedging Activity

We use a variety of derivative instruments to hedge a portion of our exposure to market risks, including interest rate, prepayment, extension and
liquidity risks. The objective of our risk management strategy is to reduce fluctuations in net book value over a range of interest rate scenarios. In particular,
we attempt to mitigate the risk of the cost of our variable rate liabilities increasing during a period of rising interest rates. The primary instruments that we use
are interest rate swaps, swaptions, U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. Treasury futures contracts. We also use TBA contracts for the forward purchase or sale of
Agency RMBS.

We recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets, measured at fair value. We do not designate our
derivative instruments as hedges for GAAP accounting purposes; therefore, all changes in their fair value are reported in earnings in our consolidated
statements of comprehensive income in gain (loss) on derivatives and other securities, net during the period in which they occur.     

The use of derivatives creates exposure to credit risk relating to potential losses that could be recognized if the counterparties to these instruments fail to
perform their obligations under the contracts. We attempt to minimize this risk by limiting our counterparties to major financial institutions with acceptable
credit ratings, monitoring positions with individual counterparties and adjusting posted collateral as required.

We estimate the fair value of our derivative instruments using "Level 1" inputs from unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets
or "Level 2" inputs from third-party pricing services, non-binding dealer quotes and/or daily settlement
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prices from central clearing exchanges, which are derived from common market pricing methods. In considering the effect of nonperformance risk on our
estimate of fair value, we consider the impact of netting and credit enhancements, such as collateral postings and guarantees, and have concluded that neither
our own nor our counterparty risk is significant to the overall valuation of these agreements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to the results presented in accordance with GAAP, our results of operations discussed below include certain non-GAAP financial
information, including "economic interest income," "economic interest expense," "net spread and dollar roll income," "net spread and dollar roll income,
excluding 'catch-up' premium amortization," "estimated taxable income" and the related per common share measures and certain financial metrics derived
from such non-GAAP information, such as "cost of funds" and "net interest spread."

"Economic interest income" is measured as interest income (GAAP measure), adjusted (i) to exclude "catch-up" premium amortization associated with
changes in CPR estimates and (ii) to include TBA dollar roll implied interest income. "Economic interest expense" is measured as interest expense (GAAP
measure) adjusted to include TBA dollar roll implied interest expense and interest rate swap periodic income/(cost). "Net spread and dollar roll income,
excluding "catch-up" premium amortization" includes (i) the components of economic interest income and economic interest expense and dividends on REIT
equity securities (referred to as "adjusted net interest and dollar roll income"), less (ii) total operating expenses (GAAP measure), net of management fee
income (GAAP measure), adjusted to exclude one-time, non-recurring income and expenses.

By providing such measures, in addition to the related GAAP measures, we believe we give greater transparency into the information used by our
management in its financial and operational decision-making. We also believe it is important for users of our financial information to consider information
related to our current financial performance without the effects of certain measures and one-time events that are not necessarily indicative of our current
investment portfolio performance and operations.

Specifically, in the case of "adjusted net interest and dollar roll income," we believe the inclusion of TBA dollar roll income is meaningful as TBAs,
which are accounted for under GAAP as derivative instruments with gains and losses recognized in other gain (loss) in our consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, are economically equivalent to holding and financing generic Agency RMBS using short-term repurchase agreements. Similarly, we
believe that the inclusion of periodic interest rate swap settlements in "economic interest expense" is meaningful as interest rate swaps are the primary
instrument we use to economically hedge against fluctuations in our borrowing costs and it is more indicative of our total cost of funds than interest expense
alone. In the case of "economic interest income" and "net spread and dollar roll income, excluding 'catch-up' premium amortization," we believe the exclusion
of "catch-up" adjustments to premium amortization cost or benefit is meaningful as it excludes the cumulative effect from prior reporting periods due to
current changes in future prepayment expectations and, therefore, exclusion of such cost or benefit is more indicative of the current earnings potential of our
investment portfolio. In the case of estimated taxable income, we believe it is meaningful information because it directly relates to the amount of dividends
we are required to distribute to maintain our REIT qualification status.

However, because such measures are incomplete measures of our financial performance and involve differences from results computed in accordance
with GAAP, they should be considered as supplementary to, and not as a substitute for, results computed in accordance with GAAP. In addition, because not
all companies use identical calculations, our presentation of such non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to other similarly-titled measures of other
companies. Furthermore, estimated taxable income can include certain information that is subject to potential adjustments up to the time of filing our income
tax returns, which occurs after the end of our fiscal year.
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Economic Interest Income and Asset Yields

The following table summarizes our economic interest income (a non-GAAP measure) for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, which includes the
combination of interest income (a GAAP measure) on our holdings reported as investment securities on our consolidated balance sheets, adjusted to exclude
estimated "catch-up" premium amortization adjustments due to changes in our CPR forecast, and implied interest income on our TBA securities (dollars in
millions):

 Fiscal Year 2018  Fiscal Year 2017  Fiscal Year 2016

 Amount  Yield  Amount  Yield  Amount  Yield

Interest income:            

Cash/coupon interest income $ 2,280  3.75 %  $ 1,671  3.70 %  $ 1,721  3.64 %

Net premium amortization (331)  (0.67)%  (378)  (0.97)%  (400)  (0.96)%

Interest income (GAAP measure) 1,949  3.08 %  1,293  2.73 %  1,321  2.68 %

Estimated "catch-up" premium amortization (benefit) cost due to change in CPR forecast (23)  (0.04)%  37  0.08 %  10  0.02 %

Interest income, excluding "catch-up" premium amortization 1,926  3.04 %  1,330  2.81 %  1,331  2.70 %

TBA dollar roll income - implied interest income 1,2 500  3.40 %  493  2.92 %  264  2.56 %

Economic interest income, excluding "catch-up" amortization (non-GAAP measure) 3 $ 2,426  3.11 %  $ 1,823  2.84 %  $ 1,595  2.68 %

            

Weighted average actual portfolio CPR for investment securities held during the period 8.7%    10.9%    12.3%   
Weighted average projected CPR for the remaining life of investment securities held as of
period end 7.9%    8.4%    8.0%   

Average 30-year fixed rate mortgage rate as of period end 4 4.55%    3.99%    4.32%   

10-year U.S. Treasury rate as of period end 2.69%    2.41%    2.43%   
  ________________________________

1. Reported in gain (loss) on derivatives instruments and other securities, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
2. Implied interest income from TBA dollar roll transactions is computed as the sum of (i) TBA dollar roll income and (ii) estimated TBA implied funding cost (see Economic Interest

Expense and Aggregate Cost of Funds below). TBA dollar roll income represents the price differential, or "price drop," between the TBA price for current month settlement versus the
TBA price for forward month settlement and is the economic equivalent to interest income on the underlying Agency securities, less an implied funding cost, over the forward settlement
period. Amount is net of TBAs used for hedging purposes. Amount excludes TBA mark-to-market adjustments.

3. The combined asset yield is calculated on a weighted average basis based on our average investment and TBA balances outstanding during the period and their respective yields.
4. Source: Freddie Mac Primary Fixed Mortgage Rate Mortgage Market Survey

The principal elements impacting our economic interest income are the size of our average investment portfolio and the yield (actual and implied) on
our securities. The following table includes a summary of the estimated impact of each of these elements on our economic interest income for fiscal years
2018 and 2017, compared to the prior year periods (in millions):

Impact of Changes in the Principal Elements Impacting Economic Interest Income

 
    Due to Change in Average

Fiscal Year 2018 vs. 2017  
Total Increase /

(Decrease)  
Portfolio

Size  
Asset
Yield

Interest Income (GAAP measure)  $ 656  $ 438  $ 218

Estimated "catch-up" premium amortization due to change in CPR forecast  (60)  —  (60)

Interest income, excluding "catch-up" premium amortization  596  438  158

TBA dollar roll income - implied interest income  7  (63)  70

Economic interest income, excluding "catch-up" amortization (non-GAAP measure)  $ 603  $ 375  $ 228

       
    Due to Change in Average

Fiscal Year 2017 vs. 2016  
Total Increase /

(Decrease)  
Portfolio

Size  
Asset
Yield

Interest Income (GAAP measure)  $ (28)  $ (52)  $ 24

Estimated "catch-up" premium amortization cost due to change in CPR forecast  27  —  27

Interest income, excluding "catch-up" premium amortization cost  (1)  (52)  51

TBA dollar roll income - implied interest income  229  167  62

Economic interest income, excluding "catch-up" amortization (non-GAAP measure)  $ 228  $ 115  $ 113
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Our average investment portfolio, inclusive of TBAs, increased 22% and 8% (at cost) for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively, compared to the
prior year periods, primarily due to the deployment of new equity capital. The increase in our average asset yield over the prior year periods was largely due
to changes in asset composition, as we increased our holdings of higher coupon, 30-year fixed rate securities relative to shorter duration assets.

Leverage  

Our primary measure of leverage is our tangible net book value "at risk" leverage ratio, which is measured as the sum of our Agency repurchase
agreements, other debt used to fund our investment securities and net TBA position (at cost) (together referred to as "mortgage borrowings") and our net
receivable/payable for unsettled investment securities, divided by our total stockholders' equity adjusted to exclude goodwill and other intangible asset.

We include our net TBA position in our measure of leverage because a forward contract to acquire Agency RMBS in the TBA market carries similar
risks to Agency RMBS purchased in the cash market and funded with on-balance sheet liabilities. Similarly, a TBA contract for the forward sale of Agency
securities has substantially the same effect as selling the underlying Agency RMBS and reducing our on-balance sheet funding commitments. (Refer to
Liquidity and Capital Resources for further discussion of TBA securities and dollar roll transactions). Repurchase agreements used to fund short-term
investments in U.S. Treasury securities ("U.S. Treasury repo") are excluded from our measure of leverage due to the temporary and highly liquid nature of
these investments.

Our tangible net book value "at risk" leverage was 9.0x, 8.1x and 7.7x as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The table below presents
a summary of our leverage ratios for the periods listed (dollars in millions):

  Agency Repurchase Agreements and Other Debt
1  Net TBA Position

Long/(Short) 2  
Average

Tangible Net
Book Value
"At Risk"
Leverage

during the
Period 3  

Average
"At Risk"
Leverage

during the
Period 4  

Tangible Net
Book Value "At
Risk" Leverage

as of
Period End 3  

"At Risk"
Leverage

as of
Period End 5Quarter Ended  Average Daily

Amount  Maximum
Daily Amount  Ending

Amount  
Average

Daily
Amount  Ending

Amount  

December 31, 2018  $ 68,499  $ 77,442  $ 75,992  $ 8,066  $ 7,252  8.4:1  7.9:1  9.0:1  8.5:1

September 30, 2018  $ 56,265  $ 66,969  $ 65,975  $ 18,270  $ 9,436  8.5:1  8.0:1  8.2:1  7.8:1

June 30, 2018  $ 47,823  $ 49,892  $ 49,152  $ 16,912  $ 19,898  8.0:1  7.5:1  8.3:1  7.8:1

March 31, 2018  $ 49,567  $ 50,645  $ 49,292  $ 15,585  $ 13,529  8.2:1  7.7:1  8.2:1  7.6:1

December 31, 2017  $ 48,122  $ 51,322  $ 50,653  $ 18,355  $ 15,739  8.1:1  7.6:1  8.1:1  7.6:1

September 30, 2017  $ 41,406  $ 47,442  $ 45,885  $ 18,616  $ 19,433  7.9:1  7.4:1  8.0:1  7.6:1

June 30, 2017  $ 38,945  $ 40,112  $ 39,463  $ 16,931  $ 17,283  8.0:1  7.4:1  8.1:1  7.5:1

March 31, 2017  $ 39,203  $ 41,221  $ 39,809  $ 13,460  $ 14,377  7.8:1  7.2:1  8.0:1  7.4:1

December 31, 2016  $ 41,031  $ 42,157  $ 41,183  $ 14,141  $ 11,312  7.8:1  7.3:1  7.7:1  7.1:1

September 30, 2016  $ 44,401  $ 46,555  $ 41,154  $ 10,748  $ 15,540  7.6:1  7.1:1  7.7:1  7.2:1

June 30, 2016  $ 46,948  $ 48,875  $ 45,502  $ 8,238  $ 6,975  N/A  7.2:1  N/A  7.2:1

March 31, 2016  $ 45,926  $ 49,767  $ 48,875  $ 8,144  $ 5,983  N/A  7.0:1  N/A  7.3:1
________________________________

1. Other debt includes debt of consolidated VIEs. Amounts exclude U.S. Treasury repo agreements.
2. Daily average and ending net TBA position outstanding measured at cost.
3. Tangible net book value "at risk" leverage includes the components of "at risk" leverage with stockholders' equity adjusted to exclude goodwill and other intangible assets, net.
4. Average "at risk" leverage during the period was calculated by dividing the sum of our daily weighted average mortgage borrowings outstanding during the period by the sum of our

average month-ended stockholders' equity less our average investment in REIT equity securities for the period.
5. "At risk" leverage as of period end is calculated by dividing the sum of our mortgage borrowings outstanding and our receivable/payable for unsettled investment securities as of period

end (at cost) by the sum of our total stockholders' equity less the fair value of investments in REIT equity securities at period end. Leverage excludes U.S. Treasury repo agreements.

Economic Interest Expense and Aggregate Cost of Funds 

The following table summarizes our economic interest expense and aggregate cost of funds (non-GAAP measures) for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016
(dollars in millions), which includes the combination of interest expense on Agency repurchase agreements and other debt (GAAP measure), implied interest
expense on our TBA securities and interest rate swap periodic interest (income) cost:
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  Fiscal Year 2018  Fiscal Year 2017  Fiscal Year 2016

Economic Interest Expense and Aggregate Cost of Funds 1  Amount  
Cost of
Funds  Amount  

Cost of
Funds  Amount  

Cost of
Funds

Repurchase agreement and other debt - interest expense (GAAP
measure) 2  $ 1,173  2.11 %  $ 524  1.25%  $ 394  0.80%

TBA dollar roll income - implied interest expense 3,4  273  1.85 %  164  0.97%  48  0.47%

Economic interest expense - before interest rate swap costs 5  1,446  2.06 %  688  1.17%  442  0.73%

Interest rate swap periodic interest (income) cost, net 3,6  (151)  (0.22)%  127  0.22%  255  0.54%

Total economic interest expense (non-GAAP measure)  $ 1,295  1.84 %  $ 815  1.39%  $ 697  1.27%
 ________________________________

1. Amounts exclude interest rate swap termination fees and variation margin settlements paid or received, forward starting swaps and the impact of other supplemental hedges, such as
swaptions and U.S. Treasury positions.

2. Fiscal year 2016 "repurchase agreement and other debt - interest expense (GAAP measure)" includes periodic interest costs of interest rate swaps previously designated as hedges under
GAAP, net of $39 million.

3. Reported in gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
4. The implied funding cost of TBA dollar roll transactions is determined using the price differential, or "price drop," between the TBA price for current month settlement versus the TBA

price for forward month settlement and market based assumptions regarding the "cheapest-to-deliver" collateral that can be delivered to satisfy the TBA contract, such as the anticipated
collateral’s weighted average coupon, weighted average maturity and projected 1-month CPR.  The average implied funding cost for all TBA transactions is weighted based on our daily
average TBA balance outstanding for the period.

5. The combined cost of funds for total mortgage borrowings outstanding, before interest rate swap costs, is calculated on a weighted average basis based on average repo, other debt and
TBA balances outstanding during the period and their respective cost of funds.

6. Interest rate swap periodic interest (income) cost is measured as a percent of average mortgage borrowings outstanding for the period.

The principal elements impacting our economic interest expense are (i) the size of our average mortgage borrowings and interest rate swap portfolio
outstanding during the period, (ii) the average interest rate (actual and implied) on our mortgage borrowings and (iii) the average net interest rate
paid/received on our interest rate swaps. The following table includes a summary of the estimated impact of these elements on our economic interest expense
for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, compared to the prior year periods (in millions):

Impact of Changes in the Principal Elements of Economic Interest Expense

       
    Due to Change in Average

Fiscal Year 2018 vs. 2017  
Total Increase /

(Decrease)  
Borrowing / Swap

Balance  
Borrowing / Swap

Rate

Repurchase agreements and other debt interest expense  $ 649  $ 171  $ 478

TBA dollar roll income - implied interest expense  109  (21)  130

Interest rate swap periodic interest income/cost  (278)  20  (298)

Total change in economic interest expense  $ 480  $ 170  $ 310

       
    Due to Change in Average

Fiscal Year 2017 vs. 2016  
Total Increase /

(Decrease)  
Borrowing / Swap

Balance  
Borrowing / Swap

Rate

Repurchase agreements and other debt interest expense  $ 169  $ (21)  $ 190

TBA dollar roll income - implied interest expense  116  30  86

Periodic interest rate swap costs  (167)  33  (200)

Total change in economic interest expense  $ 118  $ 42  $ 76

Our average mortgage borrowings, inclusive of TBAs, increased by 20% and 7% for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively, compared to the prior
year periods, as a function of our higher asset base. The increase in the average interest rate (actual and implied) on our mortgage borrowings over the prior
year periods was largely a function of increases in the federal funds rate during fiscal years 2017 and 2018. The decrease in our periodic swap costs over the
prior year periods was due to the receive-floating rate leg of our interest rate swaps resetting to higher prevailing three-month LIBOR rates.
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The table below presents a summary of the ratio of our average interest rates swaps outstanding, excluding forward starting swaps, to our average
mortgage borrowings for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 (dollars in millions):

  Fiscal Year

Average Ratio of Interest Rate Swaps (Excluding Forward Starting Swaps) to Mortgage Borrowings Outstanding  2018  2017  2016

Average Agency repo and other debt outstanding  $ 55,592  $ 41,942  $ 44,566

Average net TBA portfolio outstanding - at cost  $ 14,697  $ 16,859  $ 10,329

Average mortgage borrowings outstanding  $ 70,289  $ 58,801  $ 54,895

Average notional amount of interest rate swaps outstanding (excluding forward starting swaps)  $ 43,137  $ 37,331  $ 33,541

Ratio of average interest rate swaps to mortgage borrowings outstanding  61 %  63 %  61 %

       

Average interest rate swap pay-fixed rate (excluding forward starting swaps)  1.83 %  1.55 %  1.56 %

Average interest rate swap receive-floating rate  (2.18)%  (1.21)%  (0.69)%

Average interest rate swap net pay/(receive) rate  (0.35)%  0.34 %  0.87 %

For fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, we had an average forward starting swap balance of $4.5 billion, $2.4 billion and $4.8 billion, respectively.
Forward starting interest rate swaps do not impact our economic interest expense and aggregate cost of funds until they commence accruing net interest
settlements on their forward start dates. Including forward starting swaps, our average ratio of interest rate swaps outstanding to our average mortgage
borrowings was 68%, 68% and 70% for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Net Interest Spread

The following table presents a summary of our net interest spread (including the impact of TBA dollar roll income, interest rate swaps and excluding
"catch-up" premium amortization) for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016:

  Fiscal Year

Investment and TBA Securities - Net Interest Spread  2018  2017  2016

Average asset yield, excluding "catch-up" premium amortization  3.11 %  2.84 %  2.68 %

Average aggregate cost of funds  (1.84)%  (1.39)%  (1.27)%

Average net interest spread, excluding "catch-up" premium amortization  1.27 %  1.45 %  1.41 %

Management Fee Income

Management fee income increased by $38 million to $54 million for fiscal year 2018, from fiscal year 2017, due to a $42 million termination fee
received from MTGE associated with the sale of MTGE to a third party and the resultant termination of its management agreement with AGNC during fiscal
year 2018.

Operating Expense

Operating expense increased by $27 million to $100 million for fiscal year 2018, from fiscal year 2017, due to the write-off of the MTGE management
agreement intangible asset balance of $23 million and other expenses incurred of $4 million associated with the termination of the management agreement.
Operating expenses decreased by $32 million for fiscal year 2017, from fiscal year 2016, due to AGNC's management internalization.
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Net Spread and Dollar Roll Income

The following table presents a summary of our net spread and dollar roll income, excluding estimated "catch-up" premium amortization, per diluted
common share (a non-GAAP financial measure) and a reconciliation to our net interest income (the most comparable GAAP financial measure) for fiscal
years 2018, 2017 and 2016 (dollars in millions):

  Fiscal Year

  2018  2017  2016

Net interest income (GAAP measure)  $ 776  $ 769  $ 927

TBA dollar roll income, net 1  227  329  216

Interest rate swap periodic interest income (cost), net 1  151  (127)  (255)

Dividend income from REIT equity securities 1  3  1  2

Adjusted net interest and dollar roll income  1,157  972  890

Other operating income (expense):       

Management fee income  54  16  8

Less termination fee income from management agreement  (42)  —  —

Operating expenses  (100)  (73)  (105)
Less non-recurring write-off of intangible asset and other expenses associated with the termination of the
MTGE management agreement  27  —  —

Less non-recurring transaction costs associated with the acquisition of AMM  —  —  9

Adjusted other operating income (expense), net  (61)  (57)  (88)

Net spread and dollar roll income  1,096  915  802

Dividend on preferred stock  36  32  28

Net spread and dollar roll income available to common stockholders (non-GAAP measure)  1,060  883  774

Estimated "catch-up" premium amortization (benefit) cost due to change in CPR forecast  (23)  37  10
Net spread and dollar roll income, excluding "catch-up" premium amortization, available to common
stockholders (non-GAAP measure)  $ 1,037  $ 920  $ 784

       

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic  441.1  358.6  331.9

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted  441.4  358.7  331.9

Net spread and dollar roll income per common share - basic  $ 2.40  $ 2.46  $ 2.33

Net spread and dollar roll income per common share - diluted  $ 2.40  $ 2.46  $ 2.33

Net spread and dollar roll income, excluding "catch-up" premium amortization, per common share - basic  $ 2.35  $ 2.57  $ 2.36

Net spread and dollar roll income, excluding "catch-up" premium amortization, per common share - diluted  $ 2.35  $ 2.56  $ 2.36
________________________________

1. Reported in gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income

Gain (Loss) on Investment Securities, Net

The following table is a summary of our net gain (loss) on investment securities for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in millions): 

  Fiscal Year

Gain (Loss) on Investment Securities, Net 1  2018  2017  2016

Gain (loss) on sale of investment securities, net  $ (137)  $ (63)  $ 109

Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities measured at fair value through net income, net 2  (297)  (71)  (6)

Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, net  (598)  52  (370)

Total gain (loss) on investment securities, net  $ (1,032)  $ (82)  $ (267)
________________________________

1. Amounts exclude gain (loss) on TBA securities, which are reported in gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Income.

2. Investment securities acquired after fiscal year 2016 are measured at fair value through net income (see Note 2 of our Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K).
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Gain (Loss) on Derivative Instruments and Other Securities, Net  

The following table is a summary of our gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in
millions):

 Fiscal Year

 2018  2017  2016

Interest rate swap periodic interest income (cost), net $ 151  $ (127)  $ (255)

Realized gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net:      

TBA securities - dollar roll income, net 227  329  216

TBA securities - mark-to-market net gain (loss) (592)  (150)  (114)

Payer swaptions 67  (13)  (30)

U.S. Treasury securities - long position 1  1  7

U.S. Treasury securities - short position 125  (68)  (85)

U.S. Treasury futures - short position 112  (9)  (12)

Interest rate swaps - termination fees and variation margin settlements, net (44)  378  (1,145)

REIT equity securities 7  1  —

Other —  3  8

Total realized gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net (97)  472  (1,155)

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net:      

TBA securities - mark-to-market net gain (loss) 66  151  (161)

Interest rate swaps 33  (184)  1,003

Payer swaptions 23  (53)  27

U.S. Treasury securities - short position (286)  (73)  219

U.S. Treasury futures - short position (64)  9  7

Other 7  (2)  5

Total unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net (221)  (152)  1,100

Total gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net $ (167)  $ 193  $ (310)

For further details regarding our use of derivative instruments and related activity refer to Notes 2 and 5 of our Consolidated Financial Statements in
this Form 10-K.

Estimated Taxable Income 

For fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, we had estimated taxable income available to common stockholders of $490 million, $191 million and $260
million (or $1.11, $0.53 and $0.78 per diluted common share), respectively. Income determined under GAAP differs from income determined under U.S.
federal income tax rules because of both temporary and permanent differences in income and expense recognition. The primary differences are (i) unrealized
gains and losses on derivative instruments and other securities marked-to-market in current income for GAAP purposes, but excluded from taxable income
until realized or settled, (ii) timing differences, both temporary and potentially permanent, in the recognition of certain realized gains and losses and (iii)
temporary differences related to the amortization of premiums and discounts on investments. Furthermore, our estimated taxable income is subject to
potential adjustments up to the time of filing our appropriate tax returns, which occurs after the end of our fiscal year. The following is a reconciliation of our
GAAP net income to our estimated taxable income for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 (dollars in millions, except per share amounts):
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 Fiscal Year

 2018  2017  2016

Net income $ 129  $ 771  $ 623

Estimated book to tax differences:      

Premium amortization, net (51)  (9)  (46)

Realized gain/loss, net (236)  (654)  1,034

Net capital loss/(utilization of net capital loss carryforward) 182  (95)  (232)

Unrealized (gain)/loss, net 518  223  (1,094)

Other (16)  (13)  3

Total book to tax differences 397  (548)  (335)

Estimated REIT taxable income 526  223  288

Dividend on preferred stock 36  32  28

Estimated REIT taxable income available to common stockholders $ 490  $ 191  $ 260

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 441.1  358.6  331.9

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 441.4  358.7  331.9

Estimated REIT taxable income per common share - basic and diluted $ 1.11  $ 0.53  $ 0.78

      

Beginning cumulative non-deductible net capital loss $ 357  $ 452  $ 684

Increase (decrease) in net capital loss carryforward 1 (175)  (95)  (232)

Ending cumulative non-deductible net capital loss $ 182  $ 357  $ 452

Ending cumulative non-deductible net capital loss per common share $ 0.34  $ 0.91  $ 1.37
 ________________________________

1. Includes decrease in net capital loss carryforwards due to expiration of unutilized net capital loss carryforwards from prior years.

As of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, we had distributed all our estimated taxable income for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Accordingly, we do not expect to incur an income tax or excise tax liability on our 2018 taxable income, nor did we incur such liabilities on our 2017 and
2016 taxable income.

The following table summarizes dividends declared during fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016:

  Dividends Declared per Share

Quarter Ended  
Series A Preferred

Stock  

Series B Preferred
Stock (Per

Depositary Share)  

Series C Preferred
Stock (Per

Depositary Share)  Common Stock

December 31, 2018  $ —  $ 0.484375  $ 0.43750  $ 0.54

September 30, 2018  $ —  $ 0.484375  $ 0.43750  $ 0.54

June 30, 2018  $ —  $ 0.484375  $ 0.43750  $ 0.54

March 31, 2018  $ —  $ 0.484375  $ 0.43750  $ 0.54

Total fiscal year 2018  $ —  $ 1.937500  $ 1.75000  $ 2.16

         

December 31, 2017  $ —  $ 0.484375  $ 0.43750  $ 0.54

September 30, 2017  $ 0.33300  $ 0.484375  $ 0.25764  $ 0.54

June 30, 2017  $ 0.50000  $ 0.484375  $ —  $ 0.54

March 31, 2017  $ 0.50000  $ 0.484375  $ —  $ 0.54

Total fiscal year 2017  $ 1.33300  $ 1.937500  $ 0.69514  $ 2.16

         

December 31, 2016  $ 0.50000  $ 0.484375  $ —  $ 0.54

September 30, 2016  $ 0.50000  $ 0.484375  $ —  $ 0.56

June 30, 2016  $ 0.50000  $ 0.484375  $ —  $ 0.60

March 31, 2016  $ 0.50000  $ 0.484375  $ —  $ 0.60

Total fiscal year 2016  $ 2.00000  $ 1.937500  $ —  $ 2.30
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of funds are borrowings under master repurchase agreements, asset sales, receipts of monthly principal and interest payments on
our investment portfolio and equity offerings. We may also enter into TBA contracts to acquire or dispose of Agency RMBS and TBA dollar roll transactions
to finance Agency RMBS purchases. Because the level of our borrowings can be adjusted daily, the level of cash and cash equivalents carried on our balance
sheet is significantly less important than the potential liquidity available under our borrowing arrangements. Our leverage will vary periodically depending on
market conditions and our assessment of risks and returns. We generally would expect our leverage to be within six to twelve times the amount of our tangible
stockholders' equity. However, under certain market conditions, we may operate at leverage levels outside of this range for extended periods of time.

We currently believe that we have sufficient liquidity and capital resources available for the acquisition of additional investments, repayments on
borrowings, maintenance of any margin requirements and the payment of cash dividends as required for our continued qualification as a REIT. We currently
expect to distribute 100% of our taxable income so that we are not subject to U.S. federal and state corporate income taxes. Our REIT distribution
requirement of at least 90% of our taxable income limits our ability to retain earnings and thereby replenish or increase capital from operations.

Debt Capital

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our mortgage borrowings consisted of the following (dollars in millions):

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Mortgage Borrowings  Amount  %  Amount  %

Repurchase agreements  $ 75,717  91%  $ 50,296  75%

Debt of consolidated variable interest entities, at fair value  275  —%  357  1%

Total debt  75,992  91%  50,653  76%

Net TBA position, at cost  7,252  9%  15,739  24%

Total mortgage borrowings  $ 83,244  100%  $ 66,392  100%

Our tangible net book value "at risk" leverage was 9.0x and 8.1x as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, measured as the sum of our total
mortgage borrowings and net payable / (receivable) for unsettled investment securities, divided by the sum of our total stockholders' equity adjusted to
exclude goodwill and other intangible asset and investments in REIT equity securities.

Repurchase Agreements

As part of our investment strategy, we borrow against our investment portfolio pursuant to master repurchase agreements. We expect that the majority
of our borrowings under repurchase agreements will have maturities ranging up to one year but may have terms ranging up to five years or longer.
Borrowings with maturities greater than one year typically have floating rates of interest based on LIBOR plus or minus a fixed spread.

As of December 31, 2018, we had $75.7 billion of repurchase agreements outstanding used to fund acquisitions of investment securities with a
weighted average interest rate of 2.79% and a weighted average remaining days-to-maturity of 49 days, compared $50.3 billion, 1.57% and 116 days,
respectively, as of December 31, 2017.

To limit our counterparty exposure, we diversify our funding across multiple counterparties and by counterparty region. As of December 31, 2018, we
had master repurchase agreements with 46 financial institutions located throughout North America, Europe and Asia, including counterparties accessed
through our wholly-owned captive broker-dealer subsidiary, BES. BES has direct access to bilateral and triparty funding, including the General Collateral
Finance Repo service offered by the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, or "FICC," which provides us greater depth and diversity of funding at favorable
terms relative to traditional bilateral repurchase agreement funding. As of December 31, 2018, $26.7 billion of our repurchase agreement funding was sourced
through BES.

The table below includes a summary of our Agency RMBS repurchase agreement funding by number of repo counterparties and counterparty region as
of December 31, 2018. For further details regarding our borrowings under repurchase agreements as of December 31, 2018, please refer to Notes 4 and 6 to
our Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K.
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  December 31, 2018

Counter-Party Region  
Number of Counter-

Parties  
Percent of

Repurchase
Agreement Funding

North America:     

FICC  1  33%

Other  26  44%

Total North America  27  77%

Europe  14  17%

Asia  5  6%

Total  46  100%

Amounts available to be borrowed under our repurchase agreements are dependent upon lender collateral requirements and the lender's determination of
the fair value of the securities pledged as collateral, which fluctuates with changes in interest rates, credit quality and liquidity conditions within the
investment banking, mortgage finance and real estate industries. In addition, our counterparties apply a "haircut" to our pledged collateral, which means our
collateral is valued at slightly less than market value. This haircut reflects the underlying risk of the specific collateral and protects our counterparty against a
change in its value, but conversely subjects us to counterparty credit risk and limits the amount we can borrow against our investment securities. Our master
repurchase agreements do not specify the haircut; rather haircuts are determined on an individual repurchase transaction basis. Throughout fiscal year 2018,
haircuts on our pledged collateral remained stable and, as of December 31, 2018, our weighted average haircut was approximately 4.3% of the value of our
collateral, inclusive of collateral funded through BES. As of December 31, 2018, our maximum amount at risk (or the amount of our repurchase liabilities in
excess of the value of collateral pledged) with any counterparty related to our repurchase agreements, excluding the FICC, was less than 4% of our tangible
stockholders' equity, with our top five repo counterparties, excluding the FICC, representing less than 14% of our tangible stockholders' equity. As of
December 31, 2018, approximately 8% of our tangible stockholder's equity was at risk with the FICC. We could be exposed to credit risk if the FICC or an
FICC netting member defaults on its obligations. However, we believe that the risk is minimal due to the FICC's initial and daily mark-to-market margin
requirements, guarantee funds and other resources that are available in the event of a default.

We may be required to pledge additional assets to our counterparties in the event the estimated fair value of the existing collateral pledged under our
agreements declines and our counterparties demand additional collateral (a "margin call"), which may take the form of additional securities or cash.
Specifically, margin calls would result from a decline in the fair value of our investment securities securing our repurchase agreements as well as due to
prepayments on the mortgages securing such securities. Similarly, if the estimated fair value of our investment securities increases due to changes in interest
rates or other factors, counterparties may release collateral back to us. Our repurchase agreements generally provide that the valuations of securities securing
our repurchase agreements are to be obtained from a generally recognized source agreed to by the parties. In certain circumstances, however, our lenders have
the sole discretion to determine the value of pledged collateral. In such instances, our lenders are required to act in good faith in making determinations of
value. Our repurchase agreements generally provide that in the event of a margin call, we must provide additional securities or cash on the same business day
that a margin call is made if the lender provides us notice prior to the margin notice deadline on such day.

As of December 31, 2018, we had met all of our margin requirements and we had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $0.9 billion and unpledged
securities of approximately $3.9 billion, including securities pledged to us and unpledged interests in our consolidated VIEs, available to meet margin calls on
our repurchase agreements and other funding liabilities, derivative instruments and for other corporate purposes.

Although we believe we will have adequate sources of liquidity available to us through repurchase agreement financing to execute our business
strategy, there can be no assurances that repurchase agreement financing will be available to us upon the maturity of our current repurchase agreements to
allow us to renew or replace our repurchase agreement financing on favorable terms or at all. If our repurchase agreement lenders default on their obligations
to resell the underlying collateral back to us at the end of the term, we could incur a loss equal to the difference between the value of the collateral and the
cash we originally received.

To help manage the adverse impact of interest rate changes on the value of our investment portfolio as well as our cash flows, we utilize an interest rate
risk management strategy under which we use derivative financial instruments. In particular, we attempt to mitigate the risk of the cost of our variable rate
liabilities increasing at a faster rate than the earnings of our long-term fixed rate assets during a period of rising interest rates. The primary derivative
instruments that we use are interest rate swaps, interest rate swaptions, U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. Treasury futures contracts. Please refer to Notes 2
and 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K for further details regarding our use of derivative instruments.
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As with repurchase agreements, our derivative agreements typically require that we pledge/receive collateral to/from our counterparties. Our
counterparties, or the central clearing agency, typically have the sole discretion to determine the value of the derivative instruments and the value of the
collateral securing such instruments. In the event of a margin call, we must provide additional collateral generally on the same or next business day. We
minimize counterparty credit risk associated with our derivative instruments by limiting our counterparties to registered central clearing exchanges and major
financial institutions with acceptable credit ratings and by monitoring positions with individual counterparties. Excluding centrally cleared derivative
instruments, as of December 31, 2018, our amount at risk with any counterparty related to our interest rate swap and swaption agreements was less than 1% of
our stockholders' equity. In the case of centrally cleared derivative instruments, we could be exposed to credit risk if the exchange or a central clearing
member defaults on its obligations. However, we believe that the risk is minimal due to initial and daily mark-to-market margin requirements, guarantee funds
and other resources that are available in the event of a default.

TBA Dollar Roll Transactions

TBA dollar roll transactions used to finance the purchase of Agency RMBS represent a form of off-balance sheet financing accounted for as derivative
instruments. (See Notes 2 and 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K additional details on of our TBA transactions). Under certain
market conditions, it may be uneconomical for us to roll our TBA contracts into future months and we may need to take or make physical delivery of the
underlying securities. If we were required to take physical delivery to settle a long TBA contract, we would have to fund our total purchase commitment with
cash or other financing sources and our liquidity position could be negatively impacted. As of December 31, 2018, we had a net long TBA position with a
total market value of $7.3 billion and a net carrying value of $70 million recognized in derivative assets/(liabilities), at fair value, on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets in this Form 10-K.

Our TBA dollar roll contracts are also subject to margin requirements governed by the MBSD of the FICC and by our prime brokerage agreements,
which may establish margin levels in excess of the MBSD. Such provisions require that we establish an initial margin based on the notional value of the TBA
contract, which is subject to increase if the estimated fair value of our TBA contract or the estimated fair value of our pledged collateral declines. The MBSD
has the sole discretion to determine the value of our TBA contracts and of the pledged collateral securing such contracts. In the event of a margin call, we
must generally provide additional collateral on the same business day.

Settlement of our TBA obligations by taking delivery of the underlying securities as well as satisfying margin requirements could negatively impact our
liquidity position. However, since we do not use TBA dollar roll transactions as our primary source of financing, we believe that we will have adequate
sources of liquidity to meet such obligations.

Bethesda Securities Regulatory Capital Requirements

BES is subject to regulations of the securities business that include but are not limited to trade practices, capital structure, recordkeeping and conduct of
directors, officers and employees.  As a self-clearing registered broker-dealer, BES is required to maintain minimum net regulatory capital as defined by SEC
Rule 15c3-1 (the "Rule"). As of December 31, 2018, the minimum net capital required was $0.3 million and BES had excess net capital of $585.4 million.
Regulatory capital in excess of the minimum required by the Rule is held to meet levels required by clearing organizations, the clearing bank and other repo
counterparties.

Asset Sales and TBA Eligible Securities

We maintain a portfolio of highly liquid mortgage-backed securities. We may sell our Agency securities through the TBA market by delivering them
into TBA contracts, subject to "good delivery" provisions promulgated by SIFMA. We may alternatively sell Agency securities that have more unique
attributes on a specified basis when such securities trade at a premium over generic TBA securities or if the securities are not otherwise eligible for TBA
delivery. Since the TBA market is the second most liquid market (after the U.S. Treasury market), maintaining a significant level of Agency securities eligible
for TBA delivery enhances our liquidity profile and provides price support for our TBA eligible securities at or above generic TBA prices. As of
December 31, 2018, approximately 93% of our fixed rate Agency RMBS portfolio was eligible for TBA delivery.

Equity Capital

To the extent we raise additional equity capital, we may use cash proceeds from such transactions to purchase additional investment securities, to make
scheduled payments of principal and interest on our funding liabilities and/or for other general corporate purposes.  There can be no assurance, however, that
we will be able to raise additional equity capital at any particular time or on any particular terms. Furthermore, when the trading price of our common stock is
significantly less than our estimate of our current tangible net book value per common share, among other conditions, we may repurchase shares of our
common stock, subject to the provisions of a stock repurchase program in effect at such time.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As of December 31, 2018, we did not maintain relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as
structured finance, or special purpose or variable interest entities, established to facilitate off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or
limited purposes. Additionally, as of December 31, 2018, we had not guaranteed obligations of unconsolidated entities or entered into a commitment or intent
to provide funding to such entities.

AGGREGATE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table summarizes the effect on our liquidity and cash flows from contractual obligations for repurchase agreements and related interest
expense (in millions):

  Fiscal Year   
  2019  2020  2021  2022  2023  Total

Repurchase agreements  $ 72,892  $ 2,200  $ 625  $ —  $ —  $ 75,717

Interest expense 1  247  32  3  —  —  282

Total  $ 73,139  $ 2,232  $ 628  $ —  $ —  $ 75,999
________________________________

1. Interest expense is calculated based on the weighted average interest rates on our repurchase agreements as of December 31, 2018.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  These forward-looking
statements are based on estimates, projections, beliefs and assumptions of our management as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and involve
risks and uncertainties in predicting future results and conditions.  Our actual performance could differ materially from those projected or anticipated in any
forward looking statements due to a variety of factors, including, without limitation, changes in interest rates, the yield curve or prepayment rates; the
availability and terms of financing; changes in the market value of our assets; the effectiveness of our risk mitigation strategies; conditions in the market for
Agency and other mortgage securities; or legislative or regulatory changes that affect our status as a REIT or our exemption from the Investment Company
Act of 1940 or that affect the GSE’s or secondary mortgage market in which we participate.  A discussion of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ from any of our forward-looking statements is included in this document under Item 1A. Risk Factors.  We caution readers not to place undue
reliance on our forward-looking statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices
and equity prices. The primary market risks that we are exposed to are interest rate, prepayment, spread, liquidity, extension and credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with the fixed income nature of our assets and the short-term, variable rate nature of our financing
obligations. Our operating results depend in large part on differences between the income earned on our assets and our cost of borrowing and hedging
activities. The costs associated with our borrowings are generally based on prevailing market interest rates. During a period of rising interest rates, our
borrowing costs generally will increase while the yields earned on our existing portfolio of leveraged fixed-rate assets will largely remain static. This can
result in a decline in our net interest spread. Changes in the level of interest rates can also affect the rate of mortgage prepayments and the value of our assets.

Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including fiscal and monetary policies and domestic and international economic and political
considerations, as well as other factors beyond our control. Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, we engage in a variety of interest rate
management techniques to mitigate the influence of interest rate changes on our net interest income and fluctuations of our tangible net asset value. The
principal instruments that we use to hedge our interest rate risk are interest rate swaps, swaptions, U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. Treasury futures
contracts. Our hedging techniques are highly complex and are partly based on assumed levels of prepayments of our assets. If prepayments are slower or
faster than assumed, the maturity our investments will also differ from our expectations, which could reduce the effectiveness of our hedging strategies and
may cause losses on such transactions and adversely affect our cash flow.

The severity of potential declines in our tangible net book value due to fluctuations in interest rates would depend on our asset, liability and hedge
composition at the time, as well as the magnitude and duration of the interest rate change. Primary
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measures of an instrument's price sensitivity to interest rate fluctuations are its duration and convexity. Duration measures the estimated percentage change in
market value of an instrument that would be caused by a parallel change in short and long-term interest rates. The duration of our assets will vary with
changes in interest rates and tends to increase when interest rates rise and decrease when interest rates fall. This "negative convexity" generally increases the
interest rate exposure of our investment portfolio in excess of what is measured by duration alone.

We estimate the duration and convexity of our assets using both a third-party risk management system and market data. We review the duration
estimates from the third-party model and may make adjustments based on our judgment to better reflect any unique characteristics and market trading
conventions associated with certain types of securities.

The table below quantifies the estimated changes in the fair value of our investment portfolio (including derivatives and other securities used for
hedging purposes) and in our tangible net book value per common share as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 should interest rates go up or down by 50 and 100
basis points, assuming instantaneous parallel shifts in the yield curve and including the impact of both duration and convexity. All values in the table below
are measured as percentage changes from the base interest rate scenario. The base interest rate scenario assumes interest rates and prepayment projections as
of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

To the extent that these estimates or other assumptions do not hold true, which is likely in a period of high volatility, actual results could differ
materially from our projections. Moreover, if different models were employed in the analysis, materially different projections could result. Lastly, while the
table below reflects the estimated impact of interest rate changes on a static portfolio, we actively manage our portfolio and we continuously adjust the size
and composition of our asset and hedge portfolio. 

Interest Rate Sensitivity 1,2

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Change in Interest Rate  
Estimated Change
in Portfolio Market

Value  

Estimated Change
in Tangible Net
Book Value Per
Common Share  

Estimated Change
in Portfolio Market

Value  

Estimated Change in
Tangible Net Book
Value Per Common

Share

-100 Basis Points  -0.7%  -7.3%  -1.0%  -9.1%

-50 Basis Points  -0.1%  -1.0%  -0.2%  -1.9%

+50 Basis Points  -0.3%  -3.1%  -0.2%  -2.0%

+100 Basis Points  -0.9%  -9.3%  -0.7%  -6.6%
________________________________

1. Derived from models that are dependent on inputs and assumptions provided by third parties, assumes there are no changes in mortgage spreads and assumes a static portfolio. Actual
results could differ materially from these estimates.

2. Includes the effect of derivatives and other securities used for hedging purposes.

Prepayment Risk

Prepayment risk is the risk that our assets will be repaid at a faster rate than anticipated. Interest rates and numerous other factors affect the rate of
prepayments, including housing prices, general economic conditions, loan age, size and loan-to-value ratios, and the pace of GSE buyouts of delinquent loans
underlying our securities among other factors. Generally, prepayments increase during periods of falling mortgage interest rates and decrease during periods
of rising mortgage interest rates. However, this may not always be the case.

If our assets prepay at a faster rate than anticipated, we may be unable to reinvest the repayments at acceptable yields. If the proceeds are reinvested at
lower yields than our existing assets, our net interest income would be negatively impacted. We also amortize or accrete premiums and discounts we pay or
receive at purchase relative to the stated principal of our assets into interest income over their projected lives using the effective interest method. If the actual
and estimated future prepayment experience differs from our prior estimates, we are required to record an adjustment to interest income for the impact of the
cumulative difference in the effective yield.

Extension Risk

Extension risk is the risk that our assets will be repaid at a slower rate than anticipated and generally increases when interest rates rise. In which case,
we may have to finance our investments at potentially higher costs without the ability to reinvest principal into higher yielding securities because borrowers
prepay their mortgages at a slower pace than originally expected, adversely impacting our net interest spread, and thus our net interest income.
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As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our investment securities (excluding TBAs) had a weighted average projected CPR of 7.9% and 8.4%, respectively,
and a weighted average yield of 3.31% and 2.89%, respectively. The table below presents estimated weighted average projected CPRs and yields for our
investment securities should interest rates go up or down by 50 and 100 basis points.

Interest Rate Sensitivity 1

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Change in Interest Rate  
Weighted Average

Projected CPR  
Weighted Average

Asset Yield 2  
Weighted Average

Projected CPR  
Weighted Average

Asset Yield 2

-100 Basis Points  14.1%  3.15%  12.5%  2.65%

-50 Basis Points  10.3%  3.25%  9.8%  2.79%

+50 Basis Points  6.5%  3.33%  7.4%  2.93%

+100 Basis Points  5.7%  3.38%  6.9%  2.96%
________________________________

1. Derived from models that are dependent on inputs and assumptions provided by third parties and assumes a static portfolio. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.
2. Asset yield based on historical cost basis and does not include the impact of retroactive "catch-up" premium amortization adjustments due to changes in projected CPR.

Spread Risk

Spread risk is the risk that the market spread between the yield on our assets and the yield on benchmark interest rates linked to our interest rate
hedges, such as U.S. Treasury rates and interest rate swap rates, may vary. The inherent spread risk associated with our investment securities and the resulting
fluctuations in fair value of these securities can occur independent of interest rates and may relate to other factors impacting the mortgage and fixed income
markets, such as actual or anticipated monetary policy actions by U.S. and foreign central banks, liquidity, or changes in required rates of return on different
assets. Our strategies are generally not specifically designed to protect against spread risk, thus while we use interest rate swaps and other hedges to attempt to
protect against moves in interest rates, our tangible net book value could decline if spreads widen.

The table below quantifies the estimated changes in the fair value of our assets, net of hedges, and our tangible net book value per common share as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017 should spreads widen or tighten by 10 and 25 basis points. The estimated impact of changes in spreads is in addition to our
interest rate shock sensitivity included in the interest rate shock table above. The table below assumes a spread duration of 5.6 and 5.3 years as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, based on interest rates and prices as of such dates. However, our portfolio's sensitivity of mortgage spread changes
will vary with changes in interest rates and in the size and composition of our portfolio. Therefore, actual results could differ materially from our estimates.

Spread Sensitivity 1,2

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Change in MBS Spread  
Estimated Change
in Portfolio Market

Value  

Estimated Change
in Tangible Net
Book Value Per
Common Share  

Estimated Change
in Portfolio Market

Value  

Estimated Change
in Tangible Net
Book Value Per
Common Share

-25 Basis Points  +1.4%  +14.3%  +1.3%  +12.6%

-10 Basis Points  +0.6%  +5.7%  +0.5%  +5.0%

+10 Basis Points  -0.6%  -5.7%  -0.5%  -5.0%

+25 Basis Points  -1.4%  -14.3%  -1.3%  -12.6%
________________________________

1. Spread sensitivity is derived from models that are dependent on inputs and assumptions provided by third parties, assumes there are no changes in interest rates and assumes a static
portfolio. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

2. Includes the effect of derivatives and other securities used for hedging purposes.

Liquidity Risk

Our liquidity risk principally arises from financing long-term fixed rate assets with shorter-term variable rate borrowings.  As of December 31, 2018,
we had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $0.9 billion and unpledged securities of approximately $3.9 billion available to meet margin calls on our
funding liabilities and derivative contracts and for other corporate purposes.  However, should the value of our collateral or the value of our derivative
instruments suddenly decrease, margin calls relating to our funding liabilities and derivative agreements could increase, causing an adverse change in our
liquidity position. Furthermore, there is no assurance that we will always be able to renew (or roll) our short-term funding liabilities. In addition, our
counterparties
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have the option to increase our haircuts (margin requirements) on the assets we pledge against our funding liabilities, thereby reducing the amount that can be
borrowed against an asset even if they agree to renew or roll our funding liabilities. Significantly higher haircuts can reduce our ability to leverage our
portfolio or even force us to sell assets, especially if correlated with asset price declines or faster prepayment rates on our assets.

In addition, we often utilize TBA dollar roll transactions to invest in and finance Agency RMBS. Under certain conditions it may be uneconomical to
roll our TBA dollar roll transactions beyond the next settlement date and we could have to take physical delivery of the underlying securities and settle our
obligations for cash, which could negatively impact our liquidity position, result in defaults or force us to sell assets under adverse conditions.

Credit Risk

We may not receive full repayment of principal, interest or other remuneration related to credit sensitive instruments, such as investments in CRT and
non-Agency securities. This risk of nonpayment is called credit risk. We are also exposed to credit risk in the event our derivative counterparties do not
perform under the terms of our derivative agreements or in the event our repurchase agreement counterparties default on their obligations to resell the
underlying collateral back to us at the end of the repo term.

We accept credit exposure related to our credit sensitive assets at levels we deem to be prudent within the context of our overall investment strategy. We
attempt to manage this risk through prudent asset selection, pre-acquisition due diligence, post-acquisition performance monitoring, and sale of assets where
we identify negative credit trends. We may also manage credit risk with credit default swaps or other financial derivatives that we believe are appropriate.
Additionally, we may vary the mix of our interest rate and credit sensitive assets or our duration gap to adjust our credit exposure and/or improve the return
profile of our assets, such as when we believe credit performance is inversely correlated with changes in interest rates. Our credit risk related to derivative and
repurchase agreement transactions is largely mitigated by limiting our counterparties to major financial institutions with acceptable credit ratings or to
registered central clearinghouses and monitoring concentration levels with any one counterparty. We also monitor and adjust the amount of collateral pledged
based on changes in market value.

There is no guarantee that our efforts to manage credit risk will be successful and we could suffer losses if credit performance is worse than our
expectations or our counterparties default on their obligations. Excluding amounts cleared through a central clearing exchange, as of December 31, 2018, our
maximum amount at risk with any counterparty related to our repurchase agreements was less than 4% of our tangible stockholders' equity and less than 1%
of tangible stockholders' equity related to our interest rate swap and swaption agreements.
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Item 8. Financial Statements

Our management is responsible for the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the related financial information. The financial statements
have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and necessarily include certain amounts that are based on
estimates and informed judgments. Our management also prepared the related financial information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is
responsible for its accuracy and consistency with the consolidated financial statements.
 

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 have been audited by Ernst & Young
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, who conducted their audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). The independent registered public accounting firm's responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on their audit. For further information refer to the Ernst & Young LLP audit opinion included in this Item 8 of our Annual Report.
 

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of our management and Board of Directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, utilizing the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in its Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 framework). Based on
this assessment and those criteria, management determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2018. The
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their attestation report included in this Form 10-K.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of AGNC Investment Corp.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited AGNC Investment Corp.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In
our opinion, AGNC Investment Corp. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based
on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of AGNC Investment Corp. as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes, and our report dated
February 22, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

AGNC Investment Corp.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to AGNC Investment Corp. in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Tysons, Virginia
February 22, 2019    
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of AGNC Investment Corp.

Opinion on Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AGNC Investment Corp. as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of AGNC Investment Corp. at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), AGNC Investment
Corp.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 22, 2019 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of AGNC Investment Corp.'s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to AGNC
Investment Corp. in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or
fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

    
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as AGNC Investment Corp.’s auditor since 2008.

Tysons, Virginia                            
February 22, 2019
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AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions, except per share data)

 December 31,

 2018  2017

Assets:    
Agency securities, at fair value (including pledged securities of $78,619 and $53,055, respectively) $ 82,291  $ 55,506

Agency securities transferred to consolidated variable interest entities, at fair value (pledged securities) 436  662

Credit risk transfer securities, at fair value (including pledged securities of $141 and $0, respectively) 1,012  876

Non-Agency securities, at fair value (including pledged securities of $45 and $0, respectively) 548  36

U.S. Treasury securities, at fair value 46  —

REIT equity securities, at fair value —  29

Cash and cash equivalents 921  1,046

Restricted cash 599  317

Derivative assets, at fair value 273  205

Receivable for investment securities sold (pledged securities) 489  —

Receivable under reverse repurchase agreements 21,813  10,961

Goodwill and other intangible asset, net 526  551

Other assets 287  187

Total assets $ 109,241  $ 70,376

Liabilities:    
Repurchase agreements $ 75,717  $ 50,296

Debt of consolidated variable interest entities, at fair value 275  357

Payable for investment securities purchased 1,204  95

Derivative liabilities, at fair value 84  28

Dividends payable 106  80

Obligation to return securities borrowed under reverse repurchase agreements, at fair value 21,431  10,467

Accounts payable and other liabilities 518  299

Total liabilities 99,335  61,622

Stockholders' equity:    
7.750% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (aggregate liquidation preference of $175) 169  169
7.000% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (aggregate liquidation preference of
$325) 315  315
Common stock - $0.01 par value; 900 and 600 shares authorized, respectively; 536.3 and 391.3 shares issued and
outstanding, respectively 5  4

Additional paid-in capital 13,793  11,173

Retained deficit (3,433)  (2,562)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (943)  (345)

Total stockholders' equity 9,906  8,754

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 109,241  $ 70,376

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in millions, except per share data)

 

 For the year ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016

Interest income:      
Interest income $ 1,949  $ 1,293  $ 1,321
Interest expense 1,173  524  394

Net interest income 776  769  927
Other gain (loss), net:      

Gain (loss) on sale of investment securities, net (137)  (63)  109
Unrealized loss on investment securities measured at fair value through net income, net (297)  (71)  (6)
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net (167)  193  (310)
Management fee income 54  16  8

Total other gain (loss), net: (547)  75  (199)
Expenses:      

Management fee expense —  —  52
Compensation and benefits 45  42  19
Other operating expense 55  31  34

Total operating expense 100  73  105
Net income 129  771  623

Dividend on preferred stock 36  32  28
Issuance costs of redeemed preferred stock —  6  —

Net income available to common stockholders $ 93  $ 733  $ 595

      

Net income $ 129  $ 771  $ 623
Other comprehensive income (loss):      

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net (598)  52  (370)
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments, net —  —  39

Other comprehensive income (loss) (598)  52  (331)
Comprehensive income (loss) (469)  823  292

Dividend on preferred stock 36  32  28
Issuance costs of redeemed preferred stock —  6  —

Comprehensive income (loss) available (attributable) to common stockholders $ (505)  $ 785  $ 264

      

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 441.1  358.6  331.9

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 441.4  358.7  331.9

Net income per common share - basic $ 0.21  $ 2.04  $ 1.79

Net income per common share - diluted $ 0.21  $ 2.04  $ 1.79

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in millions)

 8.000% Series
A Cumulative
Redeemable

Preferred Stock

 7.750% Series
B Cumulative
Redeemable

Preferred Stock

 
7.000% Series

C Fixed-to-
Floating Rate
Cumulative
Redeemable

Preferred Stock

 Common Stock  
Additional

Paid-in
Capital  

Retained 
Deficit  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)  Total    Shares  Amount  

Balance, December 31, 2015 $ 167  $ 169  $ —  337.5  $ 3  $ 10,048  $ (2,350)  $ (66)  $ 7,971

Net Income —  —  —  —  —  —  623  —  623

Other comprehensive income (loss)                 
Unrealized loss on available for
sale securities, net —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (370)  (370)
Unrealized gain on derivative
instruments, net —  —  —  —  —  —  —  39  39

Repurchase of common stock —  —  —  (6.5)  —  (116)  —  —  (116)

Preferred dividends declared —  —  —  —  —  —  (28)  —  (28)

Common dividends declared —  —  —  —  —  —  (763)  —  (763)

Balance, December 31, 2016 167  169  —  331.0  3  9,932  (2,518)  (397)  7,356

Net income —  —  —  —  —  —  771  —  771

Other comprehensive income:                 
Unrealized gain on available-
for-sale securities, net —  —  —  —  —  —  —  52  52

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  —  4  —  —  4

Issuance of preferred stock —  —  315  —  —  —  —  —  315
Redemption of preferred
stock (167)  —  —  —  —  —  (6)  —  (173)

Issuance of common stock —  —  —  60.3  1  1,237  —  —  1,238

Preferred dividends declared —  —  —  —  —  —  (32)  —  (32)

Common dividends declared —  —  —  —  —  —  (777)  —  (777)

Balance, December 31, 2017 —  169  315  391.3  4  11,173  (2,562)  (345)  8,754

Net income —  —  —  —  —  —  129  —  129

Other comprehensive loss:                  
Unrealized loss on available-
for-sale securities, net —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (598)  (598)

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  —  10  —  —  10

Issuance of common stock —  —  —  145.0  1  2,610  —  —  2,611

Preferred dividends declared —  —  —  —  —  —  (36)  —  (36)

Common dividends declared —  —  —  —  —  —  (964)  —  (964)

Balance, December 31, 2018 $ —  $ 169  $ 315  536.3  $ 5  $ 13,793  $ (3,433)  $ (943)  $ 9,906

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions) 

 For the year ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2016

Operating activities:      
Net income $ 129  $ 771  $ 623

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:      
Amortization of premiums and discounts on mortgage-backed securities, net 331  378  400

Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive loss on interest rate swaps de-designated as qualifying hedges —  —  39

Amortization of intangible assets 25  3  2

Stock-based compensation 6  4  1

(Gain) loss on sale of investment securities, net 137  63  (109)

Unrealized loss on investment securities measured at fair value through net income, net 297  71  6

(Gain) loss on derivative instruments and other securities, net 167  (193)  310

(Increase) decrease in other assets (100)  82  34

Increase in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 121  81  46

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,113  1,260  1,352

Investing activities:      
Purchases of Agency mortgage-backed securities (42,586)  (35,920)  (20,836)

Purchases of credit risk transfer and non-Agency securities (1,572)  (1,074)  (229)

Proceeds from sale of Agency mortgage-backed securities 8,132  18,701  18,030

Proceeds from sale of credit risk transfer and non-Agency securities 891  494  —

Principal collections on Agency mortgage-backed securities 7,170  6,869  8,114

Principal collections on credit risk transfer and non-Agency securities 15  5  23

Payments on U.S. Treasury securities (10,829)  (11,756)  (4,483)

Proceeds from U.S. Treasury securities 21,308  14,557  10,393

Net payments on reverse repurchase agreements (10,571)  (3,162)  (6,003)

Net proceeds from (payments on) derivative instruments 76  253  (1,292)

Purchase of AGNC Mortgage Management, LLC, net of cash acquired —  —  (555)

Net proceeds from (payments on) other investing activity 30  (28)  39

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (27,936)  (11,061)  3,201

Financing activities:      
Proceeds from repurchase arrangements 2,031,463  483,516  217,538

Payments on repurchase agreements (2,006,042)  (471,078)  (221,434)

Proceeds from Federal Home Loan Bank advances —  —  2,098

Payments on Federal Home Loan Bank advances —  (3,037)  (2,814)

Payments on debt of consolidated variable interest entities (78)  (104)  (135)

Net proceeds from preferred stock issuances —  315  —

Payment for preferred stock redemption —  (173)  —

Net proceeds from common stock issuances 2,611  1,238  —

Payment for common stock repurchases —  —  (116)

Cash dividends paid (974)  (795)  (799)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 26,980  9,882  (5,662)

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 157  81  (1,109)

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 1,363  1,282  2,391

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 1,520  $ 1,363  $ 1,282

      
Supplemental disclosure to cash flow information:      
Interest paid $ 1,090  $ 474  $ 332

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Organization

We were organized in Delaware on January 7, 2008 and commenced operations on May 20, 2008 following the completion of our initial public offering.
Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "AGNC."

We are internally-managed, and our principal objective is to provide our stockholders with attractive risk-adjusted returns through a combination of
monthly dividends and tangible net book value accretion. We generate income from the interest earned on our investments, net of associated borrowing and
hedging costs, and net realized gains and losses on our investment and hedging activities.

We operate to qualify to be taxed as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Internal
Revenue Code"). As a REIT, we are required to distribute annually 90% of our taxable income. As a REIT, we will generally not be subject to U.S. federal or
state corporate taxes on our taxable income to the extent that we distribute our annual taxable income to our stockholders on a timely basis. It is our intention
to distribute 100% of our taxable income, after application of available tax attributes, within the limits prescribed by the Internal Revenue Code, which may
extend into the subsequent tax year.

We invest primarily in Agency residential mortgage-backed securities ("Agency RMBS") for which the principal and interest payments are guaranteed
by a U.S. Government-sponsored enterprise ("GSE") or a U.S. Government agency. We may also invest in other types of mortgage and mortgage-related
securities, such as credit risk transfer ("CRT") securities and non-Agency residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities ("non-Agency RMBS" and
"CMBS," respectively), where repayment of principal and interest is not guaranteed by a GSE or U.S. Government agency or in other investments in, or
related to, the housing, mortgage or real estate markets. We fund our investments primarily through borrowings structured as repurchase agreements.

Prior to July 1, 2016, we were externally managed by AGNC Management, LLC, our former manager. On July 1, 2016, we completed the acquisition of
all the outstanding membership interests of AGNC Mortgage Management, LLC, the parent company of our for former manager, from American Capital
Asset Management, LLC ("AMM"), a wholly owned portfolio company of American Capital, Ltd.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP").  Our
consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all subsidiaries and variable interest entities for which we are the primary beneficiary. Significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 

Adoption of Accounting Standard Updates

As of January 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), and
ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) - Restricted Cash. The adoption of ASU 2014-09 resulted in reclassification of expense reimbursements
from an other operating expense offset to management fee income on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Net income was not impacted.
The adoption of ASU 2016-18 resulted in the presentation of restricted cash with cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated statements of cash flows
when reconciling the total beginning and ending amounts. Our prior period results have been revised to conform to the current presentation.

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses during the
period reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Earnings per Share 

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is computed by dividing net income (loss) available (attributable) to common stockholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS assumes the conversion, exercise or issuance of all potential common stock equivalents
unless the effect is to reduce a loss or increase the income per share. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of unrestricted demand deposits and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash
and cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. 

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents includes cash and cash equivalents pledged as collateral for clearing and executing trades, repurchase agreements
and other borrowings, and interest rate swaps and other derivative instruments. Restricted cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates
fair value. 

Investment Securities

Agency RMBS consist of residential mortgage pass-through securities and collateralized mortgage obligations ("CMOs") guaranteed by the Federal
National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae"), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac," and together with Fannie Mae, the "GSEs") or
the Government National Mortgage Association ("Ginnie Mae").

CRT securities are risk sharing instruments issued by the GSEs, and similarly structured transactions issued by third-party market participants, that
transfer a portion of the risk associated with credit losses within pools of conventional residential mortgage loans from the GSEs and/or third parties to private
investors. Unlike Agency RMBS, full repayment of the original principal balance of CRT securities is not guaranteed by a GSE or U.S. Government agency;
rather, "credit risk transfer" is achieved by writing down the outstanding principal balance of the CRT securities if credit losses on a related pool of loans
exceed certain thresholds. By reducing the amount that they are obligated to repay to holders of CRT securities, the GSEs and/or other third parties offset
credit losses on the related loans.

Non-Agency RMBS and CMBS (together, "Non-Agency MBS") are backed by residential and commercial mortgage loans, respectively, packaged and
securitized by a private institution, such as a commercial bank. Non-Agency MBS typically benefit from credit enhancements derived from structural
elements, such as subordination, overcollateralization or insurance, but nonetheless carry a higher level of credit exposure than Agency RMBS.

Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 320, Investments—Debt and Equity Securities, requires that at the time of purchase, we designate a
security as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale or trading, depending on our ability and intent to hold such security to maturity. Alternatively, we may elect the
fair value option of accounting for securities pursuant to ASC Topic 825, Financial Instruments. Prior to fiscal year 2017, we primarily designated our
investment securities as available-for-sale. On January 1, 2017, we began electing the fair value option of accounting for all investment securities acquired
after fiscal year 2016. Consequently, all of our securities are reported at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet. Unrealized gains and losses on securities
classified as available-for-sale are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income ("OCI"). Unrealized gains and losses on securities for which we
elected the fair value option or are classified as trading are reported in net income through other gain (loss) during the period in which they occur. Upon the
sale of a security designated as available-for-sale, we determine the cost of the security and the amount of unrealized gains or losses to reclassify out of
accumulated OCI into earnings based on the specific identification method.

In our view, the election of the fair value option simplifies the accounting for investment securities and more appropriately reflects the results of our
operations for a reporting period, as the fair value changes for these assets are presented in a manner consistent with the presentation and timing of the fair
value changes of our derivative instruments.

We estimate the fair value of our investment securities based on prices provided by multiple third-party pricing services and non-binding dealer quotes
(collectively "pricing sources"). These pricing sources use various valuation approaches, including market and income approaches, using "Level 2" inputs.
The pricing sources primarily utilize a matrix pricing technique that interpolates the estimated fair value of our Agency RMBS based on observed quoted
prices for forward contracts in the Agency RMBS "to-be-announced" market ("TBA securities") of the same coupon, maturity and issuer, adjusted to reflect
the specific characteristics of the pool of mortgages underlying the Agency security, which may include maximum loan balance, loan vintage, loan-to-value
ratio, geography and other characteristics as may be appropriate. The pricing sources may also utilize discounted cash flow model-derived pricing techniques
to estimate the fair value of investment securities. Such models incorporate market-based discount rate assumptions based on observable inputs such as recent
trading activity, credit data, volatility statistics, benchmark interest rate curves and other market data that are current as of the measurement date and may
include certain unobservable inputs, such as assumptions of future levels of prepayment, defaults and loss severities. We review the pricing estimates obtained
from the pricing sources and perform procedures to validate their reasonableness. Refer to Note 8 for further discussion of fair value measurements.
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We evaluate our investments designated as available-for-sale for other-than-temporary impairment ("OTTI") on at least a quarterly basis. The
determination of whether a security is other-than-temporarily impaired may involve judgments and assumptions based on subjective and objective factors.
When a security is impaired, an OTTI is considered to have occurred if any one of the following three conditions exists as of the financial reporting date:
(i) we intend to sell the security (that is, a decision has been made to sell the security), (ii) it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security
before recovery of its amortized cost basis or (iii) we do not expect to recover the security's amortized cost basis, even if we do not intend to sell the security
and it is not more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security. A general allowance for unidentified impairments in a portfolio of securities is
not permitted. If either of the first two conditions exists as of the financial reporting date, the entire amount of the impairment loss, if any, is recognized in
earnings as a realized loss and the cost basis of the security is adjusted to its fair value. If the third condition exists, the OTTI is separated into (i) the amount
relating to credit loss (the "credit component") and (ii) the amount relating to all other factors (the "non-credit components"). Only the credit component is
recognized in earnings, with the non-credit components recognized in OCI. We did not recognize OTTI charges on our investment securities for fiscal years
2018, 2017 or 2016.

Interest Income

Interest income is accrued based on the outstanding principal amount of the investment securities and their contractual terms. Premiums or discounts
associated with the purchase of Agency RMBS and non-Agency MBS of high credit quality are amortized or accreted into interest income, respectively, over
the projected lives of the securities, including contractual payments and estimated prepayments, using the effective interest method in accordance with ASC
Subtopic 310-20, Receivables—Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs.

We estimate long-term prepayment speeds of our mortgage securities using a third-party service and market data. The third-party service provider
estimates prepayment speeds using models that incorporate the forward yield curve, current mortgage rates, mortgage rates of the outstanding loans, age and
size of the outstanding loans, loan-to-value ratios, interest rate volatility and other factors. We review the prepayment speeds estimated by the third-party
service and compare the results to market consensus prepayment speeds, if available. We also consider historical prepayment speeds and current market
conditions to validate the reasonableness of the third-party estimates. We review our actual and anticipated prepayment experience on at least a quarterly basis
and effective yields are recalculated when differences arise between (i) our previously estimated future prepayments and (ii) actual prepayments to date and
our current estimated future prepayments. If the actual and estimated future prepayment experience differs from our prior estimate of prepayments, we are
required to record an adjustment in the current period to the amortization or accretion of premiums and discounts for the cumulative difference in the effective
yield through the reporting date.

At the time we purchase CRT securities and non-Agency MBS that are not of high credit quality, we determine an effective yield based on our estimate
of the timing and amount of future cash flows and our cost basis. Our initial cash flow estimates for these investments are based on our observations of
current information and events and include assumptions related to interest rates, prepayment rates and the impact of default and severity rates on the timing
and amount of credit losses. On at least a quarterly basis, we review the estimated cash flows and make appropriate adjustments based on inputs and analysis
received from external sources, internal models, and our judgment regarding such inputs and other factors. Any resulting changes in effective yield are
recognized prospectively based on the current amortized cost of the investment adjusted for credit impairments, if any.

Repurchase Agreements 

We finance the acquisition of securities for our investment portfolio primarily through repurchase transactions under master repurchase agreements.
Pursuant to ASC Topic 860, Transfers and Servicing, we account for repurchase transactions as collateralized financing transactions, which are carried at their
contractual amounts (cost), plus accrued interest. Our repurchase agreements typically have maturities of less than one year but may extend up to five years or
more. Interest rates on our repurchase agreements generally correspond to one or three-month LIBOR plus or minus a fixed spread. The fair value of our
repurchase agreements is assumed to equal cost as the interest rates are considered to be at market.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements and Obligation to Return Securities Borrowed under Reverse Repurchase Agreements

We borrow securities to cover short sales of U.S. Treasury securities through reverse repurchase transactions under our master repurchase agreements
(see Derivative Instruments below). We account for these as securities borrowing transactions and recognize an obligation to return the borrowed securities at
fair value on the balance sheet based on the value of the underlying borrowed securities as of the reporting date. Our reverse repurchase agreements typically
have maturities of 30 days or less. The fair value of our reverse repurchase agreements is assumed to equal cost as the interest rates are considered to be at
market.
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Derivative Instruments

We use a variety of derivative instruments to hedge a portion of our exposure to market risks, including interest rate, prepayment, extension and
liquidity risks. The objective of our risk management strategy is to reduce fluctuations in net book value over a range of interest rate scenarios. In particular,
we attempt to mitigate the risk of the cost of our variable rate liabilities increasing during a period of rising interest rates. The primary instruments that we use
are interest rate swaps, options to enter into interest rate swaps ("swaptions"), U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. Treasury futures contracts. We also use
forward contracts in the Agency RMBS "to-be-announced" market, or TBA securities, to invest in and finance Agency securities as well as to periodically
reduce our exposure to Agency RMBS.

We account for derivative instruments in accordance with ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging ("ASC 815"). ASC 815 requires an entity to
recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets and to measure those instruments at fair value. None of
our derivative instruments have been designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes under the provisions of ASC 815, consequently changes in
the fair value of our derivative instruments are reported in gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net in our consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Our derivative agreements generally contain provisions that allow for netting or setting off derivative assets and liabilities with the counterparty;
however, we report related assets and liabilities on a gross basis in our consolidated balance sheets. Derivative instruments in a gain position are reported as
derivative assets at fair value and derivative instruments in a loss position are reported as derivative liabilities at fair value in our consolidated balance sheets.
Changes in fair value of derivative instruments and periodic settlements related to our derivative instruments are recorded in gain (loss) on derivative
instruments and other securities, net in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Cash receipts and payments related to derivative instruments
are classified in our consolidated statements of cash flows according to the underlying nature or purpose of the derivative transaction, generally in the
investing section.

The use of derivative instruments creates exposure to credit risk relating to potential losses that could be recognized if the counterparties to these
instruments fail to perform their obligations under the contracts. Our derivative agreements require that we post or receive collateral to mitigate such risk. We
also attempt to minimize our risk of loss by limiting our counterparties to registered central clearing exchanges and major financial institutions with
acceptable credit ratings, monitoring positions with individual counterparties and adjusting posted collateral as required.

Interest rate swap agreements

We use interest rate swaps to economically hedge the variable cash flows associated with our borrowings made under repurchase agreements. Under our
interest rate swap agreements, we typically pay a fixed rate and receive a floating rate based on one or three-month LIBOR ("payer swaps") with terms up to
20 years. The majority of our interest rate swaps are centrally cleared through a registered commodities exchange. We value centrally cleared interest rate
swaps using the daily settlement price, or fair value, determined by the clearing exchange based on a pricing model that references observable market inputs,
including LIBOR, swap rates and the forward yield curve. Our centrally cleared swaps require that we post an "initial margin" amount determined by the
clearing exchange, which is generally intended to be set at a level sufficient to protect the exchange from the interest rate swap's maximum estimated single-
day price movement. We also exchange daily settlements of "variation margin" based upon changes in fair value, as measured by the exchange. Pursuant to
rules governing central clearing activities, we recognize variation margin settlements as a direct reduction of the carrying value of the interest rate swap asset
or liability.

We value non-centrally cleared swaps using a combination of third-party valuations obtained from pricing services and the swap counterparty. The
third-party valuations are model-driven using observable inputs, including LIBOR, swap rates and the forward yield curve. We also consider both our own
and our counterparties' nonperformance risk in estimating the fair value of our interest rate swaps. In considering the effect of nonperformance risk, we assess
the impact of netting and credit enhancements, such as collateral postings and guarantees, and have concluded that our own and our counterparty risk is not
significant to the overall valuation of these agreements.

Interest rate swaptions

We purchase interest rate swaptions to help mitigate the potential impact of larger, more rapid changes in interest rates on the performance of our
investment portfolio. Interest rate swaptions provide us the option to enter into an interest rate swap agreement for a predetermined notional amount, stated
term and pay and receive interest rates in the future. Our interest rate swaption agreements are not subject to central clearing. The premium paid for interest
rate swaptions is reported as an asset in our consolidated balance sheets. We estimate the fair value of interest rate swaptions using a combination of inputs
from counterparty and third-party pricing models based on the fair value of the future interest rate swap that we have the option to enter into as well as the
remaining length of time that we have to exercise the option, adjusted for non-performance risk, if any. The difference
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between the premium paid and the fair value of the swaption is reported in gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net in our consolidated
statements of comprehensive income. If a swaption expires unexercised, the realized loss on the swaption would be equal to the premium paid. If we sell or
exercise a swaption, the realized gain or loss on the swaption would be equal to the difference between the cash or the fair value of the underlying interest rate
swap and the premium paid.

TBA securities

A TBA security is a forward contract for the purchase or sale of Agency RMBS at a predetermined price, face amount, issuer, coupon and stated
maturity on an agreed-upon future date. The specific Agency RMBS to be delivered into the contract are not known until shortly before the settlement date.
We may choose, prior to settlement, to move the settlement of these securities out to a later date by entering into an offsetting TBA position, net settling the
offsetting positions for cash, and simultaneously purchasing or selling a similar TBA contract for a later settlement date (together referred to as a "dollar roll
transaction"). The Agency securities purchased or sold for a forward settlement date are typically priced at a discount to equivalent securities settling in the
current month. This difference, or "price drop," is the economic equivalent of interest income on the underlying Agency securities, less an implied funding
cost, over the forward settlement period (referred to as "dollar roll income"). Consequently, forward purchases of Agency securities and dollar roll
transactions represent a form of off-balance sheet financing.

We account for TBA contracts as derivative instruments since either the TBA contracts do not settle in the shortest period of time possible or we cannot
assert that it is probable at inception and throughout the term of the TBA contract that we will physically settle the contract on the settlement date. We account
for TBA dollar roll transactions as a series of derivative transactions. We estimate the fair value of TBA securities based on similar methods used to value our
Agency RMBS securities.

U.S. Treasury securities

We use U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. Treasury futures contracts to mitigate the potential impact of changes in interest rates on the performance of
our portfolio. We borrow U.S. Treasury securities under reverse repurchase agreements to cover short sales of U.S. Treasury securities. We account for these
as securities borrowing transactions and recognize an obligation to return the borrowed securities at fair value on our accompanying consolidated balance
sheets based on the value of the underlying U.S. Treasury security as of the reporting date. Gains and losses associated with U.S. Treasury securities and U.S.
Treasury futures contracts are recognized in gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net in our consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.

Variable Interest Entities

ASC Topic 810, Consolidation ("ASC 810"), requires an enterprise to consolidate a variable interest entity ("VIE") if it is deemed the primary
beneficiary of the VIE. Further, ASC 810 requires a qualitative assessment to determine the primary beneficiary of a VIE and ongoing assessments of whether
an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of a VIE as well as additional disclosures for entities that have variable interests in VIEs. Prior to fiscal year 2016, we
entered into transactions involving CMO trusts for which we determined we are the primary beneficiary given our level of control in the selection of Agency
RMBS assets transferred to the CMO trust. Agency RMBS transferred to consolidated VIEs are reported on our consolidated balance sheets in Agency
securities transferred to consolidated VIEs, at fair value and can only be used to settle the obligations of each respective VIE.

We elected the option to account for the consolidated debt at fair value, with changes in fair value reflected in earnings during the period in which they
occur, because we believe this election more appropriately reflects our financial position as both the consolidated assets and consolidated debt are presented
in a consistent manner on our consolidated balance sheets. We estimate the fair value of the consolidated debt based on the fair value of the Agency RMBS
transferred to consolidated VIEs, less the fair value of our retained interests, which are measured on a market approach using "Level 2" inputs from third-
party pricing services and dealer quotes. The fair value of the Agency RMBS transferred to the consolidated VIEs and the fair value of our retained interests
are based on more observable inputs than inputs used to independently determine the value of our consolidated debt. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, debt
of consolidated VIEs, at fair value, was $275 million and $357 million, respectively, had a weighted average interest rate of LIBOR plus 40 and 37 basis
points, respectively, and an estimated weighted average life of 6.1 years and 5.7 years, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards made to employees and independent directors based on their fair
values. Stock-based awards issued under our equity incentive plan include time-based and performance-based restricted stock unit awards ("RSU" and "PSU"
awards, respectively). An RSU and PSU awards are an agreement to issue an equivalent number of shares of our common stock, plus any equivalent shares
for dividends declared on our common stock, at the time the award vests, or later if distribution of such shares has been deferred beyond the vesting date.
RSU awards vest over a specified service period. PSU awards vest over a specified service period subject to achieving long-term performance criteria.
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We value RSU and PSU awards based on the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense is recognized over each
award’s respective service period. In the case of PSU awards, we estimate the probability that the performance criteria will be achieved and recognize expense
only for those awards expected to vest. We reevaluate our estimates each reporting period and recognize a cumulative effect adjustment to expense if our
estimates change from the prior period. We do not estimate forfeiture rates; rather, we adjust for forfeitures in the periods in which they occur.

Shares underlying RSU and PSU awards are issued on the vesting dates, or later if distribution of such shares has been deferred beyond the vesting date,
net of any minimum statutory tax withholdings to be paid by us on behalf of our employees. As a result, the actual number of shares issued will be fewer than
the actual number of awards outstanding. When awards vest, we record a liability for withholding amounts to be paid by us as a reduction to additional paid-
in capital.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset, Net

Goodwill is the cost of an acquisition in excess of the fair value of identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed and is recognized as an asset on our
consolidated balance sheets. Acquired intangible assets that do not meet the criteria for recognition as a separate asset are included in goodwill. Goodwill is
not subject to amortization but must be tested for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets meeting the criteria for recognition as separate assets are
recorded at their respective fair market values at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets with an estimated useful life are amortized over their expected
useful life.

As of December 31, 2018, we had $526 million of goodwill and, as of December 31, 2017, we had $526 million of goodwill and an intangible asset of
$25 million associated with our management of MTGE Investment Corp. ("MTGE") (Nasdaq: MTGE) reported in goodwill and other intangible asset, net in
our accompanying consolidated balance sheets related to our acquisition of AMM. We test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis and at interim periods
when events or circumstances may make it more likely than not that an impairment has occurred. If a qualitative analysis indicates that there may be an
impairment, a quantitative analysis is performed.  The quantitative analysis requires that we compare the carrying value of the identified reporting unit
comprising the goodwill to the reporting unit's fair value.  If the reporting units' carrying value is greater than its fair value, an impairment charge is
recognized to the extent the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value.  During fiscal years 2018, 2017 or 2016, we did not recognize a
goodwill impairment charge. During fiscal year 2018, we wrote-off the unamortized intangible asset balance due to the sale of MTGE to a third-party and
corresponding termination of its management agreement (see Note 12).

Loss Contingencies

We evaluate the existence of any pending or threatened litigation or other potential claims against the Company in accordance with ASC Topic 450,
Contingencies, which requires that we assess the likelihood and range of potential outcomes of any such matters. We are the defendant in three stockholder
derivative lawsuits alleging that certain of our current and former directors and officers breached fiduciary duties and wasted corporate assets relating to past
renewals of the management agreement with our former external manager and the internalization of our management on July 1, 2016. Although the outcomes
of these cases cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that these cases have merit or will result in a material liability, and, as of December 31,
2018, we did not accrue a loss contingency related to these matters.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We consider the applicability and impact of all ASUs issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board. ASUs not listed below were determined to
be either not applicable, are not expected to have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements when adopted or did not have a significant
impact on our consolidated financial statements upon adoption.

ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): ASU 2016-13 changes the impairment model for most financial assets and certain
other instruments. Allowances for credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities will be recognized, rather than direct reductions in the amortized cost of
the investments. The new model also requires the estimation of lifetime expected credit losses and corresponding recognition of allowance for losses on trade
and other receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities, loans, and other instruments held at amortized cost. The ASU requires certain recurring disclosures
and is effective for annual periods, and interim periods within those annual periods, beginning on or after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted
for annual periods, and interim periods within those annual periods, beginning on or after December 15, 2018. ASU 2016-13 is not expected to have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

ASU 2016-2, Leases (Topic 842): ASU 2016-2 requires lessees to recognize virtually all their leases on the balance sheet by recording a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability. The lease liability will be measured at the present value of lease payments and the right-of-use asset will be based on the lease
liability value, subject to adjustments. Leases can be classified as either operating leases or finance leases. Operating leases will result in straight-line lease
expense, while finance leases will result in front-loaded
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expense. This guidance is effective for the Company on January 1, 2019. We have evaluated ASU 2016-2 and determined that it will not have a significant
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 3. Investment Securities

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our investment portfolio consisted of $84.3 billion and $57.1 billion of investment securities, at fair value,
respectively, and $7.3 billion and $15.7 billion of TBA securities, at fair value, respectively. Our TBA position is reported at its net carrying value of $70
million and $3 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, in derivative assets / (liabilities) on our accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
The net carrying value of our TBA position represents the difference between the fair value of the underlying Agency security in the TBA contract and the
cost basis or the forward price to be paid or received for the underlying Agency security.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our investment securities had a net unamortized premium balance of $2.9 billion and $2.7 billion, respectively,
including interest and principal-only securities.

The following tables summarize our investment securities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, excluding TBA securities, (dollars in millions). Details of
our TBA securities as of each of the respective dates are included in Note 5.

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Investment Securities  
Amortized

Cost  Fair Value  
Amortized

Cost  Fair Value

Agency RMBS:         

Fixed rate  $ 83,047  $ 81,753  $ 55,477  $ 55,026

Adjustable rate  212  213  278  283

CMO  588  583  629  631

Interest-only and principal-only strips  172  178  213  228

Total Agency RMBS  84,019  82,727  56,597  56,168

Non-Agency RMBS  264  266  7  7

CMBS  280  282  28  29

CRT securities  1,006  1,012  834  876

Total investment securities  $ 85,569  $ 84,287  $ 57,466  $ 57,080

  December 31, 2018

  Agency RMBS  Non-Agency     

Investment Securities  Fannie Mae  Freddie Mac  
Ginnie
Mae  RMBS  CMBS  CRT  Total

Available-for-sale securities:               

Par value  $ 17,591  $ 5,673  $ 25  $ 6  $ —  $ —  $ 23,295

Unamortized discount  (10)  (2)  —  —  —  —  (12)

Unamortized premium  912  343  —  —  —  —  1,255

Amortized cost  18,493  6,014  25  6  —  —  24,538

Gross unrealized gains  4  2  1  —  —  —  7

Gross unrealized losses  (686)  (264)  —  —  —  —  (950)

Total available-for-sale securities, at fair value  17,811  5,752  26  6  —  —  23,595

Securities remeasured at fair value through earnings:               

Par value  39,453  18,428  —  268  281  968  59,398

Unamortized discount  (78)  (9)  —  (10)  (6)  —  (103)

Unamortized premium  1,055  638  —  —  5  38  1,736

Amortized cost  40,430  19,057  —  258  280  1,006  61,031

Gross unrealized gains  223  57  —  2  3  18  303

Gross unrealized losses  (386)  (243)  —  —  (1)  (12)  (642)

Total securities remeasured at fair value through earnings  40,267  18,871  —  260  282  1,012  60,692

Total securities, at fair value  $ 58,078  $ 24,623  $ 26  $ 266  $ 282  $ 1,012  $ 84,287

Weighted average coupon as of December 31, 2018  3.82%  3.87%  3.37%  3.83%  4.58%  5.86%  3.86%

Weighted average yield as of December 31, 2018 1  3.28%  3.28%  2.04%  4.22%  4.68%  5.16%  3.31%
 ________________________________
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1. Incorporates a weighted average future constant prepayment rate assumption of 7.9% based on forward rates as of December 31, 2018.

  December 31, 2017

  Agency RMBS  Non-Agency     

Investment Securities  
Fannie 

Mae  Freddie Mac  
Ginnie 

Mae  RMBS  CMBS  CRT  Total

Available-for-sale securities:               

Par value  $ 24,200  $ 8,219  $ 34  $ 7  $ —  $ —  $ 32,460

Unamortized discount  (25)  (3)  —  —  —  —  (28)

Unamortized premium  1,119  447  —  —  —  —  1,566

Amortized cost  25,294  8,663  34  7  —  —  33,998

Gross unrealized gains  98  22  1  —  —  —  121

Gross unrealized losses  (325)  (141)  —  —  —  —  (466)

Total available-for-sale securities, at fair value  25,067  8,544  35  7  —  —  33,653

Securities remeasured at fair value through earnings:               

Par value  13,558  7,956  —  —  29  801  22,344

Unamortized discount  (34)  —  —  —  (1)  —  (35)

Unamortized premium  711  415  —  —  —  33  1,159

Amortized cost  14,235  8,371  —  —  28  834  23,468

Gross unrealized gains  26  2  —  —  1  42  71

Gross unrealized losses  (70)  (42)  —  —  —  —  (112)

Total securities remeasured at fair value through earnings  14,191  8,331  —  —  29  876  23,427

Total securities, at fair value  $ 39,258  $ 16,875  $ 35  $ 7  $ 29  $ 876  $ 57,080

Weighted average coupon as of December 31, 2017  3.67%  3.73%  2.84%  2.50%  6.55%  5.26%  3.71%

Weighted average yield as of December 31, 2017 1  2.84%  2.87%  2.02%  3.08%  7.30%  5.19%  2.89%
 ________________________________

1. Incorporates a weighted average future constant prepayment rate assumption of 8.4% based on forward rates as of December 31, 2017.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our investments in CRT and non-Agency securities had the following credit ratings:

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

CRT and Non-Agency Security Credit Ratings 1  CRT  RMBS  CMBS  CRT  RMBS  CMBS

AAA  $ —  $ 160  $ 52  $ —  $ 7  $ —

AA  —  17  152  —  —  —

A  17  33  15  1  —  —

BBB  25  43  53  34  —  29

BB  492  8  10  370  —  —

B  453  2  —  455  —  —

Not Rated  25  3  —  16  —  —

Total  $ 1,012  $ 266  $ 282  $ 876  $ 7  $ 29
 ________________________________

1. Represents the lowest of Standard and Poor's ("S&P"), Moody's, Fitch, DBRS, Kroll Bond Rating Agency ("KBRA") and Morningstar credit ratings, stated in terms of the S&P
equivalent rating as of each date.

Our CRT securities reference the performance of loans underlying Agency RMBS issued by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, which were subject to their
underwriting standards. As of December 31, 2018, our CRT securities had floating rate coupons ranging from 3.9% to 9.5%, referenced to loans originated
between 2011 and 2018 with weighted average coupons ranging from 3.8% to 4.8%. As of 2017, our CRT securities had floating rate coupons ranging from
3.9% to 8.5%, referenced to loans originated between 2012 and 2017 with weighted average coupons ranging from 3.6% to 4.4%.

The actual maturities of our investment securities are generally shorter than their stated contractual maturities. Actual maturities are affected by the
contractual lives of the underlying mortgages, periodic contractual principal payments and principal prepayments. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
weighted average expected constant prepayment rate ("CPR") over the remaining life of our aggregate investment portfolio was 7.9% and 8.4%, respectively.
Our estimates can differ materially for different securities and thus our individual holdings have a wide range of projected CPRs. The following table
summarizes our investments as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 according to their estimated weighted average life classification (dollars in millions):
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  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Estimated Weighted Average Life of
Investment Securities  Fair Value  

Amortized
Cost  

Weighted
Average
Coupon  

Weighted
Average

Yield  Fair Value  
Amortized

Cost  
Weighted
Average
Coupon  

Weighted
Average

Yield

≥ 1 year and ≤ 3 years  $ 1,690  $ 1,716  3.99%  2.64%  $ 2,712  $ 2,693  3.90%  2.67%

> 3 years and ≤ 5 years  5,518  5,586  3.35%  2.73%  7,499  7,518  3.31%  2.39%

> 5 years and ≤10 years  72,503  73,588  3.92%  3.37%  45,977  46,398  3.75%  2.95%

> 10 years  4,576  4,679  3.57%  3.30%  892  857  4.87%  4.74%

Total  $ 84,287  $ 85,569  3.86%  3.31%  $ 57,080  $ 57,466  3.71%  2.89%

The following table presents the gross unrealized loss and fair values of securities classified as available-for-sale by length of time that such securities
have been in a continuous unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in millions):

  Unrealized Loss Position For

  Less than 12 Months  12 Months or More  Total

Securities Classified as Available-for-Sale  
Fair

Value  
Unrealized

Loss  Fair Value  
Unrealized

Loss  
Fair

Value  
Unrealized

Loss

December 31, 2018  $ 4,783  $ (72)  $ 18,231  $ (878)  $ 23,014  $ (950)

December 31, 2017  $ 3,582  $ (15)  $ 20,577  $ (451)  $ 24,159  $ (466)

We did not recognize OTTI charges on our investment securities during the periods presented on our consolidated statements of operations. As of the
end of each respective reporting period, a decision had not been made to sell securities in an unrealized loss position and we did not believe it was more likely
than not that we would be required to sell such securities before recovery of their amortized cost basis. The unrealized losses on our securities were not due to
credit losses given the GSE or U.S. Government agency guarantees, but rather were due to changes in interest rates and prepayment expectations. However,
as we continue to actively manage our portfolio, we may recognize additional realized losses on our investment securities upon selecting specific securities to
sell.

Gains and Losses on Sale of Investment Securities

The following table is a summary of our net gain (loss) from the sale of investment securities for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 by investment
classification of accounting (in millions):

  Fiscal Year 2018  Fiscal Year 2017  Fiscal Year 2016

Investment Securities  
Available-for-

Sale
Securities 2

Fair Value
Option

Securities Total  
Available-for-

Sale
Securities 2

Fair Value
Option

Securities Total  
Available-for-

Sale
Securities 2

Fair Value
Option

Securities Total

Investment securities sold, at cost  $ (4,306) $ (5,344) $ (9,650)  $ (6,324) $ (12,913) $ (19,237)  $ (17,907) $ — $ (17,907)

Proceeds from investment securities sold 1  4,227 5,286 9,513  6,241 12,933 19,174  18,016 — 18,016

Net gain (loss) on sale of investment securities  $ (79) $ (58) $ (137)  $ (83) $ 20 $ (63)  $ 109 $ — $ 109

             

Gross gain on sale of investment securities  $ 6 $ 16 $ 22  $ 16 $ 48 $ 64  $ 123 $ — $ 123

Gross loss on sale of investment securities  (85) (74) (159)  (99) (28) (127)  (14) — (14)

Net gain (loss) on sale of investment securities  $ (79) $ (58) $ (137)  $ (83) $ 20 $ (63)  $ 109 $ — $ 109
  ________________________________

1. Proceeds include cash received during the period, plus receivable for investment securities sold during the period as of period end.
2. See Note 9 for a summary of changes in accumulated OCI.  

Consolidated Variable Interest Entities

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our consolidated financial statements reflect the consolidation of certain variable interest entities ("VIEs") for
which we have determined we are the primary beneficiary. The consolidated VIEs consist of CMO trusts backed by fixed or adjustable-rate Agency RMBS.
Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac guarantees the payment of interest and principal and acts as the trustee and administrator of their respective securitization trusts.
Accordingly, we are not required to provide the beneficial interest holders of the CMO securities any financial or other support. Our maximum exposure to
loss related to our involvement with the CMO trusts is the fair value of the CMO securities and interest and principal-only securities held by us, less principal
amounts guaranteed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.
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Note 4. Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements

Repurchase Agreements

We pledge our securities as collateral under our borrowings structured as repurchase agreements with financial institutions. Interest rates on our
borrowings are generally based on LIBOR plus or minus a margin and amounts available to be borrowed are dependent upon the fair value of the securities
pledged as collateral, which fluctuates with changes in interest rates, type of security and liquidity conditions within the banking, mortgage finance and real
estate industries. If the fair value of our pledged securities declines, lenders will typically require us to post additional collateral or pay down borrowings to
re-establish agreed upon collateral requirements, referred to as "margin calls." Similarly, if the fair value of our pledged securities increases, lenders may
release collateral back to us. As of December 31, 2018, we had met all margin call requirements. For additional information regarding our pledged assets,
please refer to Note 6.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had $75.7 billion and $50.3 billion, respectively, of repurchase agreements outstanding used to fund our
investment portfolio. The terms and conditions of our repurchase agreements are typically negotiated on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Our repurchase
agreements with original maturities greater than one year have floating interest rates based on an index plus or minus a fixed spread. The following table
summarizes our borrowings under repurchase agreements by their remaining maturities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (dollars in millions):

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Remaining Maturity  
Repurchase
Agreements  

Weighted
Average
Interest

Rate  
Weighted

Average Days
to Maturity  

Repurchase
Agreements  

Weighted
Average
Interest

Rate  
Weighted

Average Days
to Maturity

≤ 1 month  $ 48,533  2.88%  9  $ 19,771  1.59%  11

> 1 to ≤ 3 months  20,991  2.57%  56  16,150  1.50%  50

> 3 to ≤ 6 months  2,218  2.65%  167  7,287  1.50%  130

> 6 to ≤ 9 months  200  3.19%  208  2,361  1.66%  225

> 9 to ≤ 12 months  950  2.80%  279  202  1.64%  297

> 12 to ≤ 24 months  2,200  2.91%  438  1,700  1.84%  468

> 24 to ≤ 36 months  625  3.11%  776  2,200  1.80%  803

> 36 to ≤ 48 months  —  —%  —  625  1.90%  1,141

  Total  $ 75,717  2.79%  49  $ 50,296  1.57%  116

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, $19.5 billion and $5.3 billion, respectively, of our repurchase agreements had a remaining maturity of one business
day and none of our repurchase agreements were due on demand. As of December 31, 2018, we had $10.7 billion of forward commitments to enter into
repurchase agreements, with a weighted average forward start date of 9 days and a weighted average interest rate of 2.90%. As of December 31, 2018 and
2017, 35% and 33%, respectively, of our repurchase agreement funding was sourced through our wholly-owned captive broker-dealer subsidiary, Bethesda
Securities, LLC ("BES"). Amounts sourced through BES include funding from the General Collateral Finance Repo service ("GCF Repo") offered by the
Fixed Income Clearing Corporation ("FICC"), which totaled 33% and 30% of our repurchase agreement funding outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had $21.8 billion and $11.0 billion, respectively, of reverse repurchase agreements outstanding used primarily to
borrow securities to cover short sales of U.S. Treasury securities, for which we had associated obligations to return borrowed securities at fair value of $21.4
billion and $10.5 billion, respectively. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, $4.5 billion and $2.7 billion, respectively, of our reverse repurchase agreements
were with the FICC sourced through BES.

Note 5. Derivative and Other Hedging Instruments

We hedge a portion of our interest rate risk by entering into interest rate swaps, interest rate swaptions and U.S. Treasury securities and U.S. Treasury
futures contracts, primarily through short sales. We may also utilize TBA securities, options and other types of derivative instruments to hedge a portion of
our risk. For additional information regarding our derivative instruments and our overall risk management strategy, please refer to the discussion of derivative
and other hedging instruments in Note 2.
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Derivative and Other Hedging Instrument Assets (Liabilities), at Fair Value

The table below summarizes fair value information about our derivative and other hedging instrument assets/(liabilities) as of December 31, 2018 and
2017 (in millions):

    December 31,

Derivative and Other Hedging Instruments  Balance Sheet Location  2018  2017

Interest rate swaps  Derivative assets, at fair value  $ 126  $ 81

Swaptions  Derivative assets, at fair value  37  75

TBA securities  Derivative assets, at fair value  110  30

U.S. Treasury futures - short  Derivative assets, at fair value  —  19

Total derivative assets, at fair value    $ 273  $ 205

       

Interest rate swaps  Derivative liabilities, at fair value  $ —  $ (1)

TBA securities  Derivative liabilities, at fair value  (40)  (27)

U.S. Treasury futures - short  Derivative liabilities, at fair value  (44)  —

Total derivative liabilities, at fair value    $ (84)  $ (28)

       

U.S. Treasury securities - long  U.S. Treasury securities, at fair value  $ 46  $ —

U.S. Treasury securities - short  
Obligation to return securities borrowed under reverse
repurchase agreements, at fair value  (21,431)  (10,467)

Total U.S. Treasury securities, net at fair value    $ (21,385)  $ (10,467)

The following tables summarize certain characteristics of our derivative and other hedging instruments outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017
(dollars in millions):

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Interest Rate Swaps  
Notional
Amount 1  

Average
Fixed Pay 

Rate 2  
Average
Receive

Rate  
Average
Maturity
(Years)  

Notional
Amount 1  

Average
Fixed Pay 

Rate 2  
Average
Receive

Rate  
Average
Maturity
(Years)

≤ 3 years  $ 19,900  1.63%  2.62%  1.3  $ 21,025  1.40%  1.46%  1.5

> 3 to ≤ 5 years  8,425  2.06%  2.61%  4.0  6,825  1.82%  1.43%  4.1

> 5 to ≤ 7 years  7,875  2.66%  2.66%  6.1  5,775  2.02%  1.44%  5.9

> 7 to ≤ 10 years  10,550  2.36%  2.64%  8.8  6,650  2.10%  1.42%  9.1

> 10 years  4,875  2.77%  2.63%  11.6  3,425  2.49%  1.45%  12.9

Total  $ 51,625  2.11%  2.63%  5.0  $ 43,700  1.74%  1.44%  4.5
________________________________

1. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, notional amount includes forward starting swaps of $5.7 billion and $4.6 billion, respectively, with an average forward start date of 0.5 and 0.3 years,
respectively.

2. Average fixed pay rate includes forward starting swaps. Excluding forward starting swaps, the average fixed pay rate was 1.98% and 1.68% as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
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Swaptions  Option  Underlying Payer Swap

Current Option Expiration Date  Cost Basis  Fair Value  

Average
Months to

Current Option
Expiration

Date 1  
Notional
Amount  

Average Fixed
Pay
Rate  

Average
Receive

Rate
(LIBOR)  

Average
Term

(Years)

December 31, 2018               
≤ 1 year  $ 80  $ 23  4  $ 3,000  2.96%  3M  7.0

> 1 year ≤ 2 years  18  14  18  500  2.78%  3M  10.0

Total  $ 98  $ 37  6  $ 3,500  2.93%  3M  7.4

               

December 31, 2017               
≤ 1 year  $ 118  $ 46  7  $ 5,100  2.71%  3M  8.8

> 1 year ≤ 2 years  23  16  18  1,050  2.71%  3M  8.7

> 2 year ≤ 3 years  18  13  30  500  2.78%  3M  10.0

Total  $ 159  $ 75  10  $ 6,650  2.72%  3M  8.9
________________________________

1. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, ≤ 1 year notional amount includes $700 million of Bermudan swaptions where the options may be exercised on predetermined dates up to their final
exercise date, which is six months prior to the underlying swaps' maturity date.

U.S. Treasury Securities  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Maturity  
Face Amount

(Short)  Cost Basis 1  Fair Value  
Face Amount

(Short)  Cost Basis 1  Fair Value

5 years  $ (703)  $ (706)  $ (713)  $ (288)  $ (286)  $ (283)

7 years  (14,357)  (14,325)  (14,410)  (6,131)  (6,106)  (6,029)

10 years  (6,240)  (6,224)  (6,262)  (4,280)  (4,230)  (4,155)

Total U.S. Treasury securities  $ (21,300)  $ (21,255)  $ (21,385)  $ (10,699)  $ (10,622)  $ (10,467)
________________________________

1. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, U.S. Treasury securities had a weighted average yield of 2.66% and 2.12%, respectively.

 U.S. Treasury Futures  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Maturity  
Notional 

Amount - Long
(Short)  Cost

Basis  Fair
Value  Net Carrying

Value 1  
Notional 

Amount - Long
(Short)  Cost

Basis  Fair
Value  Net Carrying

Value 1

5 years  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ (730)  $ (852)  $ (848)  $ 4

10 years  (1,650)  (1,969)  (2,013)  (44)  (2,180)  (2,718)  (2,703)  15

Total U.S. Treasury futures  $ (1,650)  $ (1,969)  $ (2,013)  $ (44)  $ (2,910)  $ (3,570)  $ (3,551)  $ 19
________________________________

1. Net carrying value represents the difference between the fair market value and the cost basis (or the forward price to be paid/(received) for the underlying U.S. Treasury security) of the
U.S. Treasury futures contract as of period-end and is reported in derivative assets/(liabilities), at fair value in our consolidated balance sheets.
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  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

TBA Securities by Coupon  
Notional 

Amount - Long
(Short)  Cost

Basis  Fair
Value  Net Carrying

Value 1  
Notional 

Amount - Long
(Short)  Cost

Basis  Fair
Value  Net Carrying

Value 1

15-Year TBA securities:                 

2.5%  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 1,373  $ 1,372  $ 1,370  $ (2)

3.0%  567  557  566  9  3,161  3,225  3,217  (8)

3.5%  1,706  1,708  1,726  18  414  428  428  —

4.0%  1,350  1,370  1,381  11  —  —  —  —

Total 15-Year TBA securities  3,623  3,635  3,673  38  4,948  5,025  5,015  (10)

30-Year TBA securities:                 

3.0%  1,028  981  1,003  22  4,317  4,303  4,312  9

3.5%  (2,979)  (2,943)  (2,977)  (34)  3,932  4,027  4,034  7

4.0%  3,030  3,073  3,089  16  2,338  2,449  2,446  (3)

≥ 4.5%  2,450  2,506  2,534  28  (61)  (65)  (65)  —

Total 30-Year TBA securities, net  3,529  3,617  3,649  32  10,526  10,714  10,727  13

Total TBA securities, net  $ 7,152  $ 7,252  $ 7,322  $ 70  $ 15,474  $ 15,739  $ 15,742  $ 3
________________________________

1. Net carrying value represents the difference between the fair market value and the cost basis (or the forward price to be paid/(received) for the underlying Agency security) of the TBA
contract as of period-end and is reported in derivative assets/(liabilities), at fair value in our consolidated balance sheets.
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Gain (Loss) From Derivative Instruments and Other Securities, Net

The following table summarizes changes in our derivative and other hedge portfolio and their effect on our consolidated statements of
comprehensive income for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in millions):

Derivative and Other Hedging Instruments  
Beginning

Notional Amount  Additions  

Settlement,
Termination,
Expiration or

Exercise  
Ending

Notional Amount   

Gain/(Loss)
on Derivative

Instruments and
Other Securities, Net

1

Fiscal Year 2018:            
TBA securities, net  $ 15,474  194,534  (202,856)  $ 7,152   $ (299)

Interest rate swaps  $ 43,700  14,350  (6,425)  $ 51,625   140

Payer swaptions  $ 6,650  1,250  (4,400)  $ 3,500   90

U.S. Treasury securities - short position  $ (10,699)  (19,278)  8,632  $ (21,345)   (161)

U.S. Treasury securities - long position  $ —  1,949  (1,904)  $ 45   1

U.S. Treasury futures contracts - short position  $ (2,910)  (7,859)  9,119  $ (1,650)   48

           $ (181)

Fiscal Year 2017:            
TBA securities, net  $ 10,916  237,601  (233,043)  $ 15,474   $ 330

Interest rate swaps  $ 37,175  14,825  (8,300)  $ 43,700   67

Payer swaptions  $ 1,200  6,450  (1,000)  $ 6,650   (66)

U.S. Treasury securities - short position  $ (8,061)  (14,030)  11,392  $ (10,699)   (141)

U.S. Treasury securities - long position  $ 189  404  (593)  $ —   1

U.S. Treasury futures contracts - short position  $ (1,810)  (11,340)  10,240  $ (2,910)   —

           $ 191

Fiscal Year 2016:            
TBA securities, net  $ 7,295  116,439  (112,818)  $ 10,916   $ (59)

Interest rate swaps  $ 40,525  15,650  (19,000)  $ 37,175   (397)

Payer swaptions  $ 2,150  500  (1,450)  $ 1,200   (3)

U.S. Treasury securities - short position  $ (1,714)  (9,884)  3,537  $ (8,061)   7

U.S. Treasury securities - long position  $ 25  961  (797)  $ 189   134

U.S. Treasury futures contracts - short position  $ (1,860)  (7,840)  7,890  $ (1,810)   (5)

           $ (323)
________________________________

1. Amounts exclude other miscellaneous gains and losses recognized in gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net in our consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.

Note 6. Pledged Assets

Our funding agreements require us to fully collateralize our obligations under the agreements based upon our counterparties' collateral requirements and
their determination of the fair value of the securities pledged as collateral, which fluctuates with changes in interest rates, credit quality and liquidity
conditions within the investment banking, mortgage finance and real estate industries. Our derivative contracts similarly require us to fully collateralize our
obligations under such agreements, which will vary over time based on similar factors as well as our counterparties' determination of the value of the
derivative contract. We are typically required to post initial margin upon execution of derivative transactions, such as under our interest rate swap agreements
and TBA contracts, and subsequently post or receive variation margin based on daily fluctuations in fair value. Our prime brokerage agreements, pursuant to
which we receive custody and settlement services, and the clearing organizations utilized by our wholly-owned captive broker-dealer subsidiary, Bethesda
Securities, LLC, also require that we post minimum daily clearing deposits. If we breach our collateral requirements, we will be required to fully settle our
obligations under the agreements, which could include a forced liquidation of our pledged collateral.

Our counterparties also apply a "haircut" to our pledged collateral, which means our collateral is valued at slightly less than market value and limits the
amount we can borrow against our securities. This haircut reflects the underlying risk of the specific collateral and protects our counterparty against a change
in its value. Our agreements do not specify the haircut; rather haircuts are determined on an individual transaction basis. Consequently, our funding
agreements and derivative contracts expose us to credit risk relating to potential losses that could be recognized if our counterparties fail to perform their
obligations under such agreements. We minimize this risk by limiting our counterparties to major financial institutions with acceptable credit ratings or
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to registered clearinghouses and U.S. government agencies, and we monitor our positions with individual counterparties. In the event of a default by a
counterparty, we may have difficulty obtaining our assets pledged as collateral to such counterparty and may not receive payments provided for under the
terms of our derivative agreements. In the case of centrally cleared instruments, we could be exposed to credit risk if the central clearing agency or a clearing
member defaults on its respective obligation to perform under the contract. However, we believe that the risk is minimal due to the clearing exchanges' initial
and daily mark-to-market margin requirements, clearinghouse guarantee funds and other resources that are available in the event of a clearing member
default. As of December 31, 2018, our maximum amount at risk with any counterparty other than the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation related to our
repurchase agreements was less than 4% of our tangible stockholders' equity. As of December 31, 2018, approximately 8% of our tangible stockholder's
equity was at risk with the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation. Equity at risk is defined as the net carrying value of securities pledged under repurchase
agreements, including accrued interest plus any cash or assets on deposit to secure the repurchase obligation, less the amount of the repurchase liability,
including accrued interest.

Our International Swaps and Derivatives Association ("ISDA") Master Agreements contain a cross default provision under which a default under the
terms of certain of our other indebtedness in excess of certain thresholds causes an event of default under the ISDA Master Agreement. Threshold amounts
vary by lender. Following an event of default, we could be required to settle our obligations under the agreements. Additionally, under certain of our ISDA
Master Agreements, we could be required to settle our obligations under the agreements if we fail to maintain certain minimum stockholders' equity
thresholds or our REIT status or if we fail to comply with limits on our leverage up to certain specified levels. As of December 31, 2018, the fair value of
additional collateral that could be required to be posted as a result of the credit-risk-related contingent features being triggered was not material to our
financial statements.

Assets Pledged to Counterparties

The following tables summarize our assets pledged as collateral under our funding, derivative and prime broker agreements by type, including securities
pledged related to securities sold but not yet settled, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in millions):

  December 31, 2018

Assets Pledged to Counterparties 1  Repurchase Agreements
2  

Debt of Consolidated
VIEs  

Derivative
Agreements  

Prime Broker
Agreements 3  Total

Agency RMBS - fair value  $ 78,997  $ 436  $ 174  $ 133  $ 79,740

CRT - fair value  141  —  —  —  141

Non-Agency - fair value  45  —  —  —  45

U.S. Treasury securities - fair value  437  —  —  —  437

Accrued interest on pledged securities  246  1  1  —  248

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  77  —  522  —  599

Total  $ 79,943  $ 437  $ 697  $ 133  $ 81,210

  December 31, 2017

Assets Pledged to Counterparties 1  Repurchase Agreements
2  

Debt of Consolidated
VIEs  

Derivative
Agreements  

Prime Broker
Agreements 3  Total

Agency RMBS - fair value  $ 52,497  $ 662  $ 221  $ 519  $ 53,899

U.S. Treasury securities - fair value  113  —  72  —  185

Accrued interest on pledged securities  153  2  1  2  158

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  35  —  281  1  317

Total  $ 52,798  $ 664  $ 575  $ 522  $ 54,559
________________________________

1. Includes repledged assets received as collateral from counterparties.
2. Includes $163 million and $182 million of retained interests in our consolidated VIEs pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
3. Includes margin for TBAs cleared through prime brokers and other clearing deposits.

Securities transferred to our consolidated VIEs can only be used to settle the obligations of each respective VIE. However, we may pledge our retained
interests in our consolidated VIEs as collateral under our repurchase agreements and derivative contracts. Please refer to Note 3 for additional information
regarding our consolidated VIEs.
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The following table summarizes our securities pledged as collateral under our repurchase agreements by the remaining maturity of our borrowings,
including securities pledged related to sold but not yet settled securities, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in millions). For the corresponding borrowings
associated with the following amounts and the interest rates thereon, refer to Note 4.

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Securities Pledged by Remaining Maturity of Repurchase
Agreements 1,2  

Fair Value of
Pledged Securities  

Amortized
Cost of Pledged

Securities  

Accrued
Interest on

Pledged
Securities  

Fair Value of
Pledged Securities  

Amortized
Cost of Pledged

Securities  

Accrued
Interest on

Pledged
Securities

  ≤ 30 days  $ 49,944  $ 50,654  $ 156  $ 20,162  $ 20,313  $ 59

  > 30 and ≤ 60 days  14,586  14,810  46  12,950  13,061  38

  > 60 and ≤ 90 days  7,770  7,843  24  4,000  4,013  11

  > 90 days  6,882  7,079  21  15,385  15,512  45

Total  $ 79,182  $ 80,386  $ 247  $ 52,497  $ 52,899  $ 153
________________________________

1. Includes $163 million and $182 million of retained interests in our consolidated VIEs pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
2. December 31, 2018 amounts exclude $437 million of repledged U.S. Treasury securities received as collateral from counterparties.

Assets Pledged from Counterparties

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had assets pledged to us from counterparties as collateral under our reverse repurchase and derivative
agreements summarized in the tables below (in millions).

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Assets Pledged to AGNC 1  
Reverse

Repurchase
Agreements  

Derivative
Agreements  

Repurchase
Agreements  Total  

Reverse
Repurchase
Agreements  

Derivative
Agreements  

Repurchase
Agreements  Total

U.S. Treasury securities - fair value  $ 21,876  $ 35  $ 37  $ 21,948  $ 10,853  $ —  $ —  $ 10,853

Cash  —  129  —  129  —  82  —  82

Total  $ 21,876  $ 164  $ 37  $ 22,077  $ 10,853  $ 82  $ —  $ 10,935
________________________________

1. Includes repledged collateral.

U.S Treasury securities received as collateral under our reverse repurchase agreements for which we use to cover short sales of U.S. Treasury securities
are accounted for as securities borrowing transactions. We recognize a corresponding obligation to return the borrowed securities at fair value on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets based on the value of the underlying borrowed securities as of the reporting date.

Cash collateral received is recognized in cash and cash equivalents with a corresponding amount recognized in accounts payable and other accrued
liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

Certain of our repurchase agreements and derivative transactions are governed by underlying agreements that generally provide for a right of setoff
under master netting arrangements (or similar agreements), including in the event of default or in the event of bankruptcy of either party to the transactions.
We present our assets and liabilities subject to such arrangements on a gross basis in our consolidated balance sheets. The following tables present
information about our assets and liabilities that are subject to master netting arrangements and can potentially be offset on our consolidated balance sheets as
of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in millions):
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  Offsetting of Financial and Derivative Assets

  Gross Amounts
of Recognized

Assets

 Gross Amounts
Offset in the
Consolidated

Balance Sheets

 
Net Amounts of
Assets Presented

in the
Consolidated

Balance Sheets

 
Gross Amounts Not Offset

 in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets  

Net Amount     
Financial

Instruments  
Collateral
Received 2  

December 31, 2018             

Interest rate swap and swaption agreements, at fair value 1  $ 163  $ —  $ 163  $ —  $ (158)  $ 5

TBA securities, at fair value  110  —  110  (40)  —  70

Receivable under reverse repurchase agreements  21,813  —  21,813  (17,236)  (4,575)  2

Total  $ 22,086  $ —  $ 22,086  $ (17,276)  $ (4,733)  $ 77

             

December 31, 2017             

Interest rate swap and swaption agreements, at fair value 1  $ 156  $ —  $ 156  $ (1)  $ (82)  $ 73

TBA securities, at fair value  30  —  30  (22)  —  8

Receivable under reverse repurchase agreements  10,961  —  10,961  (9,682)  (1,279)  —

Total  $ 11,147  $ —  $ 11,147  $ (9,705)  $ (1,361)  $ 81

  Offsetting of Financial and Derivative Liabilities

  Gross Amounts
of Recognized

Liabilities

 Gross Amounts
Offset in the
Consolidated

Balance Sheets

 
Net Amounts of

Liabilities
Presented in the

Consolidated
Balance Sheets

 
Gross Amounts Not Offset

 in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets  

Net Amount     
Financial

Instruments  
Collateral
Pledged 2  

December 31, 2018             

Interest rate swap agreements, at fair value 1  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —

TBA securities, at fair value  40  —  40  (40)  —  —

Repurchase agreements  75,717  —  75,717  (17,236)  (58,481)  —

Total  $ 75,757  $ —  $ 75,757  $ (17,276)  $ (58,481)  $ —

             

December 31, 2017             

Interest rate swap agreements, at fair value 1  $ 1  $ —  $ 1  $ (1)  $ —  $ —

TBA securities, at fair value  27  —  27  (22)  (5)  —

Repurchase agreements and FHLB advances  50,296  —  50,296  (9,682)  (40,614)  —

Total  $ 50,324  $ —  $ 50,324  $ (9,705)  $ (40,619)  $ —
________________________________

1. Reported under derivative assets / liabilities, at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Refer to Note 5 for a reconciliation of derivative assets / liabilities, at fair
value to their sub-components.

2. Includes cash and securities pledged / received as collateral, at fair value. Amounts include repledged collateral. Amounts presented are limited to collateral pledged sufficient to reduce
the net amount to zero for individual counterparties, as applicable.

Note 7. Fair Value Measurements

We determine the fair value of our financial instruments based on our estimate of the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. We typically obtain price estimates from multiple third-party pricing
services and dealers or, if applicable, the clearing exchange (see Note 2 for further details.) We utilize a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair
value measurements. The valuation hierarchy is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date. A
financial instrument's categorization within the hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The three levels of valuation hierarchy are defined as follows:

• Level 1 Inputs —Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical unrestricted assets and liabilities in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date.
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• Level 2 Inputs —Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that
are not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable.

• Level 3 Inputs —Instruments with primarily unobservable market data that cannot be corroborated.

The availability of observable inputs can vary by instrument and is affected by a wide variety of factors, including the type of instrument, whether the
instrument is new and not yet established in the marketplace and other characteristics particular to the instrument.  Third-party pricing sources may also use
certain unobservable inputs, such as assumptions of future levels of prepayment, defaults and loss severities, especially when estimating fair values for
securities with lower levels of recent trading activity.

We make inquiries of third-party pricing sources to understand the significant inputs and assumptions they used to determine their prices. We also
review third-party price estimates and perform procedures to validate their reasonableness, including an analysis of the range of estimates for each position,
comparison to recent trade activity for similar securities, and for consistency with market conditions observed as of the measurement date. While we do not
adjust prices we obtain from pricing sources, we will exclude prices for securities from our estimation of fair value if we determine (based on our validation
procedures and our market knowledge and expertise) that the price is significantly different from what observable market data would indicate and we cannot
obtain an understanding from the third-party source as to the significant inputs used to determine the price.  

The validation procedures described above also influence our determination of the appropriate fair value measurement categorization. The following
table provides a summary of our assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 based on their
categorization within the valuation hierarchy (in millions). There were no transfers between valuation hierarchy levels during the periods presented.

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

Assets:             

Agency securities  $ —  $ 82,291  $ —  $ —  $ 55,506  $ —

Agency securities transferred to consolidated VIEs  —  436  —  —  662  —

Credit risk transfer securities  —  1,012  —  —  876  —

Non-Agency securities  —  548  —  —  36  —

U.S. Treasury securities  46  —  —  —  —  —

REIT equity securities  —  —  —  29  —  —

Interest rate swaps  —  126  —  —  81  —

Swaptions  —  37  —  —  75  —

TBA securities  —  110  —  —  30  —

U.S. Treasury futures  —  —  —  19  —  —

Total  $ 46  $ 84,560  $ —  $ 48  $ 57,266  $ —

Liabilities:             

Debt of consolidated VIEs  $ —  $ 275  $ —  $ —  $ 357  $ —
Obligation to return U.S. Treasury securities borrowed under reverse
repurchase agreements  21,431  —  —  10,467  —  —

Interest rate swaps  —  —  —  —  1  —

TBA securities  —  40  —  —  27  —

U.S. Treasury futures  (44)  —  —  —  —  —

Total  $ 21,387 $ 315 $ —  $ 10,467  $ 385  $ —

Excluded from the table above are financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables,
payables and borrowings under repurchase agreements, which are presented in our consolidated financial statements at cost. The cost basis of these
instruments is determined to approximate fair value due to their short duration or, in the case of longer-term repo, due to floating rates of interest based on an
index plus or minus a fixed spread which is consistent with fixed spreads demanded in the market. We estimate the fair value of these instruments using
"Level 1" or "Level 2" inputs.
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Note 8. Net Income Per Common Share

Basic net income per common share includes no dilution and is computed by dividing net income applicable to common stock by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding for the respective period. Diluted earnings per common share includes the impact of dilutive potential common shares
outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method. Dilutive potential common shares outstanding include unvested restricted stock units and
performance share units granted under our long-term incentive program to employees and non-employee Board of Directors. The following table presents the
computations of basic and diluted net income per common share for the periods indicated (shares and dollars in millions):

  Fiscal Year

  2018  2017  2016

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic  441.1  358.6  331.9

Unvested restricted stock units and performance share units  0.3  0.1  —

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted  441.4  358.7  331.9

Net income available to common stockholders  $ 93  $ 733  $ 595

Net income per common share - basic  $ 0.21  $ 2.04  $ 1.79

Net income per common share - diluted  $ 0.21  $ 2.04  $ 1.79

Note 9. Stockholders' Equity  

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we are authorized to designate and issue up to 10.0 million shares of preferred stock in
one or more classes or series. As of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018, 8,050 shares were designated as 7.750% Series B Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock ("Series B Preferred Stock") and 13,800 shares were designated as 7.00% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Preferred
Stock ("Series C Preferred Stock"). Shares of Series B and Series C Preferred Stock are represented by depositary shares equal to 1/1000 interest in each
share of Series B and Series C Preferred Stock, respectively. As of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018, we had 7,000 shares of Series B Preferred
Stock and 13,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock outstanding (represented by 7.0 million Series B depositary shares and 13.0 million Series C depositary
shares outstanding, respectively) and 9,980,000 of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock.

Holders of depository shares underlying our Series B Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative cash dividends at a rate of 7.750% per annum of
their $25.00 per depositary share liquidation preference. Holders of depositary shares underlying our Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to receive
cumulative cash dividends at a rate of 7.00% per annum up to, and including, October 14, 2022 and thereafter at a floating rate equal to three-month LIBOR
plus a spread of 5.111% per annum of their $25.00 per depositary share liquidation preference. Dividends are payable quarterly in arrears on the 15th day of
each January, April, July and October. As of December 31, 2018, we had declared all required quarterly dividends on our preferred stock.

Our preferred stock ranks senior to our common stock with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets upon a voluntary or
involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company. Our preferred stock has no stated maturity, is not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory
redemption and ranks on parity with each other. Under certain circumstances upon a change of control, our preferred stock is convertible to shares of our
common stock. Holders of our preferred stock and depository shares underlying our preferred stock have no voting rights, except under limited conditions.
Beginning on May 8, 2019 and October 15, 2022, depository shares underlying our Series B and Series C Preferred Stock, respectively, will be redeemable at
$25.00 per depositary share, plus accumulated and unpaid dividends (whether or not declared) exclusively at our option. We may redeem shares of our
preferred stock prior to our optional redemption date under certain circumstances intended to preserve our qualification as a REIT for U.S federal income tax
purposes.

In September 2017, we redeemed all of our issued and outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock for $173 million (or $25 per share liquidation
preference), plus accrued and unpaid dividends, and, in October 2017, we filed a Certificate of Elimination of our Series A Preferred Stock with the Secretary
of State of the State of Delaware, which eliminated the designation of Series A Preferred Stock from our amended and restated certificate of incorporation.
Prior to the September 2017 redemption, holders of Series A Preferred Stock were entitled to receive cumulative cash dividends at a rate of 8.000% per
annum of their $25.00 per share liquidation preference.
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Common Stock Offerings

During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, we completed follow-on public offerings of our common stock summarized in the table below (in millions, except
for per share data). During fiscal year 2016, we did not complete any follow-on public offerings.

Follow-On Public Offering  
Price Received Per

Share, Net  Shares  Net Proceeds

Fiscal Year 2018:       

May 2018  $18.35  34.5  $ 633

August 2018  $18.68  43.7  817

November 2018  $17.09  46.0  786

Total fiscal year 2018    124.2  $ 2,236

       

Fiscal Year 2017:       

May 2017  $20.51  24.5  $ 503

September 2017  $20.47  28.2  577

Total fiscal year 2017    52.7  $ 1,080

At-the-Market Offering Program

We have entered into agreements with sales agents to publicly offer and sell shares of our common stock in privately negotiated and/or at-the-market
transactions from time-to-time up to a maximum aggregate offering price of our common stock. On June 14, 2018, our existing sales agreement terminated,
and we entered into new sales agreements for shares of our common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $1 billion. The table below summarizes
sales our common stock under the sales agreements during fiscal years 2018 and 2017 (in millions, except for per share data). During fiscal year 2016, we did
not sell shares of our common stock under the sales agreements. As of December 31, 2018, shares of our common stock with an aggregate offering price of
$660 million remained available for issuance under this program.

ATM Offerings  
Average Price Received

Per Share, Net  Shares  Net Proceeds

Fiscal Year 2018  $18.03  20.8  $ 375

Fiscal Year 2017  $20.96  7.6  $ 159

Common Stock Repurchase Program

From time-to-time we are authorized by our Board of Directors to repurchase shares of our common stock under certain conditions. During fiscal year
2016, we repurchased 6.5 million shares of our common stock at an average repurchase price of $17.89 per share, including expenses, totaling $116 million.
We did not repurchase shares of our common stock during fiscal year 2017 or 2018, and our most recent stock repurchase authorization expired on December
31, 2017.

Distributions to Stockholders

The following table summarizes cash dividends declared for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in millions, except per share amounts):
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  Dividends Declared  
Dividends Declared

Per Share

8.000 % Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock     
Fiscal year 2017  $ 9  $ 1.333000

Fiscal year 2016  $ 14  $ 2.000000

7.750% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (Per Depositary Share)     
Fiscal year 2018  $ 14  $ 1.937500

Fiscal year 2017  $ 14  $ 1.937500

Fiscal year 2016  $ 14  $ 1.937500

7.00% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (Per Depositary Share)     
Fiscal year 2018  $ 23  $ 1.750000

Fiscal year 2017  $ 9  $ 0.695140

Common Stock     
Fiscal year 2018  $ 964  $ 2.160000

Fiscal year 2017  $ 777  $ 2.160000

Fiscal year 2016  $ 763  $ 2.300000

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table summarizes changes to accumulated OCI for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in millions):

  Fiscal Year

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)  2018  2017  2016

Beginning Balance  $ (345)  $ (397)  $ (66)

OCI before reclassifications  (677)  (31)  (261)
(Gain) loss amounts for available-for-sale securities reclassified from accumulated OCI to
realized gain (loss) on sale of investment securities  79  83  (109)
Periodic interest costs of interest rate swaps previously designated as hedges under GAAP,
net  —  —  39

Ending Balance  $ (943)  $ (345)  $ (397)

Note 10. Long-Term Incentive Compensation

Stock-Based Incentive Plans

Under our 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (the "2016 Equity Plan"), we may grant equity-based compensation in the form of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares, RSUs, performance shares, PSUs, dividend equivalents and certain other awards denominated or payable
in, or otherwise based on, shares of our common stock, plus cash incentive awards, for the purpose of providing our non-employee directors, officers and
other employees incentives and rewards for service or performance. The 2016 Equity Plan authorizes a total of 10 million shares our common stock that may
be used to satisfy awards under the plan, subject to the share counting rules set forth within the plan. The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors
determines awards to be granted under our 2016 Equity Plan and the terms of such awards. Prior to establishing our 2016 Equity Plan, we granted equity-
based awards to independent directors per the terms of our AGNC Equity Incentive Plan for Independent Directors (the "Director Plan"). The Director Plan
was terminated in December of 2016 and replaced by our 2016 Equity Plan. Outstanding awards under the Director Plan continued in effect in accordance
with their terms.

During fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, we granted RSU awards to employees with a grant date fair value of $4 million, $4 million and $2 million,
respectively, which vest annually over a three-year period. Additionally, during fiscal year 2018, we granted fully vested RSU awards to employees with a
grant date fair value of $4 million in exchange for satisfaction and conversion of AGNC's obligations of an equivalent value under outstanding long-term
incentive compensation awards granted to employees under the MTGE Incentive Plan ("RSU Exchange Awards") (see Other Long-Term Incentive
Compensation below). During fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, we granted RSU awards to independent directors of $500,000, $500,000 and $625,000,
respectively, which vest over a 12 to 13 month period.
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The following table summarizes RSU awards under our 2016 Equity Plan for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016:

2016 Equity Incentive Plan  RSU Awards  
Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Value 1  
Weighted Average

Vest Date Fair Value

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2015  —  $ —  $ —

Granted  101,407  $ 17.89  $ —

Accrued RSU dividend equivalents  968  $ —  $ —

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2016  102,375  $ 17.72  $ —

Granted  238,203  $ 19.52  $ —

Accrued RSU dividend equivalents  32,498  $ —  $ —

Vested  (37,602)  $ 16.08  $ 20.42

Forfeitures  (246)  $ 18.29  $ —

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2017  335,228  $ 17.46  $ —

Granted 2  261,036  $ 18.05  $ —

Accrued RSU dividend equivalents  56,618  $ —  $ —

Vested 2  (150,423)  $ 16.52  $ 18.60

Forfeitures  (546)  $ 16.98  $ —

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2018  501,913  $ 16.08  $ —
________________________________

1. Accrued RSU award dividend equivalents have a weighted average grant date fair value of $0.
2. Excludes 185,285 of RSU Exchange Awards.

The following table summarizes RSU and restricted stock transactions under the Director Plan for fiscal years 2017 and 2016:

Director Plan  
Shares of Restricted

Stock  RSU Awards  
Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Value 1  
Weighted Average

Vest Date Fair Value

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2015  5,000  31,431  $ 21.44  $ —

Granted  —  33,015  $ 18.93  $ —

Accrued RSU dividend equivalents  —  3,527  $ —  $ —

Vested  (5,000)  (46,538)  $ 20.00  $ 18.99

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2016  —  21,435  $ 17.49  $ —

Accrued RSU dividend equivalents  —  1,032  $ —  $ —

Vested  —  (22,467)  $ 16.69  $ 20.15

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2017  —  —  $ —  $ —
________________________________

1. Accrued RSU award dividend equivalents have a weighted average grant date fair value of $0.

During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, we granted PSU awards to employees under our 2016 Equity Plan, which vest at the end of a three-year period
provided that specified performance criteria are met. The performance criteria are based on a formula tied to our achievement of long-term economic returns
consisting of the change in tangible net book value and dividends paid per common share on an absolute basis and relative to a select group of our peers. The
fair value of the PSU awards granted during fiscal years 2018 and 2017 as of the grant date was $5 million and $5 million, respectively, assuming the target
levels of performance are achieved, but the actual value will vary within a range of 0% to 200% of target based on actual performance achieved relative to the
targets. The following table summarizes PSU awards under our 2016 Equity Plan for fiscal years 2018 and 2017. We did not issue PSU awards during fiscal
year 2016.
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2016 Equity Incentive Plan  
PSUs

at Target
Performance Level  

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Value 1

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2016  —  $ —

Granted  250,609  $ 19.39

Accrued PSU dividend equivalents  22,767  $ —

Vested  —  $ —

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2017  273,376  $ 17.78

Granted  272,228  $ 17.98

Accrued PSU dividend equivalents  61,171  $ —

Vested  —  $ —

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2018  606,775  $ 16.08

_______________________
1. Accrued PSU award dividend equivalents have a weighted average grant date fair value of $0.

As of December 31, 2018, 7.9 million shares remained available for awards under the 2016 Equity Plan. For purposes of determining the total number
of shares available for awards under the 2016 Equity Plan, available shares are reduced by (i) shares issued for vested RSU awards, net of units withheld to
cover minimum statutory tax withholding requirements paid by us in cash on behalf of the employee and (ii) outstanding unvested awards, (iii) outstanding
previously vested awards, if distribution of such awards has been deferred beyond the vesting date ("deferred awards"), and (iv) accrued dividend equivalent
units on outstanding awards through December 31, 2018. Unvested performance-based awards assume the maximum payout under the terms of the award. As
of December 31, 2018, 0.3 million of deferred awards were outstanding.

During fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, we recognized compensation expense of $6.1 million, $3.1 million and $28 thousand, respectively, for stock-
based awards to employees and we recognized other operating expense of $0.5 million, $0.5 million and $0.7 million, respectively, for stock-based awards to
independent directors. As of December 31, 2018, we had unrecognized expense related to stock-based awards of approximately $11 million, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.7 years.

Other Long-Term Incentive Compensation

During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, we granted long-term incentive compensation awards to employees under our MTGE Incentive Plan (the "Incentive
Plan"), with original grant date fair values of $2 million and $2 million, respectively. Awards granted under the Incentive Plan were used to purchase shares of
MTGE common stock on the open market and vested annually over a three-year period. Following the sale of MTGE and the resultant termination of the
MTGE management agreement, all of the outstanding unvested awards under the Incentive Plan were fully vested (see Note 12). Deferred awards, or awards
for which distribution of such awards had been deferred beyond the vesting date, were converted into AGNC RSU Exchange Awards of equal value under the
2016 Equity Plan. During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, we recognized long-term incentive compensation expense associated with awards under the Incentive
Plan of $5 million and $1 million, respectively.

Note 11. Income Taxes  

As of December 31, 2018, we have distributed all of our estimated taxable income for fiscal year 2018. Accordingly, we do not expect to incur an
income tax liability on our 2018 taxable income. For fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we distributed all of our taxable income within the time limits prescribed by
the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly, we did not incur an income tax liability on our taxable income for such periods.

Based on our analysis of any potential uncertain income tax positions, we concluded that we do not have any uncertain tax positions that meet the
recognition or measurement criteria of ASC 740 as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. Our tax returns for tax years 2015 and forward are open to
examination by the IRS. If we incur income tax related interest and penalties, our policy is to classify them as a component of provision for income taxes.

Note 12. Management Agreement and Related Party Transactions  

Prior to our acquisition of AMM on July 1, 2016, and our associated management internalization, we were externally managed. Under our management
agreement we incurred a monthly management fee equal to one-twelfth of 1.25% of our month-end stockholders' equity, adjusted to exclude the effect of any
unrealized gains or losses included in either retained earnings or accumulated OCI. For fiscal year 2016, prior to our internalization, our management fee
expense totaled $52 million.
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Through our acquisition of AMM we also became the external manager of MTGE. During fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, we earned monthly
management fee income totaling $12 million, $16 million and $8 million, respectively. During September 2018, MTGE completed a sale of the company to a
third party. Coincident with the sale, we were paid a one-time termination fee under the management agreement of $42 million, which is reported in
management fee income in our consolidated statements of comprehensive income for fiscal year 2018. Concurrent with the termination of the management
agreement, we wrote-off our remaining unamortized intangible asset balance associated with the management agreement of $23 million, which is reported in
other operating expense for fiscal year 2018.

Note 13. Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

The following is a presentation of the quarterly results of operations and comprehensive income for fiscal years 2018 and 2017 (in millions, except per
share data).

 Quarter Ended

 
March 31,

2018  
June 30,

 2018  
September 30,

 2018  December 31, 2018

Interest income:        
Interest income $ 431  $ 414  $ 500  $ 604
Interest expense 206  237  312  418

Net interest income 225  177  188  186
Other gain (loss):        

Loss on sale of investment securities, net (2)  (74)  (40)  (21)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities measured at fair value through
net income, net (523)  (94)  (363)  683
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net 738  298  430  (1,633)
Management fee income 4  4  46  —

Total other gain (loss), net 217  134  73  (971)
Expenses:        

Compensation and benefits 10  10  14  11
Other operating expenses 8  8  31  8

Total expenses 18  18  45  19
Net income (loss) 424  293  216  (804)

Dividend on preferred stock 9  9  9  9

Net income (loss) available (attributable) to common shareholders $ 415  $ 284  $ 207  $ (813)

        

Net income (loss) $ 424  $ 293  $ 216  $ (804)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (loss), net (621)  (145)  (193)  361

Comprehensive income (loss) (197)  148  23  (443)
Dividend on preferred stock 9  9  9  9

Comprehensive income (loss) available (attributable) to common shareholders $ (206)  $ 139  $ 14  $ (452)

        

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 391.3  404.9  462.3  504.2

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 391.5  405.2  462.7  504.2

Net income (loss) per common share - basic and diluted $ 1.06  $ 0.70  $ 0.45  $ (1.61)

Comprehensive income (loss) per common share - basic and diluted $ (0.53)  $ 0.34  $ 0.03  $ (0.90)

Dividends declared per common share $ 0.54  $ 0.54  $ 0.54  $ 0.54
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 Quarter Ended

 
March 31, 

2017  
June 30,

2017  
September 30, 

2017  December 31, 2017

Interest income:        
Interest income $ 296  $ 293  $ 318  $ 386
Interest expense 98  112  140  174

Net interest income 198  181  178  212
Other gain (loss):        

Gain (loss) on sale of investment securities, net (84)  15  22  (16)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities measured at fair value through
net income, net 16  9  (31)  (65)
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other securities, net (40)  (169)  131  271
Management fee income 4  4  4  4

Total other gain (loss), net (104)  (141)  126  194
Expenses:        

Compensation and benefits 10  10  10  12
Other operating expenses 8  6  8  9

Total expenses 18  16  18  21
Net income 76  24  286  385

Dividend on preferred stock 7  7  9  9
Issuance costs of redeemed preferred stock —  —  6  —

Net income available to common shareholders $ 69  $ 17  $ 271  $ 376

        

Net income $ 76  $ 24  $ 286  $ 385
Unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (loss), net 46  121  90  (205)

Comprehensive income 122  145  376  180
Dividend on preferred stock 7  7  9  9
Issuance costs of redeemed preferred stock —  —  6  —

Comprehensive income available to common shareholders $ 115  $ 138  $ 361  $ 171

        

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 331.0  346.4  364.7  391.3

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted 331.1  346.5  364.9  391.5

Net income per common share - basic and diluted $ 0.21  $ 0.05  $ 0.74  $ 0.96

Comprehensive income per common share - basic and diluted $ 0.35  $ 0.40  $ 0.99  $ 0.44

Dividends declared per common share $ 0.54  $ 0.54  $ 0.54  $ 0.54

Note 14. Subsequent Events

On January 10, 2019 and February 12, 2019, our Board of Directors declared a monthly dividend of $0.18 per common share, payable on February 11,
2019 and March 11, 2019, respectively, to common stockholders of record as of January 31, 2019 and February 28, 2019, respectively.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure based on the definition of "disclosure controls and procedures" as promulgated under the
Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and
management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

We, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2018. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting is included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm

The attestation report of our registered public accounting firm is included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our "internal control over financial reporting" (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during
the last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
 

Information in response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information provided in our Proxy Statement for our 2019 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (the "2019 Proxy Statement") under the headings "PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS", "EXECUTIVE OFFICERS",
"BOARD AND GOVERNANCE MATTERS", and "SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE."

Item 11. Executive Compensation
 

Information in response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information provided in the 2019 Proxy Statement under the headings
"PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS", "EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION", "COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS", "REPORT OF
THE COMPENSATION AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE", and "COMPENSATION AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION."

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
 

Information in response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information provided in the 2019 Proxy Statement under the heading
"SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT AND CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS."

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
 

Information in response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information provided in the 2019 Proxy Statement under the headings
"CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS" and "PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS."
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
 

Information in response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information provided in the 2019 Proxy Statement under the heading
"PROPOSAL 4: RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT."
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PART IV

Item 15.     Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)    List of documents filed as part of this report:
 

(1) The following financial statements are filed herewith:
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 

(2)    The following exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit No.    Description

*3.1    AGNC Investment Corp. Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 of Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018 (File No. 001-34057), filed May 7, 2018.

*3.2    AGNC Investment Corp. Third Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2
of Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 (File No. 001-34057), filed November 7, 2016.

*3.3    Certificate of Designations of 7.750% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 3.4 of Form 8-A (File No. 001-34057), filed May 7, 2014.

*3.4    Certificate of Designations of 7.00% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.5 of Form 8-A (File No. 001-34057), filed August 18, 2017.

*3.5    Certificate of Elimination of 8.000% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 of Form 8-K (File No 001-34057), filed October 26, 2017.

*4.1    Instruments defining the rights of holders of securities: See Article IV of our Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018 (File No.
001-34057) filed May 7, 2018.

*4.2    Instruments defining the rights of holders of securities: See Article VI of our Third Amended and Restated Bylaws, as
amended, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 (File No. 001-34057)
filed November 7, 2016.

*4.3    Form of Certificate for Common Stock, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2016 (File No. 001-34057), filed November 7, 2016.

*4.4    Specimen 7.750% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock Certificate, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
4.1 of Form 8-A (File No. 001-34057), filed May 7, 2014.

*4.5    Specimen 7.00% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock Certificate, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form 8-A (File No. 001-34057), filed August 18, 2017.

*4.6Deposit Agreement relating to 7.750% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, dated May 8, 2014, among
American Capital Agency Corp., Computershare Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., jointly as depositary, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Form 8-K (File No. 001-34057), filed May 8, 2014.

*4.7    Form of Depositary Receipt representing 1/1,000th of a share of 7.750% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock
(included as part of Exhibit 4.6), incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit A of Exhibit 4.2 of Form 8-K (File No. 001-34057), filed May
8, 2014.

*4.8Deposit Agreement relating to 7.00% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, dated August
22, 2017, among AGNC Investment Corp., Computershare Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., jointly as depositary,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Form 8-K (File No. 001-34057) filed August 22, 2017.
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*4.9    Form of Depositary Receipt representing 1/1,000th of a share of 7.00% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Stock (included as part of Exhibit 4.8), incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit A of Exhibit 4.2 of Form 8-K
(File No. 001-34057) filed August 22, 2017.

†* 10.1Fourth Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated January 25, 2019, by and between AGNC Mortgage
Management, LLC and Gary Kain, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 8-K (File No. 001-34057), filed January 25,
2019.

†* 10.2    Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated November 1, 2016, by and between AGNC Mortgage
Management, LLC and Peter J. Federico, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 8-K (File No. 001-34057), filed
November 4, 2016.

†* 10.3    Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated November 1, 2016, by and between AGNC Mortgage
Management, LLC and Christopher J. Kuehl, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 8-K (File No. 001-34057), filed
November 4, 2016.

†* 10.4    Employment Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2019, by and between Bernice Bell and AGNC Mortgage Management,
LLC, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K (File No. 001-34057), filed January 25, 2019.

†* 10.5    Employment Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2019, by and between Aaron J. Pas and AGNC Mortgage Management,
LLC, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 8-K (File No. 001-34057), filed January 25, 2019.

†* 10.6    Employment Agreement, dated December 18, 2017, by and between Kenneth L. Pollack and AGNC Mortgage
Management, LLC, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 8-K (File No. 001-34057), filed December 18, 2017.

†* 10.7    First Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Kenneth L. Pollack and AGNC Mortgage Management,
LLC, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Form 8-K (File No. 001-34057), filed January 25, 2019.

†* 10.8    AGNC Investment Corp. 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.7 of Form 10-K (File No. 001-34057), filed February 27, 2017.

†* 10.9    Form of AGNC Investment Corp. 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for
Section 16 Officers with Employment Contracts, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Form 10-K (File No. 001-34057), filed
February 27, 2017.

†* 10.10    Form of AGNC Investment Corp. 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Unit Agreement for Section 16 Officers with Employment Contracts, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of Form 10-K (File
No. 001-34057), filed February 27, 2017.

†* 10.11    Form of AGNC Investment Corp. 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for
Section 16 Officers without Employment Contracts, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of Form 10-K (File No. 001-34057),
filed February 27, 2017.

†* 10.12    Form of AGNC Investment Corp. 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Unit Agreement for Section 16 Officers without Employment Contracts, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of Form 10-K
(File No. 001-34057), filed February 27, 2017.

†* 10.13    Form of AGNC Investment Corp. 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for
Non-Employee Directors, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of Form 10-K (file No. 001-34057), filed February 26, 2018.

†* 10.14    Form of AGNC Investment Corp. 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan Deferred Stock Unit Agreement
incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10 of Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34057) filed November 5, 2018.

† 10.15    Form of AGNC Investment Corp. 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for
Section 16 Officers with Retirement Provisions, filed herewith.
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† 10.16    Form of AGNC Investment Corp. 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Unit Agreement for Section 16 Officers with Retirement Provisions, filed herewith.

† 10.17    Form of AGNC Investment Corp. 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Unit Agreement for Section 16 Officers with Employment Contracts, filed herewith.

* 14    AGNC Investment Corp. Code of Ethics and Conduct, adopted July 19, 2018, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
14 of Form 10-Q (File No. 001-34057), filed August 6, 2018.

21 Subsidiaries of the Company and jurisdiction of incorporation:

1) AGNC TRS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

2) Old Georgetown Insurance Co. LLC, a Missouri limited liability company

3) Bethesda Securities, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

4) AGNC Mortgage Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

23    Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, filed herewith.

24    Powers of Attorney of directors, filed herewith.

31.1    Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2    Certification of CFO Pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32    Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
________________________________

*    Previously filed
** This exhibit is being furnished rather than filed, and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing, in accordance with Item 601 of

Regulation S-K
† Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

(b) Exhibits
    See the exhibits filed herewith.
 
(c) Additional financial statement schedules
 None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

   AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.

   By: /s/    GARY D. KAIN

    
Gary D. Kain

Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Investment Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 22, 2019    

 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

 Name Title Date

 /s/    GARY D. KAIN

Director, Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Investment Officer (Principal
Executive Officer)

February 22, 2019
 Gary D. Kain   
    

 /s/ BERNICE E. BELL

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer) February 22, 2019

 Bernice E. Bell   
    
 * Director February 22, 2019
 Morris A. Davis   
    
 * Director February 22, 2019
 Larry K. Harvey   
    
 * Director February 22, 2019
 Prue B. Larocca   
    
 * Director February 22, 2019
 Paul E. Mullings   
    
 * Director February 22, 2019
 Donna J. Blank   
    
    

*By: /s/    KENNETH L. POLLACK   
 Kenneth L. Pollack   
  Attorney-in-fact   
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Exhibit 10.15

AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.
2016 EQUITY AND INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

This RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of [________] (the “Date of
Grant”), by and between AGNC Investment Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and [________] (“Grantee”).

1. Certain Definitions. Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Agreement will have the meanings given to
such terms in the Company’s 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”). As used in this Agreement:
(a) “Disability” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.
(b) “Employment Agreement” means [________].
(c) “Manager” means AGNC Mortgage Management, LLC.
(d) “Re-Externalization” means a sale, merger or other transaction that results in the transfer or issuance of a majority

of the outstanding equity interests of the Manager or AGNC Management, LLC to a person or entity other than a Subsidiary of the
Company.

(e) “Replacement Award” means an award (i) of the same type (e.g., time-based restricted stock units) as the RSUs
(as defined in Section 2 hereof) covered by this Agreement, (ii) that has a value at least equal to the value of the RSUs covered by
this Agreement, (iii) that relates to publicly traded equity securities of the Company or its successor in the Change of Control or
another entity that is affiliated with the Company or its successor following the Change of Control, (iv) the tax consequences of
which to Grantee under the Code are not less favorable to Grantee than the tax consequences of the RSUs covered by this
Agreement and (v) the other terms and conditions of which are not less favorable to Grantee than the terms and conditions of the
RSUs covered by this Agreement (including the provisions that would apply in the event of certain terminations of employment
and a subsequent Change of Control or, if the surviving entity is internally managed, an externalization of management). A
Replacement Award may be granted only to the extent it does not result in the RSUs covered by this Agreement or the Replacement
Award failing to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
Replacement Award may take the form of a continuation of the RSUs covered by this Agreement if the requirements of the two
preceding sentences are satisfied. The determination of whether the conditions of this Section 1(e) are satisfied will be made by the
Committee, as constituted immediately prior to the Change of Control, in its sole discretion.

(f) “Retirement” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.
(g) “Termination For Good Reason” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.
(h) “Termination Without Cause” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.

2. Grant of RSUs. Subject to and upon the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in this Agreement and in the Plan, the
Company hereby grants to Grantee [_____] Restricted Stock Units (the “RSUs”). Each RSU shall represent the right of Grantee to
receive one share of Common Stock subject to and upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
3. Restrictions on Transfer of RSUs. Neither the RSUs evidenced hereby nor any interest therein or in the shares of
Common Stock underlying such RSUs shall be transferable prior to payment to Grantee pursuant to Section 7 hereof, other than as
described in Section 15 of the Plan.
4. Vesting. The RSUs covered by this Agreement shall become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee pursuant to Section 7
hereof with respect to one-third (1/3) of the RSUs granted pursuant to this Agreement on each of [________], [________] and
[________] (each such date, an “Applicable Vesting



Date”) if Grantee remains continuously employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors) as of each
such date.
5. Accelerated Vesting. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4 hereof, all of the RSUs covered by this Agreement that
have not already vested and become nonforfeitable pursuant to Section 4 hereof will become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee
pursuant to Section 7 hereof earlier than the time provided in Section 4 hereof upon the occurrence of the earliest of any of the
following events:

(a) While Grantee is continuously employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors),
Grantee’s employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors) terminates as a result of:
(i) Grantee’s death, (ii) Grantee’s Disability (pursuant to subparagraph 5(b)(ii) of the Employment Agreement), (iii) a Termination
Without Cause, (iv) a Termination For Good Reason, or (v) Grantee’s Retirement on or after [________]; provided however, that
with respect to any RSUs granted to Grantee in the calendar year in which the Retirement occurs, such accelerated vesting pursuant
to this subparagraph 5(a)(v) shall only apply to a pro-rated portion of such RSUs in an amount equal to the total number of RSUs
granted to Grantee in the calendar year of Retirement multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which will equal the number of full
calendar months in the year of the Retirement that Grantee was employed prior to the Retirement and the denominator of which
will equal twelve (12); provided further that such accelerated vesting pursuant to this subparagraph 5(a)(v) shall not apply to any
RSUs unless Grantee complies with all restrictive covenant obligations as set forth in paragraph 7 of the Employment Agreement
as if in effect through the date on which such RSUs are paid.

(b) While Grantee is continuously employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors), a
Change of Control occurs and a Replacement Award is not provided to Grantee on the date of such Change of Control.
6. Forfeiture. Except to the extent the RSUs covered by this Agreement have become nonforfeitable pursuant to Section 4 or
Section 5 hereof, the RSUs covered by this Agreement shall be forfeited automatically and without further notice, and shall no
longer be considered covered by this Agreement, on the date on which Grantee ceases to be employed by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, the Manager (including following a Re-Externalization) or any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective successors.
7. Form and Time of Payment of RSUs.

(a) Form. Payment in respect of the RSUs, after and to the extent they have become nonforfeitable pursuant to
Section 4 or Section 5 hereof, shall be made in the form of shares of Common Stock. Payment shall only be made in whole shares
of Common Stock; any fractional shares shall be paid to Grantee in cash. The Company’s obligations to Grantee with respect to the
RSUs will be satisfied in full upon the issuance of the shares of Common Stock (or, with respect to fractional shares, upon the
payment in cash) corresponding to such RSUs.

(b) Timing.
(i) RSUs that become nonforfeitable pursuant to Section 4 hereof shall be paid within ten (10) days following

the date on which such RSUs become nonforfeitable.
(ii) RSUs to the extent vested on such date or event (whether vested by virtue of such date, event or

otherwise) will become payable on the earliest to occur of the following:
(A) the Applicable Vesting Date, with payment within ten (10) days following such date;
(B) the date that Grantee experiences a “separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A(a)

(2)(A)(i) of Code (including by reason of Retirement), with payment on the first payroll date
following the 60th day after such date; provided, however, that if Grantee is a “specified employee”
as determined pursuant to procedures adopted by the Company in compliance with Section 409A of
the Code, then payment for the RSUs shall be made on the earlier of the first day of the seventh
month after the



date of Grantee’s “separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the
Code or the Grantee’s death; further provided, that Grantee (or, if applicable, his estate) shall have
first executed and not revoked the release described in subparagraph 6(f) of the Employment
Agreement in accordance with the requirements of subparagraph 6(f) of the Employment Agreement;

(C) the date of a Change of Control that constitutes a “change in ownership,” a “change in effective
control,” or a “change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets” of the Company under
Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v) of the Code (such circumstances, a “409A Change of Control”), with
payment within ten (10) days following such date; provided, that if a Change of Control occurs and it
does not constitute a 409A Change of Control, payment for the RSUs shall not be made until the next
event to occur as set forth in this Section 7(b)(ii); and

(D) the date of Grantee’s death.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Grantee has made a permitted deferral election with respect to any RSUs covered by this

Agreement, such RSUs shall be paid at the time set forth in such deferral election.

8. Dividend Equivalents; Other Rights.
(a) From and after the Date of Grant and until the earlier of (i) the time when the RSUs become nonforfeitable and

are paid to Grantee in accordance with Section 7 hereof or (ii) the time when Grantee’s right to receive shares of Common Stock in
payment of the RSUs is forfeited in accordance with Section 6 hereof, on the date that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any)
or other cash distribution to holders of shares of Common Stock generally, Grantee shall be entitled to a number of additional RSUs
determined by dividing (A) the product of (x) the dollar amount of such cash dividend or other cash distribution paid per share of
Common Stock on such date and (y) the total number of RSUs (including dividend equivalents credited thereon) previously
credited to Grantee pursuant to this Agreement as of such date, to the extent such RSUs have not become nonforfeitable and paid to
Grantee in accordance with Section 7 hereof, by (B) the Market Value per Share on such date. Such dividend equivalents (if any)
shall be subject to the same applicable terms and conditions (including vesting, forfeitability, dividend equivalents and payment) as
apply to the RSUs as to which the dividend equivalents were credited.

(b) Grantee shall have no rights of ownership in the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs and no right to
vote the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs until the date on which the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs
are issued or transferred to Grantee pursuant to Section 7 hereof.

(c) The obligations of the Company under this Agreement will be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise
of the Company to deliver shares of Common Stock or pay cash in the future, and the rights of Grantee will be no greater than that
of an unsecured general creditor. No assets of the Company will be held or set aside as security for the obligations of the Company
under this Agreement.
9. No Right to Future Awards or Employment. The grant of the RSUs under this Agreement to Grantee is a voluntary,
discretionary award being made on a one-time basis and it does not constitute a commitment to make any future awards. The grant
of the RSUs and any payments made hereunder will not be considered salary or other compensation for purposes of any severance
pay or similar allowance, except as otherwise required by law. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall confer upon Grantee any
right to be employed or remain employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, nor limit or affect in any manner the right of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to terminate the employment or adjust the compensation of Grantee.



10. Adjustments. The number of shares of Common Stock issuable for each RSU and the other terms and conditions of the
grant evidenced by this Agreement are subject to adjustment as provided in Section 11 of the Plan.
11. Withholding Taxes. To the extent that the Company is required to withhold federal, state, local or foreign taxes or other
amounts in connection with the delivery to Grantee of shares of Common Stock or any other payment to Grantee or any other
payment or vesting event under this Agreement, and the amounts available to the Company for such withholding are insufficient, it
shall be a condition to the obligation of the Company to make any such delivery or payment that Grantee make arrangements
satisfactory to the Company for payment of, the balance of such taxes or other amounts required to be withheld, as described more
fully below. The Company shall satisfy such withholding requirement by retaining a portion of the shares of Common Stock to be
delivered to Grantee. With prior approval by the Committee, Grantee may elect that all or any part of such withholding requirement
be satisfied by other means, including by delivering to the Company other shares of Common Stock held by Grantee (or proceeds
from the sale thereof) or cash. Any shares of Common Stock used for withholding hereunder will be valued at an amount equal to
the Market Value per Share of such shares of Common Stock on the date of payment pursuant to Section 7 hereof. In no event will
the amount that is withheld pursuant to this Section 11 to satisfy applicable withholding taxes exceed the maximum statutory tax
rates applicable with respect to Grantee.
12. Compliance With Law. The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable federal and state
securities laws; provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan and this Agreement, the Company shall not be
obligated to issue any of the shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement if the issuance thereof would result in a violation
of any such law.
13. Clawback. The RSUs shall be subject to the Company’s Clawback Policy, as in effect on the Date of Grant, as may be
amended or supplemented from time to time as a result of the Board’s good faith anticipation of (and in accordance with the
proposed rules regarding), or in order to comply with, the final rules or regulations adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission and the Nasdaq Stock Market that implement the incentive-based compensation recovery requirements set forth in
Section 10D of the Exchange Act, as added by Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act,
and any other applicable legal requirements or listing standards that may be enacted and in effect from time to time. In addition, in
the event that Grantee breaches any provision of subparagraphs 7(a) and 7(b) of the Employment Agreement, Grantee shall forfeit
any right to receive shares of Common Stock with respect to RSUs that have vested pursuant to Section 5(a) hereof (to the extent
such shares have not yet been delivered), and, in the event that such shares have been delivered, the Company shall be entitled to
recoup such shares and the gross proceeds from any sale of such shares by Grantee. Such forfeiture or recoupment shall be in
addition to, not in substitution of, any other remedies that the Company and its Subsidiaries may have with respect to such breach.
14. Relation to Other Benefits. Any economic or other benefit to Grantee under this Agreement or the Plan shall not be
taken into account in determining any benefits to which Grantee may be entitled under any profit-sharing, retirement or other
benefit or compensation plan maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors) and shall not affect
the amount of any life insurance coverage available to any beneficiary under any life insurance plan covering employees of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors).
15. Amendments. Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement to the extent that the
amendment is applicable hereto; provided, however, that (a) no amendment shall adversely affect the rights of Grantee under this
Agreement without Grantee’s written consent and (b) Grantee’s consent shall not be required to an amendment that is deemed
necessary by the Company to ensure exemption from or compliance with Section 409A of the Code or Section 10D of the
Exchange Act and any applicable rules or regulations promulgated by the Securities Exchange Commission or any national
securities exchange or national securities association on which the Common



Stock may be traded, including as a result of the implementation of, or modification to, any clawback policy the Company adopts,
or has adopted, to comply with the requirements set forth in Section 10D of the Exchange Act or as provided for in
subparagraph 4(f) of the Employment Agreement.
16. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be invalidated for any reason by a
court of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and
the remaining provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.
17. Relation to Plan. This Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan. To the extent not expressly set forth
in this Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall govern.
18. Acknowledgement. Grantee acknowledges that Grantee (a) has received a copy of the Plan, (b) has had an opportunity to
review the terms of this Agreement and the Plan, (c) understands the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan and
(d) agrees to such terms and conditions.
19. Successors and Assigns. Without limiting Section 3 hereof, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of,
and be binding upon, the successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns of Grantee, and the successors and
assigns of the Company.
20. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal substantive laws of
the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any principle of law that would result in the application of the law of any other
jurisdiction.
21. Notices. Any notice to the Company provided for herein shall be in writing (including electronically) to the Company,
marked Attention: General Counsel, and any notice to Grantee shall be addressed to Grantee at Grantee’s address on file with the
Company at the time of such notice. Except as otherwise provided herein, any written notice shall be deemed to be duly given if
and when delivered personally or deposited in the United States mail, postage and fees prepaid, and addressed as aforesaid. Any
party may change the address to which notices are to be given hereunder by written notice to the other party as herein specified
(provided that for this purpose any mailed notice shall be deemed given on the third business day following deposit of the same in
the United States mail).
22. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to the RSUs and Grantee’s
participation in the Plan, or future awards that may be granted under the Plan, by electronic means. Grantee hereby consents to
receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, agrees to participate in the Plan through an online or electronic
system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.
23. Section 409A of the Code. To the extent applicable, it is intended that this Agreement and the Plan comply with or be
exempt from the provisions of Section 409A of the Code. This Agreement and the Plan shall be administered in a manner
consistent with this intent, and any provision that would cause this Agreement or the Plan to fail to comply with or be exempt from
Section 409A of the Code shall have no force or effect until amended to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code
(which amendment may be retroactive to the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code and may be made by the Company
without the consent of Grantee). Any reference in this Agreement to Section 409A of the Code will also include any proposed,
temporary or final regulations, or any other guidance, promulgated with respect to such Section by the U.S. Department of the
Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service.
24. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including facsimile and other
electronically transmitted counterparts), each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together will constitute
one and the same agreement.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by its duly authorized
officer and Grantee has executed this Agreement, as of the Date of Grant.

AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.

By:     
Name:
Title:

    
GRANTEE’S SIGNATURE

Print Name: __________________________



Exhibit 10.16

AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.
2016 EQUITY AND INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN

PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

This PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of
[________] (the “Date of Grant”), by and between AGNC Investment Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and
[________] (“Grantee”).

1. Certain Definitions. Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Agreement will have the meanings given to
such terms in the Company’s 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”). As used in this Agreement:
(a) “Disability” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.
(b) “Employment Agreement” means [        ].
(c)  “Manager” means AGNC Mortgage Management, LLC.
(d) “Performance Period” means the AER Performance Period or the RER Performance Period, each as defined in

Exhibit A, as applicable.
(e) “Re-Externalization” means a sale, merger or other transaction that results in the transfer or issuance of a majority

of the outstanding equity interests of the Manager or AGNC Management, LLC to a person or entity other than a Subsidiary of the
Company.

(f)  “Replacement Award” means an award (i) of time-based RSUs (as defined in Section 2 hereof) with a value at
least equal to the value of the RSUs covered by this Agreement, determined based on actual achievement of the performance
conditions described on Exhibit A as of the day immediately prior to the Change of Control (in the case of Absolute Economic
Return, with the applicable required performance levels pro-rated based on the amount of time elapsed in the Performance Period,
and in the case of Relative Economic Return, as determined as of the end of the most recent quarter prior to the Change of Control
for which the applicable data for the Peer Group (as defined in Exhibit A) is publicly available) by the Board or the Committee,
(ii) that vests in full on the date set forth in Section 4, (iii) that relates to publicly traded equity securities of the Company or its
successor in the Change of Control or another entity that is affiliated with the Company or its successor following the Change of
Control, (iv) the tax consequences of which to Grantee under the Code are not less favorable to Grantee than the tax consequences
of the RSUs covered by this Agreement and (v) the other terms and conditions of which are not less favorable to Grantee than the
terms and conditions of the RSUs covered by this Agreement (including the provisions that would apply in the event of certain
terminations of employment and a subsequent Change of Control or, if the surviving entity is internally managed, an externalization
of management). A Replacement Award may be granted only to the extent it does not result in the RSUs covered by this Agreement
or the Replacement Award failing to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code. Without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, the Replacement Award may take the form of a continuation of the RSUs covered by this Agreement if the
requirements of the two preceding sentences are satisfied. The determination of whether the conditions of this Section 1(f) are
satisfied will be made by the Committee, as constituted immediately prior to the Change of Control, in its sole discretion.

(g)  “Retirement” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.
(h)  “Termination For Good Reason” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.
(i) “Termination Without Cause” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.

2. Grant of RSUs. Subject to and upon the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in this Agreement and in the Plan, the
Company hereby grants to Grantee a target number of [________]



Restricted Stock Units (the “Target Number of RSUs”) (with a maximum number of [________] Restricted Stock Units to be
potentially earned pursuant to Exhibit A (the “Maximum Number of RSUs”, and all Restricted Stock Units covered by this
Agreement, the “RSUs”)), plus the related RSUs granted as dividend equivalents pursuant to the terms of Section 8(a), and subject
to the terms and conditions set forth on Exhibit A. Each RSU shall represent the right of Grantee to receive one share of Common
Stock subject to and upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
3. Restrictions on Transfer of RSUs. Neither the RSUs evidenced hereby nor any interest therein or in the shares of
Common Stock underlying such RSUs shall be transferable prior to payment to Grantee pursuant to Section 7 hereof, other than as
described in Section 15 of the Plan.
4. Vesting. The RSUs covered by this Agreement shall become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee on [________],
provided that the Board or the Committee has certified achievement of the applicable performance conditions set forth on Exhibit A
and Grantee remains continuously employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors) through such
date.
5. Accelerated Vesting. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4 hereof, the RSUs covered by this Agreement will
become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee upon the occurrence of the earliest of any of the following events:

(a) If, while Grantee is continuously employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors),
a Change of Control occurs and a Replacement Award is not provided to Grantee on the date of such Change of Control, the
number of RSUs that will become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee shall equal the number of RSUs that Grantee would be
entitled to receive based on actual achievement of the performance conditions described on Exhibit A as of the day immediately
prior to the Change of Control (in the case of Absolute Economic Return, with the applicable required performance levels pro-rated
based on the amount of time elapsed in the Performance Period, and in the case of Relative Economic Return, as determined as of
the end of the most recent quarter prior to the Change of Control for which the applicable data for the Peer Group (as defined in
Exhibit A) is publicly available), as determined by the Board or the Committee. Such number of RSUs shall become nonforfeitable
and payable to Grantee on the date of such Change of Control.

(b) If Grantee’s employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors) terminates at
any time as a result of: (i) Grantee’s death, (ii) Grantee’s Disability (pursuant to subparagraph 5(b)(ii) of the Employment
Agreement), (iii) a Termination Without Cause, (iv) a Termination For Good Reason, or (v) Grantee’s Retirement on or after
[________], the number of RSUs that will become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee shall equal the number of RSUs that
Grantee would have been entitled to receive if Grantee had remained employed until the last day of the Performance Period (based
on actual achievement of the performance conditions described on Exhibit A during the Performance Period, as determined by the
Board or the Committee after the end of the Performance Period); provided however, that with respect to any RSUs granted to
Grantee in the calendar year in which Grantee’s Retirement occurs, the number of such RSUs that will become nonforfeitable and
payable to Grantee pursuant to this subparagraph 5(b)(v) shall be a pro-rated portion of such RSUs in an amount equal to the total
number of RSUs granted to Grantee in the calendar year of Retirement multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which will equal
the number of full calendar months in the year of the Retirement that Grantee was employed prior to the Retirement and the
denominator of which will equal twelve (12); provided further that no RSUs shall become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee on
account of Grantee’s Retirement pursuant to this subparagraph 5(b)(v) unless Grantee complies with all restrictive covenant
obligations as set forth in paragraph 7 of the Employment Agreement as if in effect through the date on which such RSUs are paid.
Such number of RSUs shall become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee on or before March 15 of the calendar year immediately
following the end of the Performance Period.
6. Forfeiture. Except to the extent the RSUs covered by this Agreement have become nonforfeitable pursuant to Section 4 or
Section 5 hereof, the RSUs covered by this Agreement shall be forfeited



automatically and without further notice, and shall no longer be considered covered by this Agreement, on the date on which
Grantee ceases to be employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, the Manager (including following a Re-Externalization)
or any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective successors.
7. Form and Time of Payment of RSUs.

(a) Form. Payment in respect of the RSUs, after and to the extent they have become nonforfeitable pursuant to
Section 4 or Section 5 hereof, shall be made in the form of shares of Common Stock. Payment shall only be made in whole shares
of Common Stock; any fractional shares shall be paid to Grantee in cash. The Company’s obligations to Grantee with respect to the
RSUs will be satisfied in full upon the issuance of the shares of Common Stock (or, with respect to fractional shares, upon the
payment in cash) corresponding to such RSUs.

(b) Timing.
(i) The RSUs that become nonforfeitable pursuant to Sections 4 hereof shall be paid within ten (10) days

following the date on which such RSUs become nonforfeitable.
(ii) The RSUs that become nonforfeitable pursuant to Section 5(a) hereof shall be paid on the date of such

Change of Control.
(iii) The RSUs that become nonforfeitable pursuant to Section 5(b) hereof shall be paid on or before March 15

of the calendar year immediately following the end of the Performance Period; provided that if any of the events
contemplated in Section 5(b) hereof occurs on or before the last day of the Performance Period, Grantee (or, if applicable,
his estate) shall have first executed and not revoked the release described in subparagraph 6(f) of the Employment
Agreement in accordance with the requirements of subparagraph 6(f) of the Employment Agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Grantee has made a permitted deferral election with respect to any RSUs covered by this

Agreement, such RSUs shall be paid at the time set forth in such deferral election.

8. Dividend Equivalents; Other Rights.
(a) From and after the Date of Grant and until the earlier of (i) the time when the RSUs become nonforfeitable and

are paid to Grantee in accordance with Section 7 hereof or (ii) the time when Grantee’s right to receive shares of Common Stock in
payment of the RSUs is forfeited in accordance with Section 6 hereof, on the date that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any)
or other cash distribution to holders of shares of Common Stock generally, Grantee shall be entitled to a number of additional RSUs
determined by dividing (A) the product of (x) the dollar amount of such cash dividend or other cash distribution paid per share of
Common Stock on such date and (y) the total number of RSUs (including dividend equivalents credited thereon) previously
credited to Grantee pursuant to this Agreement as of such date, to the extent such RSUs have not become nonforfeitable and paid to
Grantee in accordance with Section 7 hereof, by (B) the Market Value per Share on such date. Such dividend equivalents (if any)
shall be subject to the same applicable terms and conditions (including vesting, forfeitability, dividend equivalents and payment) as
apply to the RSUs as to which the dividend equivalents were credited.

(b) Grantee shall have no rights of ownership in the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs and no right to
vote the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs until the date on which the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs
are issued or transferred to Grantee pursuant to Section 7 hereof.

(c) The obligations of the Company under this Agreement will be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise
of the Company to deliver shares of Common Stock or pay cash in the future, and the rights of Grantee will be no greater than that
of an unsecured general creditor. No assets of the Company will be held or set aside as security for the obligations of the Company
under this Agreement.



9. No Right to Future Awards or Employment. The grant of the RSUs under this Agreement to Grantee is a voluntary,
discretionary award being made on a one-time basis and it does not constitute a commitment to make any future awards. The grant
of the RSUs and any payments made hereunder will not be considered salary or other compensation for purposes of any severance
pay or similar allowance, except as otherwise required by law. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall confer upon Grantee any
right to be employed or remain employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, nor limit or affect in any manner the right of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to terminate the employment or adjust the compensation of Grantee.
10. Adjustments. The number of shares of Common Stock issuable for each RSU and the other terms and conditions of the
grant evidenced by this Agreement are subject to adjustment as provided in Section 11 of the Plan.
11. Withholding Taxes. To the extent that the Company is required to withhold federal, state, local or foreign taxes or other
amounts in connection with the delivery to Grantee of shares of Common Stock or any other payment to Grantee or any other
payment or vesting event under this Agreement, and the amounts available to the Company for such withholding are insufficient, it
shall be a condition to the obligation of the Company to make any such delivery or payment that Grantee make arrangements
satisfactory to the Company for payment of the balance of such taxes or other amounts required to be withheld, as described more
fully below. The Company shall satisfy such withholding requirement by retaining a portion of the shares of Common Stock to be
delivered to Grantee. With prior approval by the Committee, Grantee may elect that all or any part of such withholding requirement
be satisfied by other means, including by delivering to the Company other shares of Common Stock held by Grantee (or proceeds
from the sale thereof) or cash. Any shares of Common Stock used for withholding hereunder will be valued at an amount equal to
the Market Value per Share of such shares of Common Stock on the date of payment pursuant to Section 7 hereof. In no event will
the amount that is withheld pursuant to this Section 11 to satisfy applicable withholding taxes exceed the maximum statutory tax
rates applicable with respect to Grantee.
12. Compliance With Law. The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable federal and state
securities laws; provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan and this Agreement, the Company shall not be
obligated to issue any of the shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement if the issuance thereof would result in a violation
of any such law.
13. Clawback. The RSUs shall be subject to the Company’s Clawback Policy, as in effect on the Date of Grant, as may be
amended or supplemented from time to time as a result of the Board’s good faith anticipation of (and in accordance with the
proposed rules regarding), or in order to comply with, the final rules or regulations adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission and the Nasdaq Stock Market that implement the incentive-based compensation recovery requirements set forth in
Section 10D of the Exchange Act, as added by Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act,
and any other applicable legal requirements or listing standards that may be enacted and in effect from time to time. In addition, in
the event that Grantee breaches any provision of subparagraphs 7(a) and 7(b) of the Employment Agreement, Grantee shall forfeit
any right to receive shares of Common Stock with respect to RSUs that have vested pursuant to Sections 5(b) hereof (to the extent
such shares have not yet been delivered), and, in the event that such shares have been delivered, the Company shall be entitled to
recoup such shares and the gross proceeds from any sale of such shares by Grantee. Such forfeiture or recoupment shall be in
addition to, not in substitution of, any other remedies that the Company and its Subsidiaries may have with respect to such breach.
14. Relation to Other Benefits. Any economic or other benefit to Grantee under this Agreement or the Plan shall not be
taken into account in determining any benefits to which Grantee may be entitled under any profit-sharing, retirement or other
benefit or compensation plan maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors) and shall not affect
the amount of any life insurance



coverage available to any beneficiary under any life insurance plan covering employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
(or any of their successors).
15. Amendments. Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement to the extent that the
amendment is applicable hereto; provided, however, that (a) no amendment shall adversely affect the rights of Grantee under this
Agreement without Grantee’s written consent and (b) Grantee’s consent shall not be required to an amendment that is deemed
necessary by the Company to ensure exemption from or compliance with Section 409A of the Code or Section 10D of the
Exchange Act and any applicable rules or regulations promulgated by the Securities Exchange Commission or any national
securities exchange or national securities association on which the Common Stock may be traded, including as a result of the
implementation of, or modification to, any clawback policy the Company adopts, or has adopted, to comply with the requirements
set forth in Section 10D of the Exchange Act or as provided for in subparagraph 4(f) of the Employment Agreement.
16. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be invalidated for any reason by a
court of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and
the remaining provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.
17. Relation to Plan. This Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan. To the extent not expressly set forth
in this Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall govern.
18. Acknowledgement. Grantee acknowledges that Grantee (a) has received a copy of the Plan, (b) has had an opportunity to
review the terms of this Agreement and the Plan, (c) understands the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan and
(d) agrees to such terms and conditions.
19. Successors and Assigns. Without limiting Section 3 hereof, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of,
and be binding upon, the successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns of Grantee, and the successors and
assigns of the Company.
20. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal substantive laws of
the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any principle of law that would result in the application of the law of any other
jurisdiction.
21. Notices. Any notice to the Company provided for herein shall be in writing (including electronically) to the Company,
marked Attention: General Counsel, and any notice to Grantee shall be addressed to Grantee at Grantee’s address on file with the
Company at the time of such notice. Except as otherwise provided herein, any written notice shall be deemed to be duly given if
and when delivered personally or deposited in the United States mail, postage and fees prepaid, and addressed as aforesaid. Any
party may change the address to which notices are to be given hereunder by written notice to the other party as herein specified
(provided that for this purpose any mailed notice shall be deemed given on the third business day following deposit of the same in
the United States mail).
22. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to the RSUs and Grantee’s
participation in the Plan, or future awards that may be granted under the Plan, by electronic means. Grantee hereby consents to
receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, agrees to participate in the Plan through an online or electronic
system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.
23. Section 409A of the Code. To the extent applicable, it is intended that this Agreement and the Plan comply with or be
exempt from the provisions of Section 409A of the Code. This Agreement and the Plan shall be administered in a manner
consistent with this intent, and any provision that would cause this Agreement or the Plan to fail to comply with or be exempt from
Section 409A of the Code shall have no force or effect until amended to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code
(which amendment may be retroactive to the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code and may be made by the Company
without the consent of Grantee). Any reference in this Agreement to Section 409A of the Code will also include any proposed,
temporary or final regulations, or any other guidance, promulgated with respect to such Section by the U.S. Department of the
Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service.



Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or the Plan to the contrary, all payments made to Grantee pursuant to this Agreement
will be made within the short-term deferral period specified in Treasury Regulation §1.409A-1(b)(4).
24. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including facsimile and other
electronically transmitted counterparts), each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together will constitute
one and the same agreement.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by its duly authorized
officer and Grantee has executed this Agreement, as of the Date of Grant.

AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.

By:     
Name:
Title:

    
GRANTEE’S SIGNATURE

Print Name: __________________________
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Performance Vesting Schedule
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Exhibit 10.17

AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.
2016 EQUITY AND INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN

PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

This PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of
[________] (the “Date of Grant”), by and between AGNC Investment Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and
[________] (“Grantee”).

1. Certain Definitions. Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Agreement will have the meanings given to
such terms in the Company’s 2016 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”). As used in this Agreement:
(a) “Disability” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.
(b) “Employment Agreement” means the [        ].
(c) “Manager” means AGNC Mortgage Management, LLC.
(d) “Performance Period” means the AER Performance Period or the RER Performance Period, each as defined in

Exhibit A, as applicable.
(e) “Re-Externalization” means a sale, merger or other transaction that results in the transfer or issuance of a majority

of the outstanding equity interests of the Manager or AGNC Management, LLC to a person or entity other than a Subsidiary of the
Company.

(f)  “Replacement Award” means an award (i) of time-based RSUs (as defined in Section 2 hereof) with a value at
least equal to the value of the RSUs covered by this Agreement, determined based on actual achievement of the performance
conditions described on Exhibit A as of the day immediately prior to the Change of Control (in the case of Absolute Economic
Return, with the applicable required performance levels pro-rated based on the amount of time elapsed in the Performance Period,
and in the case of Relative Economic Return, as determined as of the end of the most recent quarter prior to the Change of Control
for which the applicable data for the Peer Group (as defined in Exhibit A) is publicly available) by the Board or the Committee,
(ii) that vests in full on the date set forth in Section 4, (iii) that relates to publicly traded equity securities of the Company or its
successor in the Change of Control or another entity that is affiliated with the Company or its successor following the Change of
Control, (iv) the tax consequences of which to Grantee under the Code are not less favorable to Grantee than the tax consequences
of the RSUs covered by this Agreement and (v) the other terms and conditions of which are not less favorable to Grantee than the
terms and conditions of the RSUs covered by this Agreement (including the provisions that would apply in the event of certain
terminations of employment and a subsequent Change of Control or, if the surviving entity is internally managed, an externalization
of management). A Replacement Award may be granted only to the extent it does not result in the RSUs covered by this Agreement
or the Replacement Award failing to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code. Without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, the Replacement Award may take the form of a continuation of the RSUs covered by this Agreement if the
requirements of the two preceding sentences are satisfied. The determination of whether the conditions of this Section 1(f) are
satisfied will be made by the Committee, as constituted immediately prior to the Change of Control, in its sole discretion.

(g)  “Termination For Good Reason” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.
(h) “Termination Without Cause” has the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.

2. Grant of RSUs. Subject to and upon the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in this Agreement and in the Plan, the
Company hereby grants to Grantee a target number of [________] Restricted Stock Units (the “Target Number of RSUs”) (with a
maximum number of [________] Restricted Stock Units to be potentially earned pursuant to Exhibit A (the “Maximum Number of
RSUs”,



and all Restricted Stock Units covered by this Agreement, the “RSUs”)), plus the related RSUs granted as dividend equivalents
pursuant to the terms of Section 8(a), and subject to the terms and conditions set forth on Exhibit A. Each RSU shall represent the
right of Grantee to receive one share of Common Stock subject to and upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
3. Restrictions on Transfer of RSUs. Neither the RSUs evidenced hereby nor any interest therein or in the shares of
Common Stock underlying such RSUs shall be transferable prior to payment to Grantee pursuant to Section 7 hereof, other than as
described in Section 15 of the Plan.
4. Vesting. The RSUs covered by this Agreement shall become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee on [________],
provided that the Board or the Committee has certified achievement of the applicable performance conditions set forth on Exhibit A
and Grantee remains continuously employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors) through such
date.
5. Accelerated Vesting. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4 hereof, the RSUs covered by this Agreement will
become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee upon the occurrence of the earliest of any of the following events:

(a) If, while Grantee is continuously employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors),
a Change of Control occurs and a Replacement Award is not provided to Grantee on the date of such Change of Control, the
number of RSUs that will become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee shall equal the number of RSUs that Grantee would be
entitled to receive based on actual achievement of the performance conditions described on Exhibit A as of the day immediately
prior to the Change of Control (in the case of Absolute Economic Return, with the applicable required performance levels pro-rated
based on the amount of time elapsed in the Performance Period, and in the case of Relative Economic Return, as determined as of
the end of the most recent quarter prior to the Change of Control for which the applicable data for the Peer Group (as defined in
Exhibit A) is publicly available), as determined by the Board or the Committee. Such number of RSUs shall become nonforfeitable
and payable to Grantee on the date of such Change of Control.

(b) If Grantee’s employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors) terminates at
any time as a result of: (i) Grantee’s death, (ii) Grantee’s Disability (pursuant to subparagraph 5(b)(ii) of the Employment
Agreement), (iii) a Termination Without Cause or (iv) a Termination For Good Reason, the number of RSUs that will become
nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee shall equal the number of RSUs that Grantee would have been entitled to receive if Grantee
had remained employed until the last day of the Performance Period (based on actual achievement of the performance conditions
described on Exhibit A during the Performance Period, as determined by the Board or the Committee after the end of the
Performance Period). Such number of RSUs shall become nonforfeitable and payable to Grantee on or before March 15 of the
calendar year immediately following the end of the Performance Period.
6. Forfeiture. Except to the extent the RSUs covered by this Agreement have become nonforfeitable pursuant to Section 4 or
Section 5 hereof, the RSUs covered by this Agreement shall be forfeited automatically and without further notice, and shall no
longer be considered covered by this Agreement, on the date on which Grantee ceases to be employed by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, the Manager (including following a Re-Externalization) or any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective successors.
7. Form and Time of Payment of RSUs.

(a) Form. Payment in respect of the RSUs, after and to the extent they have become nonforfeitable pursuant to
Section 4 or Section 5 hereof, shall be made in the form of shares of Common Stock. Payment shall only be made in whole shares
of Common Stock; any fractional shares shall be paid to Grantee in cash. The Company’s obligations to Grantee with respect to the
RSUs will be satisfied in full upon the issuance of the shares of Common Stock (or, with respect to fractional shares, upon the
payment in cash) corresponding to such RSUs.



(b) Timing.
(i) The RSUs that become nonforfeitable pursuant to Sections 4 hereof shall be paid within ten (10) days

following the date on which such RSUs become nonforfeitable.
(ii) The RSUs that become nonforfeitable pursuant to Section 5(a) hereof shall be paid on the date of such

Change of Control.
(iii) The RSUs that become nonforfeitable pursuant to Section 5(b) hereof shall be paid on or before March 15

of the calendar year immediately following the end of the Performance Period; provided that if any of the events
contemplated in Section 5(b) hereof occurs on or before the last day of the Performance Period, Grantee (or, if applicable,
Grantee’s estate) shall have first executed and not revoked the release described in subparagraph 6(f) of the Employment
Agreement in accordance with the requirements of subparagraph 6(f) of the Employment Agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Grantee has made a permitted deferral election with respect to any RSUs covered by this

Agreement, such RSUs shall be paid at the time set forth in such deferral election.

8. Dividend Equivalents; Other Rights.
(a) From and after the Date of Grant and until the earlier of (i) the time when the RSUs become nonforfeitable and

are paid to Grantee in accordance with Section 7 hereof or (ii) the time when Grantee’s right to receive shares of Common Stock in
payment of the RSUs is forfeited in accordance with Section 6 hereof, on the date that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any)
or other cash distribution to holders of shares of Common Stock generally, Grantee shall be entitled to a number of additional RSUs
determined by dividing (A) the product of (x) the dollar amount of such cash dividend or other cash distribution paid per share of
Common Stock on such date and (y) the total number of RSUs (including dividend equivalents credited thereon) previously
credited to Grantee pursuant to this Agreement as of such date, to the extent such RSUs have not become nonforfeitable and paid to
Grantee in accordance with Section 7 hereof, by (B) the Market Value per Share on such date. Such dividend equivalents (if any)
shall be subject to the same applicable terms and conditions (including vesting, forfeitability, dividend equivalents and payment) as
apply to the RSUs as to which the dividend equivalents were credited.

(b) Grantee shall have no rights of ownership in the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs and no right to
vote the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs until the date on which the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs
are issued or transferred to Grantee pursuant to Section 7 hereof.

(c) The obligations of the Company under this Agreement will be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise
of the Company to deliver shares of Common Stock or pay cash in the future, and the rights of Grantee will be no greater than that
of an unsecured general creditor. No assets of the Company will be held or set aside as security for the obligations of the Company
under this Agreement.
9. No Right to Future Awards or Employment. The grant of the RSUs under this Agreement to Grantee is a voluntary,
discretionary award being made on a one-time basis and it does not constitute a commitment to make any future awards. The grant
of the RSUs and any payments made hereunder will not be considered salary or other compensation for purposes of any severance
pay or similar allowance, except as otherwise required by law. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall confer upon Grantee any
right to be employed or remain employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, nor limit or affect in any manner the right of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to terminate the employment or adjust the compensation of Grantee.
10. Adjustments. The number of shares of Common Stock issuable for each RSU and the other terms and conditions of the
grant evidenced by this Agreement are subject to adjustment as provided in Section 11 of the Plan.



11. Withholding Taxes. To the extent that the Company is required to withhold federal, state, local or foreign taxes or other
amounts in connection with the delivery to Grantee of shares of Common Stock or any other payment to Grantee or any other
payment or vesting event under this Agreement, and the amounts available to the Company for such withholding are insufficient, it
shall be a condition to the obligation of the Company to make any such delivery or payment that Grantee make arrangements
satisfactory to the Company for payment of the balance of such taxes or other amounts required to be withheld, as described more
fully below. The Company shall satisfy such withholding requirement by retaining a portion of the shares of Common Stock to be
delivered to Grantee. With prior approval by the Committee, Grantee may elect that all or any part of such withholding requirement
be satisfied by other means, including by delivering to the Company other shares of Common Stock held by Grantee (or proceeds
from the sale thereof) or cash. Any shares of Common Stock used for withholding hereunder will be valued at an amount equal to
the Market Value per Share of such shares of Common Stock on the date of payment pursuant to Section 7 hereof. In no event will
the amount that is withheld pursuant to this Section 11 to satisfy applicable withholding taxes exceed the maximum statutory tax
rates applicable with respect to Grantee.
12. Compliance With Law. The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable federal and state
securities laws; provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan and this Agreement, the Company shall not be
obligated to issue any of the shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement if the issuance thereof would result in a violation
of any such law.
13. Clawback. The RSUs shall be subject to the Company’s Clawback Policy, as in effect on the Date of Grant, as may be
amended or supplemented from time to time as a result of the Board’s good faith anticipation of (and in accordance with the
proposed rules regarding), or in order to comply with, the final rules or regulations adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission and the Nasdaq Stock Market that implement the incentive-based compensation recovery requirements set forth in
Section 10D of the Exchange Act, as added by Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act,
and any other applicable legal requirements or listing standards that may be enacted and in effect from time to time. In addition, in
the event that Grantee breaches any provision of subparagraphs 7(a) and 7(b) of the Employment Agreement, Grantee shall forfeit
any right to receive shares of Common Stock with respect to RSUs that have vested pursuant to Sections 5(b) hereof (to the extent
such shares have not yet been delivered), and, in the event that such shares have been delivered, the Company shall be entitled to
recoup such shares and the gross proceeds from any sale of such shares by Grantee. Such forfeiture or recoupment shall be in
addition to, not in substitution of, any other remedies that the Company and its Subsidiaries may have with respect to such breach.
14. Relation to Other Benefits. Any economic or other benefit to Grantee under this Agreement or the Plan shall not be
taken into account in determining any benefits to which Grantee may be entitled under any profit-sharing, retirement or other
benefit or compensation plan maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors) and shall not affect
the amount of any life insurance coverage available to any beneficiary under any life insurance plan covering employees of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any of their successors).
15. Amendments. Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement to the extent that the
amendment is applicable hereto; provided, however, that (a) no amendment shall adversely affect the rights of Grantee under this
Agreement without Grantee’s written consent and (b) Grantee’s consent shall not be required to an amendment that is deemed
necessary by the Company to ensure exemption from or compliance with Section 409A of the Code or Section 10D of the
Exchange Act and any applicable rules or regulations promulgated by the Securities Exchange Commission or any national
securities exchange or national securities association on which the Common Stock may be traded, including as a result of the
implementation of, or modification to, any clawback policy the Company adopts, or has adopted, to comply with the requirements
set forth in Section 10D of the Exchange Act or as provided for in subparagraph [4(f)/4(g)] of the Employment Agreement.



16. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be invalidated for any reason by a
court of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and
the remaining provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.
17. Relation to Plan. This Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan. To the extent not expressly set forth
in this Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall govern.
18. Acknowledgement. Grantee acknowledges that Grantee (a) has received a copy of the Plan, (b) has had an opportunity to
review the terms of this Agreement and the Plan, (c) understands the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan and
(d) agrees to such terms and conditions.
19. Successors and Assigns. Without limiting Section 3 hereof, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of,
and be binding upon, the successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns of Grantee, and the successors and
assigns of the Company.
20. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal substantive laws of
the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any principle of law that would result in the application of the law of any other
jurisdiction.
21. Notices. Any notice to the Company provided for herein shall be in writing (including electronically) to the Company,
marked Attention: General Counsel, and any notice to Grantee shall be addressed to Grantee at Grantee’s address on file with the
Company at the time of such notice. Except as otherwise provided herein, any written notice shall be deemed to be duly given if
and when delivered personally or deposited in the United States mail, postage and fees prepaid, and addressed as aforesaid. Any
party may change the address to which notices are to be given hereunder by written notice to the other party as herein specified
(provided that for this purpose any mailed notice shall be deemed given on the third business day following deposit of the same in
the United States mail).
22. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to the RSUs and Grantee’s
participation in the Plan, or future awards that may be granted under the Plan, by electronic means. Grantee hereby consents to
receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, agrees to participate in the Plan through an online or electronic
system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.
23. Section 409A of the Code. To the extent applicable, it is intended that this Agreement and the Plan comply with or be
exempt from the provisions of Section 409A of the Code. This Agreement and the Plan shall be administered in a manner
consistent with this intent, and any provision that would cause this Agreement or the Plan to fail to comply with or be exempt from
Section 409A of the Code shall have no force or effect until amended to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code
(which amendment may be retroactive to the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code and may be made by the Company
without the consent of Grantee). Any reference in this Agreement to Section 409A of the Code will also include any proposed,
temporary or final regulations, or any other guidance, promulgated with respect to such Section by the U.S. Department of the
Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or the Plan to the contrary, all payments
made to Grantee pursuant to this Agreement will be made within the short-term deferral period specified in Treasury Regulation
§1.409A-1(b)(4).
24. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including facsimile and other
electronically transmitted counterparts), each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together will constitute
one and the same agreement.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by its duly authorized
officer and Grantee has executed this Agreement, as of the Date of Grant.

AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.

By:     
Name:
Title:

    
GRANTEE’S SIGNATURE

Print Name: __________________________



Exhibit A
Performance Vesting Schedule

[ ]



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Form S-8 (No. 333-151027),
(2) Form S-3 (No. 333-225628), and
(3) Form S-8 (No. 333-216282);

of our reports dated February 22, 2019, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of AGNC Investment Corp., and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of AGNC Investment Corp., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of AGNC Investment Corp. for the year ended
December 31, 2018.

Tysons, Virginia                              /s/ Ernst & Young
February 22, 2019



    
Exhibit 24

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned directors and officers of AGNC Investment Corp., a
corporation organized under the laws of the state of Delaware (the “Corporation”), hereby constitute and appoint Peter Federico,
Kenneth Pollack and Kasey Reisman and each of them (with full power to each of them to act alone), his/her true and lawful
attorneys‑in‑fact and agents for him/her and on his/her behalf and in his/her name, place and stead, in all cases with full power of
substitution and resubstitution, in any hand and all capacities, to sign, execute and affix his/her seal to and file with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (or any other governmental or regulatory authority) the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, and all amendments or supplements thereto with all exhibits and any and all documents
required to be filed with respect thereto, and grants to each of them full power and authority to do and to perform each and every
act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises in order to effectuate the same as fully and to all intents
and purposes as he/she might or could do if personally present, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys‑in‑fact and
agents, or any of them, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned directors and/or officers has hereunto set his/her hand and seal, as of the
date specified.

AGNC INVESTMENT CORP.

Dated: January 24, 2019        /S/ Gary D. Kain                 
Gary D. Kain

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment
Officer



Signature  Title  Date

/S/ Gary D. Kain                             
Gary D. Kain  

Director, Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Investment Officer (Principal Executive

Officer)
 

January 24, 2019

/S/ Donna J. Blank                         
Donna J. Blank  

Director

 

January 24, 2019

/S/ Morris A. Davis                         
Morris A. Davis  

Director

 

January 24, 2019

/S/ Larry K. Harvey                        
Larry K. Harvey  

Director

 

January 24, 2019

/S/ Prue B. Larocca                          
Prue B. Larocca  

Director

 

January 24, 2019

/S/ Paul E. Mullings                         
Paul E. Mullings  

Director

 

January 24, 2019



Exhibit 31.1
AGNC Investment Corp.

Certification Pursuant to Section 302(a)
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Gary D. Kain, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AGNC Investment Corp.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to

the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal

control over financial reporting.
 
 

Date: February 22, 2019  
   
 /s/    GARY D. KAIN  
 Gary D. Kain  

 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment
Officer (Principal Executive Officer)  



Exhibit 31.2
AGNC Investment Corp.

Certification Pursuant to Section 302(a)
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Bernice E. Bell, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AGNC Investment Corp;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entitles, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to

the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal

control over financial reporting.

Date: February 22, 2019  
   
 /s/    BERNICE E. BELL  
 Bernice E. Bell  

 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)  



Exhibit 32

AGNC Investment Corp.
Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

We, Gary D. Kain, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer, and Bernice E. Bell, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
AGNC Investment Corp. (the “Company”), certify pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 that:

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 

 /s/    GARY D. KAIN  
Name: Gary D. Kain  
Title: Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Investment Officer (Principal Executive Officer)  
Date: February 22, 2019  
   

 /s/    BERNICE E. BELL  
Name: Bernice E. Bell  
Title: Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)  
Date: February 22, 2019  

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


